

ADVERTIMENT. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi queda condicionat a l'acceptació de les condicions d'ús establertes per la següent llicència Creative Commons:

ADVERTENCIA. El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis queda condicionado a la aceptación de las condiciones de uso establecidas por la siguiente licencia Creative Commons:

**WARNING.** The access to the contents of this doctoral thesis it is limited to the acceptance of the use conditions set by the following Creative Commons license: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=en

BY NC ND

## Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona

DOCTORAL THESIS

# Diffractive multifunctional plasmonic systems

*Author:* Rafael Cichelero Supervisor: Dr. Gervasi Herranz Casabona *Tutor:* Prof. Jordi Sort Viñas

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Materials Science

in the

Laboratory of Multifunctional Oxides and Complex Structures (MULFOX) ICMAB-CSIC

December 2018



# **Declaration of Authorship**

Gervasi Herranz Casabona, Tenured Scientist at the Institut de Ciencia de Materials de Barcelona (ICMAB-CSIC) and Jordi Sort Viñas, ICREA Research Professor at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB).

Certify,

that Rafael Cichelero Bachelor in Physics and Master in experimental Physics from the Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS-BR), carried out under their supervision the thesis entitled "Diffractive multifunctional plasmonic systems". This work has been developed within a Ph.D. program in Materials Science at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona at the department of Physics.

For that record they sign the certificate.

Signed (Gervasi Herranz Casabona):

Signed (Jordi Sort Viñas):

Bellaterra, December 2018:

#### UNIVERSITAT AUTÒNOMA DE BARCELONA

## Abstract

#### Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona ICMAB-CSIC

Doctor in Materials Science

#### Diffractive multifunctional plasmonic systems

by Rafael Cichelero

In this Thesis we have investigated the modulation of the optical properties of photonic crystals sustaining plasmonic excitations. Such properties can be tuned or enhanced by incorporating functional materials in the crystals, including magnetic, ferroelectric or piezoelectric compounds, which add versatility to the control of light at the nanoscale. To probe the interplay between the optical properties and external magnetic and electric fields, we used grating couplers as the basic device structure for this analysis, with emphasis on the combined effects of diffraction and plasmonic resonances in the enhancement of magneto-optic responses. We started our work with magnetoplasmonic crystals grown on commercial digital disks (DVD, CD, Blu-ray), showing the potential of these platforms for the development of magnetoplasmonic devices. We generalized the results found in these systems to magnetoplasmonic crystals with engineered optical responses, where the interplay between diffraction, plasmonics and magnetism paves the way to a versatile way to engineer the properties of photonic crystals that goes beyond the particular case of grating couplers. In particular, we have explored how, under some circumstances, light at off-normal incidence can excite unidirectional plasmonic propagating modes with particularly large magneto-optic responses. Finally, we close the Thesis with the study of ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals, where the interplay between magnetization and ferroelectric polarization enables a way to modulate electrically the optical properties of grating couplers. In the following, a list is given of the most relevant outcomes described in this Thesis:

- *i* Observation in magnetoplasmonics crystals of an unexpectedly large transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect at quasi-normal incidence, where, by geometry, the intrinsic TMOKE amplitude tends to zero.
- *ii* Use of angle-resolved Fourier reflectance spectroscopy to analyze diffractive modes of light and plasmons, from which the interplay between magnetoplasmonic modes and diffraction has been revealed, associated with the amplification of the transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect at plasmonic resonances on the diffracted light.
- *iii* Geometrical conditions of grating couplers for the simultaneous maximization of reflectance and TMOKE, relevant for applications where signals are read out optically.
- *iv* Excitation of unidirectional forward- and backward- SPP propagating modes using grating couplers, with particularly large associated TMOKE responses.
- v An advanced lithography design was developed and implemented, which allowed the optical access and in-situ ferroelectric and magnetic measurements. We used this methodology to analyze the effects of the ferroelectric polarization on the TMOKE response: under certain conditions, the sign of TMOKE can be reversed by electric fields.

## Acknowledgements

This Thesis have been developed with several and valuable collaborations, I would like to acknowledge: Dr, Florencio Sánchez from ICMAB for his support on materials preparation, particularly ferroelectric thin film growth. Prof. Mariano Campoy from ICMAB, for his support in simulation and analysis of ellipsometry measurements. Prof. Pablo Vaccaro, for his support on nanofabrication techniques. Prof. Hamidi Sangdehi, Morteza Alizadeh Oskuei from Shahid Beheshti University (Iran), for collaboration in preparing magnetoplasmonic crystals on digital disks. Dr. Mikko Kataja, for day to day discussions, and his support in FDTD calculations and guidance into design of magnetoplasmonic crystals. Prof. Gustau Catalán and Dr. Neus Domingo from CIN2 for Piezoresponsive AFM experiments and discussions, and Dr. Ignasi Fina, Dr. Fanmao Liu and Dr. Mengdi Qian from ICMAB for discussions on ferroelectricity and experiments of ferroelectric characterization. Prof. Javier Aizpurua from CFM – Materials Physics Center and Dr. Nerea Zabala from the University of the Basque Country for fruitful discussions and collaboration on ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals. Dr. Blai Casals, for the countless scientific coffee breaks and discussions.

But that is not all...

I also would like to acknowledge:

My "nono" Jose Cichelero, without you I would not have conquered my dreams, thanks for been such an example and inspiration, and also for protecting me from my "nona" Lurdes Dedea Cichelero, which was most of the times was too hard, and not so fair...

I am also grateful to my "mãe" Ivone Cichelero, for the support along all the way. To my "tios" Geni, Osmar, Miro, Oscar and Mari, you have always believed in me. A special thanks to Gervasi Herranz, it was a fantastic and amazing opportunity to work with you during the past four years. A special mention to Josep Fontcuberta, Florencio Sánchez, Julian Geshev and Luiz Gustavo Pereira, together with Gervasi, you have contributed so much in foundation of my academic life. And of course, my gratitude to Jaume Gazquez, Ferran Mácia, Enric Menéndez and Jordi Sort.

During this long path I had the opportunity to make more friends that I could handle, but only few of them changed my life in an irreversible way, I am really glad that I could share some moments of my life with Blai Casals and Luiz Pinto, you have enriched my heart, body and mind. A special thanks to my group mates, Yu, Saúl, and also for Andrea, Elena, Enrique, Gil, Laura A. and Tommaso.

I also thank to the founding agency, CNPq - Brazil for my fellowship (203223/2014-4), and to the Spanish Government for the supported projects.

To ICMAB and ICN2 staff, in special to Luigi Morrone, Raúl Perez, Judith Oró and Raúl Solanas.

But also I thank you to all of you, flatmates (in special my, "metal brother" Sr. Giménez, mano/Dr. Leo and Lluís.), barbecue partners (in special my, "meat brother" Marc).

To my old friends - Evertinho, papa Artur, Jacson, mano Gd and the eternal Dinamo Histerese crew.

• • •

# Contents

Abstract v Acknowledgements vii				v
				vii
1	Intr	oductio	on	1
	1.1	Motiv	ation	1
	1.2	Surfac	e plasmon polaritons (SPPs)	4
	1.3	Modu	lation by magnetic fields:	
		Transv	verse Magneto-Optic Kerr Effect mediated by plasmons	7
	1.4	Modu	lation by electric fields: electro-optic and photoelastic	
		effects	3	10
		1.4.1	Linear electro-optic effect	10
		1.4.2	Photoelastic effects	11
	1.5	Diffra	ction and interference of	
		electro	omagnetic waves	11
2	Exp	erimen	tal methods and sample fabrication	13
	2.1	Samp	le fabrication	13
		2.1.1	Deposition techniques	13
			Electron-beam evaporation	13
			Pulsed laser deposition	14
		2.1.2	Lithography techniques	15
			Optical lithography	16
			Electron-beam lithography	16
		2.1.3	Patterning of the magnetoplasmonic crystals	17
			Ion Milling	17
			Wet etching	17

		2.1.4	Device fabrication	19
			Magnetoplasmonic crystals on top of patterned com-	
			mercial disk media	19
			Magnetoplasmonic crystals on unpatterned substrates	20
			Magnetoplasmonic crystals with ferroelectrics	20
			A simplified construction	25
	2.2	Optica	al characterization	27
		2.2.1	Experimental setup	27
		2.2.2	Real space imaging	28
		2.2.3	Reciprocal space imaging in the Fourier plane	30
			Scanning Fourier method	31
			Photonic band structures: Angle-resolved spectroscopy.	31
			Monochromatic Fourier Microscopy	33
		2.2.4	Diffractive Fourier optics	35
		2.2.5	Magnetic and ferroelectric loops	36
		2.2.6	Ellipsometry	38
		2.2.7	Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)	40
3	Mag	netopl	asmonic crystals based	
	on c	omme	rcial digital disks	43
	3.1	Abstr	act	43
		3.1.1	Chapter highlights	44
	3.2	Introd		45
	3.3	Exper	iment description	47
		3.3.1	Sample preparation	47
		3.3.2	Optical measurements	48
		3.3.3	Magnetoplasmonic photonic band structure	50
	3.4	Resul	ts and Discussion	53
		3.4.1	Plasmonic enhancement	53
		3.4.2	Plasmon resonances under magnetic field.	56
		3.4.3	Measurements in air and oil	58
		3.4.4	TMOKE hysteretic loops	61
	3.5	Concl	usions	63

4	Non-Reciprocal Diffraction			
	in N	Magnetoplasmonic Gratings65	5	
	4.1	Abstract	5	
		4.1.1 Chapter highlights	5	
	4.2	Introduction	6	
	4.3	Experiment description	8	
		4.3.1 Sample preparation	8	
		4.3.2 Diffraction measurements	9	
		4.3.3 Diffracted Magneto-Optical Measurements	2	
	4.4	Conclusions	8	
5	Opt	imizing TMOKE in Plasmonic Gratings:		
	Том	vards One-Way Plasmons 82	1	
	5.1	Abstract	1	
		5.1.1 Chapter highlights	2	
	5.2	Geometry effects: maximizing the		
		reflectance-TMOKE relation	2	
	5.3	Excitation of SPPs with light at oblique incidence	7	
	5.4	Excitation of one-way propagation of SPPs	9	
	5.5	Numerical simulations of one-way plasmons	3	
	5.6	Conclusions	5	
6	Elec	ctrically Tunable		
	Mag	gnetoplasmonic Gratings 92	7	
	6.1	Abstract	7	
		6.1.1 Chapter highlights	7	
	6.2	Introduction	8	
	6.3	Experiment description	9	
		6.3.1 Sample preparation	9	
		6.3.2 Control of the magnetization and ferroelectric polar-		
		ization	0	
		6.3.3 Electric modulation of SPP propagation and TMOKE . 102	2	
	6.4	Plasmon resonances under electro		
		and magnetic fields	9	
	6.5	Relevance of the protocol for electric field cycling	0	

	6.6	Conclusions	113	
7	Out	look and Perspectives	115	
8	List	of publications and communications	117	
A	Lith	ography protocols	119	
	A.1	Optical lithography protocols	119	
		A.1.1 Standard optical lithography steps (SopL)	119	
		A.1.2 Double layer photo-resist lithography steps (DLopL)	121	
	A.2	Electron beam lithography protocols	122	
		A.2.1 Standard electron beam lithography steps (SebL)	122	
		A.2.2 Double layer electron beam lithography steps (DLebL)	122	
	A.3	Electron beam evaporation	123	
B	Ense	emble of gratings and its magneto-optic response	125	
	<b>B.</b> 1	Metallic fraction $\Gamma > 0.7$ , diffracted modes $m = \pm 1$	126	
	B.2	Metallic fraction $\Gamma < 0.6$ , diffracted modes $m = \pm 1$	127	
	B.3	Metallic fraction $\Gamma > 0.7$ , specular reflection $m = 0$	128	
C	Mul	tiferroic heterostructure device	129	
	<b>C</b> .1	Structural images	129	
		C.1.1 Long range structure	130	
		C.1.2 Active layers and bridges	131	
		C.1.3 Nano-scale, magnetoplasmonic crystals place over BTO	132	
Bi	Bibliography 133			

xii

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Schematics of the metal/dielectric interface.	6
1.2	Changes in total light intensity (TMOKE)	8
1.4	Double slit experiment.	12
2.1	Schematics of e-beam evaporation.	14
2.2	Schematics of pulse laser deposition.	15
2.3	Schematic for standard photo-lithography.	16
2.4	Schematics for dry- (a) and wet- (b) etching, showing the ef-	
	fects of anisotropic etching.	18
2.5	Schematics of an optical disk.	19
2.6	Design of the combination of optical- and electron-beam lithog-	
	raphy	20
2.7	Schematics of ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals.	22
2.8	Schematics from the motive micro-structure.	23
2.9	Cross-sectional views of the plasmonic contacts	24
2.10	Cross-sectional plots showing the full layered structure	26
2.11	Description of the experimental setup	28
2.12	Standard Kretschmann configuration	29
2.13	Kretschmann configuration beam illumination	29
2.14	Schematics of the principles of Fourier optics spectroscopy	30
2.15	Sketch of Fourier optics scanning method.	31
2.16	Angle-resolved spectroscopy calibration.	32
2.17	Monochromatic Fourier Microscopy	33
2.18	Diffractive Fourier optics schematics	35
2.19	Magnetic and ferroelectric loops	37
2.20	Schematics of an ellipsometry spectroscopy setup	38
2.21	Au, Co and Au/Co complex refractive index	39

2.22	Schematics of a scanning electron microscopy	41
3.1	Sketch of a commercial optical disk grating.	47
3.2	Schematics of the light collimated by an objective lens.	48
3.3	Angular-resolve Fourier map.	49
3.4	Sketch of a commercial optical disk grating.	50
3.5	Light and plasmonic diffraction modes.	51
3.6	Hysteresis magnetic cycle.	52
3.7	Angle-resolved maps of $\nabla_r$	53
3.8	Angular-resolved reflectance and TMOKE maps for s'- and	
	p'-polarizations	55
3.9	Plasmon resonances under magnetic field	56
3.10	Magnetoplasmonic crystal based on DVD exposed to immer-	
	sion oil.	59
3.11	Magnetoplasmonic crystal based on DVD exposed to air	61
3.12	Angle-resolved TMOKE hysteresis loops.	62
4.1	Diffraction grating sketch.	68
4.2	Depiction of the rear aperture of an objective lenses	69
4.3	A diffraction image taken from a photonic crystal.	70
4.4	Angular resolved reflectance map.	71
4.5	Diffracted Magneto-Optical Measurements	72
4.6	Light diffraction/absorption diagram.	74
4.7	angle-resolved spectrometry map of TMOKE	75
4.8	Schematics of the light integration method	77
4.9	Spectral average TMOKE dependence.	77
5.1	Reflectance and the TMOKE angular resolved plot.	83
5.2	Filling fraction $\Gamma$ influence	85
5.3	Near field image for $\Gamma = 0.80$ and $\Gamma = 0.20$	86
5.4	Reflectance and the TMOKE angular resolved plot from a off-	
	angle excitation.	88
5.5	Schematics of a single plasmonic mode excitation.	90
5.6	Reflectance for a single mode excitation	91
5.7	TMOKE for a single mode excitation	92

5.8	Simulated reflectance map
5.9	Near-field distribution; one-way propagating SPPs 94
6.1	Schematics of the magneto-electric-plasmonic crystal 99
6.2	A cross-sectional view or the magnetoelectricplasmonic crys-
	tal, revealing the full layered structure. The difference in (a)
	and (b) is the different material used for passivation, i.e., pho-
	to resist and $Al_2O_3$ , were used, respectively 100
6.3	Schematics of the orientation of ferromagnetic and ferroelec-
	tric domains
6.4	Reflectance map for depolarized and polarized state 103
6.5	TMOKE dependence on the ferroelectric state 105
6.6	Cross-sectional TMOKE plots from distinct ferroelectric states. 106
6.7	Ferroelectric reproducibility plot
6.8	Plasmonic frequency-splitting, for distinct ferroelectric states. 110
6.9	AC-DC applied electric fields and its modulations in optical
	response
6.10	Normalized average intensity into plasmonic bands 114
<b>C</b> .1	Long-range contacts
C.2	Ferroelectric active contacts
C.3	Grating structure

# List of Abbreviations

WSF	What (it) Stands For
SPP	Surface Plasmon Polariton
TMOKE	Transverse Magneto-Optic Kerr Effect
DMOKE	Diffracted Magneto-Optic Kerr Effect
TE or s	Transverse Electric
TM or p	Transverse Magnetic
PLD	Pulsed Laser Deposition
EBE	Electron Beam Evaporation
ALD	Atomic Laser Deposition
EBL	Electron Beam Lithography
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
LRM	Leakage Radiation Microscopy
N.A.	Numerical Aperture
e.m.c	electro magnetic coil
BTO	Barium Titanate
STO	Strontium Titanate
LSMO	Lanthanum Strontium Manganite
BHF	Buffered HydroFluoric acid
FE	FerroElectric
FM	Ferro <b>M</b> agnetic
FDTD	Finite Difference Time Domain
ac	alternate current
dc	direct current
1D	<b>One D</b> imensional
$\Delta NF(M)$	$\Delta$ <b>Variations</b> of Near-Field
	distribution as a function of Magnetization

# List of Symbols

- $\varepsilon_d$  Dielectric function of a dielectric layer
- $\varepsilon_m$  Dielectric function of a metallic layer
- $\omega$  Angular frequency
- $\lambda$  Light wavelength
- $\lambda_{SPP}$  SPP wavelength
- $k_0$  Wavevector of light at free-space
- $k_{SPP}$  SPP wavevector
- $\Omega$  Larmor frequency
- $\gamma$  Gyromagnetic ratio
- $\theta_c$  Critical angle
- $\theta$  Incidence angle
- $\phi$  Emission angle
- $\psi$  Azimuthal angle
- *n* Refractive index
- *m* Diffraction order
- $\eta$  Plasmonic order
- $\Delta$  Photonic crystal periodicity
- **Γ** filling fraction
- $\tau$  TMOKE amplitude
- $\chi$  Normalized average intensity
- *B* Magnetic field induction
- *H* Magnetic field
- M Magnetization
- $B_{ij}$  Indicatrix
- $r_{ijk}$  Electro-optic coefficients
- $p_{ijk}$  Elasto-optic coefficients

Tales of a single Photon.

In the loneliness of the universe. Lost in space, just passing by. -I'm sorry, -"I do not interact". You can tell, it does even not "wait, neither weight".

A little boy once asked, -Mr Photon why such a pace? -I don't know, -I just want to "see". -Life is too short, not at "c".

## -arrrgh

-Sr. Photon are you well?

*-I just collapse, into a "quantum well"! -Am I trapped? -What are these things?!* 

-"Electrons and protons", not your "siblings".

• • •

Rafael Cichelero

## Chapter 1

# Introduction

### 1.1 Motivation

Moore's law [1] has been the greatest semiconductor industry's blessing: its predictions have been kept up by deep-scale device miniaturization as well as multi-core architectures [2, 3]. Yet, this progression may slow down soon. In a nutshell, the transmission of data across on-chip connections should improve in speed, energy efficiency and immunity against electromagnetic interferences if optical –instead of electrical– interconnects are used to shift data around. Consequently, photonic or hybrid electronic/photonic circuits are considered to be a promising perspective for the next-generation of integrated devices [4, 5].

This brings up the need for devices that control the flux of light at small scales [6]. For instance, optical isolators are considered key elements, as they exploit nonreciprocity to allow propagation of waves along one direction and block the reverse propagation [7, 8]. Indeed, optical isolators are crucial to build immunity against noise, increase the signal-to-noise ratio and ensure device stability (e.g., in laser sources integrated into circuitry) [9]. Unsurprisingly, nonreciprocal devices are a mainstay of any communication technology based on light (for instance, Faraday isolators and circulators are used for data transmission along conventional optical fibers) [10]. Facing this need, there is an emergent activity that aims at achieving unidirectional light propagation along integrated optical waveguides [11].

Additionally, next generations of optical interconnects will require optical modulation and routing capabilities with high performance and, therefore, optical modulators and switches are among the most relevant components of photonic integrated circuits [12]. In this sense, optoelectronic devices are investigated, in which modulation and switching capabilities can be accomplished by electric control of the amplitude and phase of electromagnetic waves, using architectures based either on Mach-Zehnder interferometers or microring resonators [13, 14]. Therefore, the control of the properties of devices by electric fields is an active research field in nanophotonics.

In optical communications, optical isolation can be achieved by Faraday rotators, which control the flux of light exploiting magneto-optical effects [15, 16, 17]. The latter arise because of the breaking of time-reversal symmetry in magnetic materials, giving way to non-reciprocal propagation of light [18, 19]. The same principle may be applied to integrated circuits. However, as the relevant device length is reduced to very small scales, the magneto-optic activity –which is proportional to the amount of material–, is drastically reduced [20, 21]. It is therefore necessary to compensate the large reduction in size and magneto-optic activity with a large enhancement of the intrinsic response.

Facing this challenge, a substantial research has been devoted to boost the intrinsic magneto-optical by coupling magnetic materials to photonic/ plasmonic devices. In this line, magnetophotonic crystals have been intensively investigated, in which nonreciprocal optical effects and large magnetooptical responses at stop-band edge frequencies have been reported [22, 23, 24, 25]. The interest in magnetic materials has also been extended to plasmonics, giving way to the field of magnetoplasmonics [26]. Beyond conventional approaches based on noble metals, a series of studies on the plasmonic properties of structures containing ferromagnetic materials has been carried out. These studies include materials such as Au/Co/Au multilayers [27], periodically patterned ferromagnetic films and noble metal/ ferromagnet structures [28, 29], magnetic nanowires [30], or nanodisk arrays [31, 32, 33, 34]. In such a large variety of systems, remarkable magneto-optical enhancements have been observed at wavelengths where surface plasmons are excited. In the same vein, metallic diffraction gratings have been also studied in the context of magnetoplasmonic crystals fabricated out of magnetic metals [19] or noble metals in contact with magneto-optical garnet materials [35, 36, 37]. Using such gratings, control over SPP excitation conditions by an external transverse magnetic fields was demonstrated [19, 35, 38].

Yet, all these previous studies focused on the excitation of plasmons and its consequences on the optical properties, but did not exploit the phenomenon of diffraction. Indeed, diffraction in magneto-optically active systems is an important phenomenon that is used, e.g., in diffracted magnetooptical effect (DMOKE) to probe magnetization reversal dynamics of submicron-sized magnetic patterns [39, 40, 41, 42, 43]. However, up till now the mutual interplay of plasmonics, magneto-optics and diffraction has not been investigated in a single system. This Thesis is primarily concerned with the study of this interplay using the grating coupler structure as the basic device where to analyze the effect of diffraction and plasmonics on magneto-optic responses. We stress that, indeed, grating couplers are important devices in the perspective of integrated photonic applications. More specifically, grating couplers enable efficient coupling between light from optic fibers to on-chip waveguides [44, 45, 46] offering easy integration on wafers and enabling communication with external units via optical links.

In our study of magnetoplasmonic crystals based on gratings, one important aspect is the possibility of studying selectively surface plasmon polaritons propagating along backward or forward directions, enabling us to easily assess their non-reciprocal magnetic modulation. In addition to magnetism, we also show that plasmon propagation and magneto-optic responses can be modulated by electric fields after incorporation of ferroelectric materials into the structures. The combined action of magnetic and electric fields opens up fascinating avenues for multifunctional nano- photonic devices, which, as aforementioned, would enable the integration of active nanophotonic devices in integrated circuits. Additionally, we anticipate that our results can be generalized and used to design more complex diffractive elements, such as many plasmonic metasurfaces, where they could find use in designing non-reciprocal, isolating devices.

The following sections are devoted to give a brief introduction to the

main topics relevant to this Thesis. In the first place, we will give a concise description of surface plasmon polaritons. Secondly, we discuss briefly optical plasmon-mediated responses relevant in the context of this Thesis, including transverse magneto-optic Kerr effect (TMOKE) –where the propagation of plasmons is modulated by magnetic fields– as well as electrooptic and photoelastic effects –which arise from changes of the permittivity by electric fields–. Finally, the diffraction and interference phenomena and their relation to magnetoplasmonics will be overviewed.

### **1.2** Surface plasmon polaritons (SPPs)

Surface plasmons polaritons (SPPs) are electromagnetic excitations propagating at the interface between a conductor and a dielectric. These electromagnetic waves are originated by the collective oscillations of the electron plasma present in the conductor, generating an evanescent electromagnetic wave that propagates along the interface [47].

To capture the essential nature of SPPs, we focus on the simplest geometry, that of a single dielectric/metal interface, where we assume that waves propagate along the *x*-direction. The interface is defined between a dielectric, non-absorbing half space (along the positive *z*-direction z > 0), with positive real dielectric constant  $\varepsilon_d$  and an adjacent conducting half space (z < 0) described by a dielectric function  $\varepsilon_m(\omega)$  with  $\operatorname{Re}[\varepsilon_m] < 0$  -i.e., corresponding to the properties of metals at frequencies below the bulk plasmon frequency. Next, we use a modified Helmholtz equation –derived from Maxwell equations– which includes a complex propagation constant  $\beta = k_x$ , corresponding to the component of the wavevector along the direction of propagation. This is an important property of evanescent electromagnetic waves which, in contrast to free-space propagating waves, have a component of the wavevector along the direction of propagation [47, 48]. One can think about this longitudinal component as contributed by the longitudinal oscillations of the electronic plasma, which is the crucial ingredient that allows the possibility of evanescent propagation and also the possibility of breaking the Rayleigh diffraction limit [48].

The latter point can be understood by reminding that the Rayleigh diffraction limit can be derived from the uncertainty relations for photons, which gives:

$$\Delta_x \ge \frac{\lambda}{4\pi}.\tag{1.1}$$

Then, remembering that:

$$\Delta_x \ge \frac{1}{2\Delta k_x},\tag{1.2}$$

and that

$$k = \sqrt{k_x^2 + k_y^2 + k_z^2},$$
 (1.3)

an increment in the wavevector component along x results in a higher confinement of light in this direction (see equation 1.2). However the possibility of confinement in the x-direction implies that, according to equation 1.3, a purely imaginary wavevector component has to be added along z, necessary to compensate the large wavevector along the x-direction. Introducing in a plane wave the purely imaginary wavevector  $k_z = i\kappa_z$ , where  $\kappa_z \in \mathbb{R}$  results in  $e^{ik_z z} = e^{-k_z z}$ , giving an exponential decay along z, characteristic of evanescent waves.

We come back to the modified Helmholtz equation, which reads as follows for the electric field:

$$\frac{\partial \vec{E}(z)}{\partial t} + (k_0^2 - \beta^2)\vec{E} = 0, \qquad (1.4)$$

with a similar equation for the magnetic field  $\dot{H}$ .

Now, we look at solutions of equation 1.4 for propagating waves confined to the interface, i.e. with evanescent decay in the perpendicular *z*-direction. It can be demonstrated that such solutions are forbidden for transverse electric (TE or *s*) modes, i.e., with only  $H_x$ ,  $H_z$ and  $E_y$  being nonzero. Therefore, the excitation of SPPs can be only found for transverse mag-



FIGURE 1.1: Schematics of the metal/dielectric interface.

netic (TM or *p*) modes, where only the field components  $E_x$ ,  $E_z$  and  $H_y$  are nonzero (see the 1.1). This observation is relevant for experiments, since the excitation of SPPs can be tested by controlling the polarization state of the incident light. With hindsight, the fact that SPPs cannot be excited with spolarized light is coherent with the observation that only p-polarized light can contribute to the wavevector along the propagation, which, as pointed out above, is a necessary condition for the excitation of evanescent waves.

For the abovementioned single dielectric/metal interface, it can be demonstrated that the TM (p-polarized) solutions to the propagation of SPP waves is determined by [47]:

The TM solutions for z > 0 can be written as:

$$H_y(z) = A_2 e^{i\beta x} e^{-k_2 z}$$
(1.5)

$$E_x(z) = iA_2 \frac{1}{\omega \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_d} k_2 e^{i\beta x} e^{-k_2 z}$$
(1.6)

$$E_x(z) = -A_2 \frac{\beta}{\omega \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_d} k_2 e^{i\beta x} e^{-k_2 z}$$
(1.7)

and for z < 0,

$$H_y(z) = A_1 e^{i\beta x} e^{k_1 z} \tag{1.8}$$

$$E_x(z) = -iA_1 \frac{1}{\omega \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_m} k_1 e^{i\beta x} e^{k_1 z}$$
(1.9)

$$E_x(z) = -A_1 \frac{\beta}{\omega \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_m} k_1 e^{i\beta x} e^{k_1 z}$$
(1.10)

Where  $\omega$ ,  $\varepsilon_0$ ,  $\varepsilon_m$  and  $\varepsilon_d$  are the dielectric function of vacuum, metal and

dielectric, respectively. From these equations, one can derive the dispersion relation for SPPs, which is given by:

$$\beta = k_0 \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_m \varepsilon_d}{\varepsilon_m + \varepsilon_d}}.$$
(1.11)

From the expression outlined in equation 1.11 one can infer that the wavevector of SPPs can be modulated by changes in the permittivity values of  $\varepsilon_m$  and  $\varepsilon_d$ . In the following, we analyze the two cases contemplated in this Thesis for the modulation of plasmons by external fields: firstly, the TMOKE generated from magnetic field-induced shifts of the plasmon resonances and, secondly, the modulation of the refractive index by electric fields, which include electro-optic and photo-elastic effects.

## 1.3 Modulation by magnetic fields: Transverse Magneto-Optic Kerr Effect mediated by plasmons

Magneto-optical effects arise from the interaction between light and matter, whenever the latter is subject to a magnetic field. In the case of magnetic ordered materials such as ferro- and ferri-magnetics, the effects are present even in the absence of any external magnetic field, being originated by the magnetization of the material. In the simplest scenario, the presence of a magnetic field (internal or external) changes the dispersion curves of the absorption coefficient, thus inducing a disparity in the optical anisotropy. Such disparity is a direct outcome of the splitting of the system energy levels under a magnetic field, which is called the Zeeman effect [49].

From a phenomenological point of view, the conventional magneto-optical effects are explained qualitatively by the changes in the medium refraction index  $n_+$  and  $n_-$ , which correspond to the material response to the magnetic fields along opposite directions,  $H^+$  and  $H^-$ , respectively. In the case of magnetic metals, one can understand intuitively the changes in refractive index as induced by changes in the Larmor frequency  $\Omega = -\gamma B$ ,

which consists in the frequency of the electron spin precessing around a external applied magnetic field *B*, where  $\gamma$  is the gyromagnetic ratio  $\gamma = -\frac{eg}{2m_e}$ , where *e*, *g* and *m*<sub>e</sub> are the electron- charge, g-factor and mass, hence, under external magnetic field the Larmor frequency can be written as:

$$\Omega_{\pm} = \Omega_0 \pm \frac{eH}{m_e c'} \tag{1.12}$$

where, *c* and *H* are the light speed and the magnetic induction. The appearance of two resonance frequencies ( $\Omega_+$  and  $\Omega_-$ ) induces a slitting in the absorption, resulting in the displacement in the dispersion response  $n_+(\Omega)$  and  $n_-(\Omega)$ , resulting in:

$$n_{\pm}(\Omega) \approx n(\Omega) \pm \frac{eH}{2mc} \frac{dn}{d\Omega'}$$
 (1.13)

where  $n(\Omega)$  is the refractive index in the absence of magnetic field *H* and  $\frac{dn}{d\Omega}$  is the variation of refractive index based on the Zeeman slitting.

This Thesis is focused on the observation of transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect (TMOKE), in which changes in reflectance are measured as a function of the magnetic field. In TMOKE, the external magnetic field is applied parallel to the sample surface and the perpendicular to the light plane of incidence (see figure 1.2).



FIGURE 1.2: The changes in total intensity exerted by the external magnetic field are demonstrated in a hysteresis cycle.

The observation of TMOKE is based on physical mechanisms similar to the ones described previously. More specifically, the observation of TMOKE in magnetic multilayers can be described by the modification of the permittivity by a transverse magnetic field *H*. In the case of magnetoplasmonic gratings, this, in turn, modifies the wavevector  $k_{SPP}$  of the SPPs, which results in a magneto-optic effect that arises from the magnetic modulation of the SPP excitation condition. The change in  $k_{SPP}$  depends on the offdiagonal permittivity  $\varepsilon_{xy}$  of the metallic layer and is given by [50, 51, 52].



FIGURE 1.3: Induced displacement in the SPP resonance frequency by a magnetic field.



where  $\beta = \sqrt{\varepsilon_m \varepsilon_d} (1 - \varepsilon_m^2 / \varepsilon_d^2)$ , 1.14, the plasmon wave vector  $k_{SPP}$  and the magnetization M are preceded by  $\pm$  and  $\mp$  signs to account for the two possible directions of the SPP propagation and the magnetization. Their mutual relationship is determined by the symmetry of the system. The magnetization of the grating locally breaks the time-reversal symmetry of the system. Consequently, a reversal of the SPP propagation direction is equivalent to a reversal of the magnetization direction. Thus the degeneracy between forward and backward propagating modes is lifted and their wavevectors are distinct (see figure 1.3), which results in changes in the diffracted light intensity as the function of magnetic field. To quantify these changes, the magnetization of the sample is cycled to record a hysteresis loop from which variation of the reflected and diffracted intensities as function of magnetization can be extracted. In chapters 3, 4

and 5 we describe in detail the mechanisms that lead to a large enhancement of TMOKE responses in gratings, driven by the excitation of SPPs.

## **1.4** Modulation by electric fields: electro-optic and photoelastic effects

#### 1.4.1 Linear electro-optic effect

In electro-optic materials the refractive index can be modulated by electric fields. This property can be exploited to develop nano-optical filters, modulators and switches that control the amplitude and phase of electromagnetic waves in integrated communication systems. Fully polarized ferroelectric materials exhibit the linear electro-optic effect -also called the Pockels electro-optic effect-, where the light intensity can be controlled by altering the birefringence of with an external electric field. The Pockels effect is only present in non-centrosymmetric point groups, which include ferroelectric materials.

The linear electro-optic response is defined in terms of the changes induced by the electrical field in the optical indicatrix [53]:

$$B_{ij}(E) - B_{ij}(0) = \Delta B_{ij} = r_{ijk}E_k, \qquad (1.15)$$

where the variation in the indicatrix  $\Delta B_{ij}$  determines the changes in the refractive relative to the crystal orientation, while  $r_{ijk}$  are the electro-optic coefficients. The indicatrix, can be reduced to a third rank polar tensor known as Pockels effect, being written as:

$$\Delta B_i = r_{ij} E_j \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., 6. \ j = 1, 2, 3). \tag{1.16}$$

The complexity associated to the indicatrix imposes a previous analysis of the crystallography and optical orientation of the crystal, since the optical effects are entangled to the electro-optic coefficients. The changes in the refractive index induced by the external electric field can be simplified in some cases as:

$$\Delta n(E) = \frac{-n^3}{2} \left(\delta B\right) = -\left(\frac{-n^3}{2}rE\right),\tag{1.17}$$

where, *r* and *E* are the electro-optic coefficient and the external electric field, being in the general case in the order of  $(r = 10^{-11} \text{m/V} \text{ and } E =$ 

 $10^{6}$ V/m) respectively, resulting in a refractive index modulation in the order of  $\Delta n(E) \approx 10^{-5}$ .

#### 1.4.2 Photoelastic effects

Alternatively, the refractive index can be changed by electric fields through the converse piezoelectric effect, so that the state of mechanical stress can be modulated. This effect is also important in acousto-optic devices, optical switches and modulators [53, 54]. The photoelastic effect can be described mathematically by the tensorial expression [53]:

$$\Delta B_{ij} = p_{ijkl} x_{kl}, \tag{1.18}$$

where  $\Delta B_{ij}$  corresponds to the changes in the indicatrix, which, as mentioned above, determines the magnitude of the refractive index relative to the orientation in a crystal-,  $p_{ijkl}$  is the elasto-optic tensor and  $x_{kl}$  is the acting strain vector.

In ferroelectrics, the application of electric fields may result in different microscopic arrangements of ferroelectric domains that may give way to different strain states, resulting in changes of the refractive index through photoelastic effects. As discussed in chapter 6, the modulation of the TMOKE responses by electric fields and, under appropriate conditions, the reversal of the sign of TMOKE induced electrically, can be rationalized by photoelastic effects in magnetoplasmonic crystals that include ferroelectric materials.

# 1.5 Diffraction and interference of electromagnetic waves

Interference results from the superposition of two or more waves. Historically, the phenomenon of interference was instrumental in establishing the wave nature of light [55] and later, the double-slit experiment –either with photons or material particles– has become the emblematic cornerstone experiment of quantum mechanics [56]. During the course of this Thesis, we used the diffraction phenomena as a tool to probe and amplify SPP effects in the magneto-optic response of magnetoplasmonic crystals, composed of magnetic metallic multilayers. A one-dimensional photonic crystal, i.e. a grating coupler, can be modeled as a se-



FIGURE 1.4: Double slit experiment.

ries of equispaced slits (grating periodicity ( $\Delta$ )). In the grating, the impinging wavefront is diffracted into different beams that, depending on the slit separation, are emitted at specific angles  $\phi$ , determined by the difference in optical paths between successive beams, which is given by  $\delta = 2\pi\Delta \sin(\phi)/\lambda$  (see figure 1.4). The far-field response of the *n*th slit can be calculated as:

$$E_i(\theta) = A e^{i(j-1)\delta},\tag{1.19}$$

with j = 1, 2, ..., q, where q is the total number of slits, and, thus the total electric field can be computed as:

$$E_j(\phi) = \sum_{j=1}^q E_j(\phi) = A \sum_{j=1}^q (e^{i\delta})^{j-1},$$
(1.20)

which can be simplified to:

$$E(\phi) = A \frac{1 - e^{iq\delta}}{1 - e^{i\delta}},$$
(1.21)

resulting in the total intensity:

$$I = I^0 \left[ \frac{\sin^2(q\frac{\delta}{2})}{\sin^2(\frac{\delta}{2})} \right], \qquad (1.22)$$

where  $I^0$  is the individual slit intensity.

## **Chapter 2**

# Experimental methods and sample fabrication

This chapter includes a brief description of the deposition, lithography and optical characterization techniques that have been used in this Thesis. The chapter is divided in two subsections, where the sample fabrication is described first, followed by a description of the methods used for optical characterization.

## 2.1 Sample fabrication

The sample fabrication is described in different subsections, in which deposition and lithography techniques are presented. We start with the description of the deposition techniques.

## 2.1.1 Deposition techniques

The materials studied in this Thesis were either metals (mostly Au and Co) or oxide perovskites (e.g., BaTiO<sub>3</sub>). For the growth of the former we used electron-beam evaporation, whereas for oxides pulsed laser deposition (PLD) was used instead.

#### **Electron-beam evaporation**

The electron-beam evaporation (EBE) method consists in a high vacuum deposition technique where electrons are accelerated through a static electric
potential V in the order of 10 kV, providing them with high kinetic energy, so these electrons are directed against the material to be deposited. Whenever an electron collides against the target its energy is transferred to the material, mostly as thermal energy. Once the temperature and vacuum levels are high, the material evaporates coating the sample. The process can be controlled by the amount of current I provided to the electron gun, that is used to tune or cease the evaporation rate.

A schematic representation of the EBE is shown in figure 2.1, where a current I flows through an electron gun, generating electrons which are accelerated through and electric potential V, reaching the crucible that contains the desired material. In this process, the material that is evaporated from the crucible is deposited over the sample, while the total amount of deposited material is obtained through a quartz balance.



FIGURE 2.1: Schematics of e-beam evaporation. Electrons, which are generated by a filament, are accelerated against a target material through an electric potential V. Whenever a critical current I is achieved (melting point), the material in the crucible evaporates to the sample holder.

This technique was used specially for the growth of gold (Au), cobalt (Co) and chromium (Cr). A more detailed description of the sample preparation and protocols are given in the sections below.

### **Pulsed laser deposition**

Pulsed laser deposition (PLD) was the technique used in the growth of ferroelectric thin films ( $BaTiO_3$ ). It consists in a high power pulsed laser that is focused on the material target located in a chamber with controllable oxygen pressure. The material then sublimates from the target, coating the substrate. The process occurs in the presence of an oxygen atmosphere in which the pressure is adjusted in order to have materials with optimal stoichiometry. In addition to pressure, other relevant parameters are the laser fluence -usually measured in Joules/cm<sup>2</sup>- the repetition rate and the temperature at which the substrate is kept during the growth [57].

In this Thesis, we report on experiments carried out in magnetoplasmonic systems that incorporate ferroelectric  $BaTiO_3$  layers. For the deposition of this material, we took advantage of Dr. F. Sánchez (ICMAB) expertise in high-quality  $BaTiO_3$  thin films with optimal ferroelectric properties [58, 59].



FIGURE 2.2: Schematics of pulse laser deposition. A pulsed laser light is focused on the target, sublimating the material on the substrate.

### 2.1.2 Lithography techniques

We used microfabrication methods based on lithography [60] to develop advanced photonic micro- and nano-structures, including the construction of nanophotonic devices with ferroelectrics, which required optical access with in-situ applied electric fields. We used two different lithographic techniques, namely, optical lithography, used to pattern structures on the micron scale and electron-beam lithography for sub-micron scale structures.

### **Optical lithography**

A standard optical lithography process is shown in figure 2.3. The process of micro-fabrication starts when a light-sensitive polymer is coated over the desired substrate (a), and then it is annealed until the polymer solidifies. The exposition is done through ultraviolet light ( $\lambda = 385$  nm) (b), exposing the desired marked areas. During the exposition, the UV light breaks the molecular links between the polymer chains, allowing the removal of the polymeric resist through a developer (see figure 2.3 (c)). Subsequently, the sample goes through a deposition step (d), where the substrate and photoresist are coated (e). Conventionally, in the final step, a lift-off is performed, where the photoresist is etched away by a solvent, usually acetone. The final structure consists of patterned metallic layers deposited over the substrate.

# (a) Spin-Coating Photoresist Substrate (b) UV - exposition Photoresist Substrate (c) Development Photoresist Substrate (d) Metallic coating Photoresist Substrate (e) Liftoff Substrate

FIGURE 2.3: Standard photo-lithography scheme: In (a) a photo- or electron- sensitive polymer is spin coated on the substrate, followed by an exposition to light or an electron-beam (b). Subsequently, the mask is etched away by a developer in (c), after which the sample is coated with a metal (d). Finally, a liftoff is performed revealing the patterned structure (e).

### **Electron-beam lithography**

Aiming for high precision and control, the electron-beam lithography offers nanoscale resolution. Electrons are collimated and accelerated against an electron-sensitive resist, allowing the production of nanostructures in the order of tens of nanometers. A conventional method to define patterns using e-beam lithography follows a similar protocol to the one described by figure 2.3, where the photon-sensitive polymer and exposition are replaced by an electron-sensitive resists and exposition to electron-beams. More technical details about the lithography process illustrated in figure 2.3 can be found in Appendix A.

### 2.1.3 Patterning of the magnetoplasmonic crystals

In the last subsection, we defined how patterns can be made through a lithography process. In particular cases, such patterns can be used to protect specific regions of the sample from chemical or physical attacks done by dry or wet etching techniques. For metallic layers dry etching proves to be extremely efficient, having very high etching rates. For some cases, as is the case of Alumina (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> as discussed below) and BaTiO<sub>3</sub>, dry etching fails, because the etching rates drop dramatically, and therefore a chemical etching is necessary.

### Ion Milling

For the dry etching, ion milling was used. The technique is based on the acceleration of argon ions that are accelerated against the target. After hitting the latter, the energy from the impinging ions is used to eject atoms from the target surface. For conventional metals, high etching rates in the order of 60 nm per minute or higher, are easily achieved. However, the etching rates for oxides drops to just a few nanometers per minute, which makes ion milling impractical as it could cause both damage to the material and etching of the resist. In this case it is preferred to use a different etching technique, as discussed in the next section.

### Wet etching

In this method, the sample is immersed in a bath of a certain etchant. A wet etching process is designed to corrode a specific material, in which a specific etchant is selected, thus reacting exclusively with the desired material. This technique is extensively used in the industrial scale, where for instance silicon oxide wafers are etched by buffered hydrofluoric acid (BHF). Generally, for the case of complex oxides, semiconductors and some metals the wet etching process is not well studied, and only few reviews and compilations can be found [61, 62]. In this work BHF was used to corrode Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, having an etching rate of 60 nm per minute at a concentration of 4%, leaving the photoresist intact.

Although dry or wet etching are a convenient way to create patterns, they are not exempt of some drawbacks arising mostly from anisotropic etching along the walls of the patterns, which is schematized in figure 2.4. For example, some of the milled material can be accumulated at the borders of the wall, as shown in figure 2.4 (a). On the other hand, during the wet etching the acid penetrates isotropically, including the regions under the resist, as shown in figure 2.4 (b), digging small cavities at side of the structure. Thus, the induced anisotropic by wet or dry etching potentially can limit the scalability of the device. For instance, wet etching cannot be used for an extended period of time, since the corrosion can dissolve the base of the nano-structure. A similar problem happens also for ion milling, where narrow structures can present a large shape anisotropy due to reabsorption of material near the borders. The ion-milling induced anisotropy can be minimized through rotation of sample during the process, thus reducing the anisotropic etching. Unfortunately, this method could not be applied in the wet etching, so these effects could not be reduced in that case.



FIGURE 2.4: Schematics for dry- (a) and wet- (b) etching, showing the effects of anisotropic etching.

### 2.1.4 Device fabrication

In the following we discuss the details regarding the fabrication of different magnetoplasmonic crystals -grown on digital disks or on conventional substrates- and in combination with ferroelectrics.

### Magnetoplasmonic crystals on top of patterned commercial disk media

This subsection is focused on the preparation of magnetoplasmonic systems, where commercial optical disks were used as substrates. Even though having a fixed periodicity, commercial optical disks such as as CD, DVD and Blu-ray can be easily used as photonic crystals in massive scale at very low cost.



FIGURE 2.5: Schematics of an optical disk. (a) Initially, the patterned polycarbonate surface is protected by an additional polycarbonate layer. After mechanical dismantling, the protective layer is removed and the exposed patterned surface is coated by a magnetic metallic multilayer, as shown schematically in (b).

The fabrication of magnetoplasmonic crystals on top of commercial disks requires that the structure of the optical disk (see figure 2.5 (a)) is first dismantled mechanically. Subsequently the exposed patterns can be easily identified since light is diffracted by the gratings. The surface has to be cleaned carefully, to ensure the full removal of all the optical disk coatings. In the case of DVD disks, the grating structure can be easily cleaned using a scotch tape followed by a bath in ethanol, in which the polycarbonate is immersed for a few minutes. Afterwards, the sample is ready for the metallic coating and finally the photonic crystal is ready to be measured

### Magnetoplasmonic crystals on unpatterned substrates

The aforementioned protocol allows the use of conventional optical disks as a basis for photonic nano-devices. However, the geometry of the nanodevices is constrained to the topography of the surface patterns of the optical disk. Aiming for full flexibility in defining the magnetoplasmonic crystals, we require using of electron-beam lithography to define the magnetoplasmonic systems. The protocol described here was used for the construction of the photonic crystals presented at chapters 4 and 5.

We used a process that included a combination of optical- and e-beamlithography. This is illustrated in the schematics of figure 2.6, where a magnetoplasmonic base (red) hosts photonic structures (salmon), in which the base has the finality to provide optical access to the photonic structures.

After the evaporation of the magnetic multilayers, an electronbeam lithography is performed (shown by the salmon areas), in which a mask is set over the metallic layers. The final step of the process consists in the milling of the metal not covered by the electron sensitive polymer down to the required thickness. At the end of the process, magnetoplasmonic crystals are prepared with tailored geometry, in which periodicity, width allowed geometry, in which periodicity, width allowed ge-



FIGURE 2.6: Design of the combination of optical- and electron-beam lithography. Red areas indicate where the photonic structures are located, depicted in salmon. Crosses are used for alignment.

### Magnetoplasmonic crystals with ferroelectrics

This subsection is dedicated to an advanced lithography method, which allows the construction of devices that simultaneously are able to switch a ferroelectric (FE) material while allowing optical measurements on multifunctional photonic crystals, enabling the modulation of optical properties by external electric fields. Ferroelectrics are a good option, as they have electro-optic and photoelastic properties, by which the refractive index can be varied linearly with electric fields.

Yet, ferroelectric materials that are scaled to into smaller dimensions present serious challenges that must be addressed. For instance, ferroelectric thin films are not fully insulating, as they may present leakage currents that may hinder the switching of electric polarization, especially when films are scaled to small sizes, typically on the micron scale. This, in turn, puts a constraint on the ferroelectric contact size, which should be large enough to enable electrical contact with wires. Besides that, the switching areas have to be accessed optically, which means that electrodes have to be contacted away from region that is measured with light.

The process starts with the deposition of the ferroelectric layer. In our case, we deposited BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (BTO) grown on top of SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (STO). BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (BTO), is selected because their bulk crystals present large electro-optic Pockels coefficients [63, 64, 65] and photoelastic properties [54, 66]. As a bottom electrode, grown between BTO and the substrate, we used  $La_{0.7}Sr_{0.3}MnO_3$  (LSMO), which is a metallic oxide perovskite, with crystal structure compatible with BTO, making easier its integration with the ferroelectric [58, 59].

The patterning process starts once the substrates are fully covered by BTO/LSMO bilayers of thickness typically 200 nm/10 nm. The lithographic process is summarized schematically in 2.7, which is based on several nano-fabrication steps, including lithography, wet-etching, ion-milling and metallic evaporations, described in the next paragraphs.

The construction of ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals follows a building-block hierarchy, starting with the inner structure that consists of a metallic Au/Co magnetoplasmonic multilayer in the areas shown in red in figures 2.7 and 2.8. This step is done through optical lithography, with the active contacts and the alignment crosses shown in red and green respectively in figures 2.7 and 2.8. The areas shaded in red are then covered with magnetoplasmonic multilayers patterned into gratings of different periodicities, as shown later in figure 2.10.



FIGURE 2.7: Schematics of ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals as defined by lithography. Ferroelectric active areas and alignment patterns are displayed in red and green colors, respectively. Blue areas correspond to top electrodes (Au) that contact the ferroelectric layer.

As aforementioned, ferroelectric thin films present the problem of leakage currents, which may preclude the ability to switch the electric polarization. To minimize the effect of leakage currents, the area where the ferroelectric is contacted has to be reduced to about less than about < 10000  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>. In addition, the top electrodes -usually defined by evaporating Au/Al- have to be designed so that the zone that is contacted electrically is far away ( $\approx$ 4 mm) from the region that is accessed optically (see the blue areas in figure 2.7). Taking into account these constraints, the reduction of leakage currents was ensured by using a dielectric passivation layer grown before the deposition of top-electrode contacts (shown in blue). Note that the top electrode only contacts a small fraction of the active contact (shown in red), since these are the regions that are accessed optically see the red and gray areas in 2.7 and 2.8. As a passivation layer, we used Alumina ( $Al_2O_3$ ) grown by atomic layer deposition (ALD). We found that, in order to be effective, the  $Al_2O_3$ layer should have a minimum thickness of 300 nm, otherwise the leakage currents are not reduced enough. Ferroelectric polarization-electric field loops measured in devices defined by this lithography are shown later in chapter 6. Finally, as mentioned above, the top electrode is in direct contact with the ferroelectric exclusively inside small regions (gray areas in figures 2.7 and 2.8 i.e. the interconnection bridges).



FIGURE 2.8: Schematics from the motive micro-structure, in which the long-range contacts, ferroelectric active areas, alignment patterns and cladding bridges are shown in blue, red, green and gray respectively.

After the passivation layer has been deposited, the whole sample is covered by the  $Al_2O_3$  layer including the active contacts (shown in red). Therefore, a wet etching was necessary to unblock the connection with the active layers shown in figure 2.9 (a). For that purpose, an additional photolithography mask has been placed, marking the regions where the passivation layer has to be removed, inside the red areas shown in figures 2.7 and 2.8. The process has been done through chemical attack, using an acid solution of BHF (Buffered Hydrofluoric Acid) with concentration of 4%, hence etching the  $Al_2O_3$  layer at a rate of 60 nm per minute. A side view of the device structure can be seen in figure 2.9 (a), in which the passivation layer is observed covering the plasmonic active layers. The corrosion stops once the acid dissolves the uncovered  $Al_2O_3$  layer, as seen in 2.9 (b). The resulting layer structure can be seen in 2.9 (c), which shows how the passivation layer covers the whole sample with the exception of the metallic contacts that are in direct contact with BTO.



FIGURE 2.9: Cross-sectional views of: (a) the plasmonic contacts after sample passivation; (b) after the passivation layer is attacked by BHF; (c) the final structure with unblocked connections to the magnetoplasmonic layers.

Once the active contacts are unobstructed, a new optical lithography has been performed creating the long-range contacts and bridges for the ferroelectric switching. The long-range switching structure can be identified in figures 2.7 and 2.8 by the layers in blue and gray colors. Finally a metallic evaporation was performed, in which relative thick (200 nm) metallic layer is grown, thus establishing the connection between bridge and contacts. A thick metallic layer is essential to overcome the gap between the ferroelectric and the long-range contacts, since the difference in height between these two sets of contacts depends on the thickness of the passivation layer, as shown in the cross-sectional view of figure 2.10.

With the macro- and micro- motive structure finished, the last lithography process consists in the patterning of photonic crystals into the magnetoplasmonic active layers. This process was done through e-beam lithography, followed by an ion-milling, where the metal not protected by the electronsensitive polymer has been removed by the argon atoms, thus shaping the photonic crystal as intended. The cross-sectional schematics shown in figure 2.10 displays the final structure of the magnetoplasmonic crystals in the active areas that are accessed optically. The full process list can be listed as:

- Plasmonic active contacts were deposited on the ferroelectric thin film through optical lithography.
- Deposition of the passivation layer through atomic layer deposition.
- Wet etching, opening the access to the plasmonic contacts.
- Macro contacts assembly through optical lithography.
- Photonic crystal construction through electron-beam lithography and dry etching.

The aforementioned structure provides a stable and reliable way to integrate magnetoplasmonic devices with ferroelectric materials. On the other hand the amount of lithography steps entails a long development time. In order to accelerate the process, a simplified process, which is described in the next section, is based on the replacement of the Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> passivation layer by a photoresist. Doing so, the number of nano-fabrication steps is reduced, but it comes at a price of mechanical and chemical instability.

### A simplified construction

As discussed above, the simplified process consists in the substitution of the  $Al_2O_3$  passivation layer by a layer of photoresist, which is annealed at high temperatures, thus solidifying the polymer. This baking process, although granting an extra resistance against solvents, does not allow prolonged exposures to them, as it could be corroded.

Similarly to the methodology described previously, the process starts with the definition of the main contacts and alignment patterns using optical lithography. Subsequently, the sample is annealed at 150 degrees for 30 minutes. An extra layer of photoresist is then deposited at the top of the hardened photoresist, and the long-range connections, bridges, alignment pattern and electro-active plasmonic contacts were exposed. Finally a metallic evaporation was performed, covering all the exposed areas with a magnetoplasmonic multilayer. During the liftoff (short process) only the second layer of photoresist is susceptible to the solvent etching, thus, leaving the first photoresist layer intact, therefore acting as a passivation layer. Afterwards, the nano-patterning is performed by e-beam lithography and ion-milling as discussed in the previous case.

Thus, the process can be summarized as:

- A photoresist exposed and then hardened, acting as a passivation layer.
- A second layer of photoresist exposed followed by a metallic evaporation, however during the liftoff only the second layer was removed.
- Photonic crystal construction through electron-beam lithography and dry etching.

A qualitative comparison from the previously presented methods can be seen in figure 2.10. The comparison between the two passivation layers is shown in table 2.1.4.



FIGURE 2.10: Cross-sectional plots showing the full layered structure, using as passivation layers either Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (a) or photoresist (b).

Lithography method	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	Photoresist
Lithography steps	5-6	3
Evaporations	2-3	1
ALD depositons	1	0
Ferroelectric switching	good	good
Stability	good	poor
Corrosion resistance	good	poor

As indicated in table 2.1.4, both protocols prove to be useful to reduce leakage currents, enabling an effective switching of the ferroelectric polarization.

### 2.2 Optical characterization

This section describes the experimental methodology adopted for the optical characterization of the magnetoplasmonic crystals. It embraces different experimental techniques. We first describe leakage radiation microscopy, which aims at obtaining the leakage radiation generated by evanescent waves, e.g., from surface plasmons polaritons (SPPs). The section also includes Fourier optics spectroscopy, which allows the acquisition of the band structures of photonic systems. We have relied on these approaches to develop methods to explore how magnetic effects influence SPPs absorption or propagation. Alternatively, we have also developed methods to analyze individually the signatures of light or plasmonic diffraction modes of specific orders.

### 2.2.1 Experimental setup

The main structure and components of the experimental setup can be seen in figure 2.11, which, in the following, we accompany with a brief description of its components. A xenon lamp is used to provide a continuous white light source that is sent through a monochromator. The monochromatic beam is then collimated through an objective lens 10x N.A. 0.4 (Obj, 1), and after going through a linear polarizer and a 50:50 beam splitter, the beam is directed towards the sample surface, the monochromatic light is focused on the sample focal plane by an oil immersion objective lens 63x N.A. 1.4 (Obj, 2), and the reflected light is collected by the same lens and directed to a set of condenser lenses (Cond, 1 and Cond, 2) after which it is projected on two different detectors. One of them is a CCD camera aiming to ensure that the sample is placed in the focal plane, providing a monochromatic real space image. The second detector consists of a sC-MOS camera placed in the Fourier focal plane, which allows the detection of the photonic band structure of a given photonic material or crystal. The experimental setup also holds two step motors (Step M, 1 and Step M, 2), which allow a precise alignment, focus, shaping and steering of the light beam. The setup also allows the placement of electromagnetic coils (e.m.c), which enable the measurement of magneto-optic hysteresis loops.



FIGURE 2.11: Description of the experimental setup. A xenon lamp provides a continuum spectra of white light, which is directed to a monochromator. The beam, after collimated (Obj, 1) and polarized, goes through a beam splitter (B-S) to an oil immersion objective lens (Obj, 2). The reflected beam is collected through a set of condenser lenses (Cond, 1) and (Cond, 2), finally arriving at the detectors (CCD) and (sCMOS) cameras where, real and reciprocal space images can be extracted.

The setup presented in figure 2.11 is the building block for all the measurements taken and presented during this work. Below we give a brief description of the experiments that were performed using the setup shown in figure 2.11.

### 2.2.2 Real space imaging

One way of probing and excite SPPs is through a technique called leakage radiation microscopy (LRM), [67, 68]. This technique is based on the excitation of plasmons in Kretschmann configuration [69], which are excited at the metal/dielectric interface. The SPPs excited through Kretschmann configuration are coupled into plasmons when the impinging light satisfies a coupling condition, i.e. whenever the angle of incidence is at critical angle  $\theta_C$ as presented in figure 2.12 (a). Yet,

SPPs can also be excited through corrugated/rough surfaces [70] (seen in the next chapters).



FIGURE 2.12: In (a) the standard Kretschmann configuration is shown, in which a dielectric prism allows the coupling of SPPs, whenever the incoming light has an angle of incidence equal to the critical angle ( $\theta_C$ ). In (b) an oil immersion objective lenses allows the excitation of SPPs at the metal/oil interface, whenever the critical angle condition is satisfied.

The leakage radiation microscopy can be thought as exploiting the Kretschmann configuration, where the dielectric prism is replaced by an oil immersion objective lens as shown in figure 2.12 (b), where the immersion oil allows SPPs to be excited under matching with the refractive index.

A conventional illumination scheme is shown in figure 2.13 (a), where the back aperture of an oil immersion objective lens is fully illuminated. Since surface plasmons (SPPs) are only coupled at the critical angle, the beam size can be reduced from the full width of the lens aperture (6 mm) to near 0.5 mm, thus narrowing down substantially the range of angles of incidence. In these illumination conditions, the location of the beam spot in the back aperture can be steered as shown in 2.13



FIGURE 2.13: Depiction of the beam illumination and position at the back aperture of an oil immersion objective lens. In (a) a full aperture is exposed by the beam. In (b) the beam size is reduced and displaced to angles of incidence near the critical angle  $\theta_C$ . Panel (c) shows the SPPs excited through Kretschmann configuration, which is characterized by an spectral leakage radiation emission.

(b). For instance, if the displaced beam shown in (b) satisfies the critical angle condition, SSPs are excited and their leakage radiation is collected, as shown schematically by figure 2.13 (c).

The formed image in (c) consists in the reflected beam together with the leakage radiation. The radiation pattern is, in general, wavelength dependent, i.e. longer wavelengths are able to couple SPPs that can propagate longer than short wavelengths. Generally, losses in the noble metals are smaller for longer wavelengths, which explains the larger propagation at these frequencies.

### 2.2.3 Reciprocal space imaging in the Fourier plane

Beyond microscopy techniques, Fourier optics [55, 71] provides access to the band structure of photonic crystals. The working principles of the Fourier optics are based on the collimation of the light coming from a point source schematically represented in figure 2.14, so that a plane wave is projected into the detector (camera sCMOS in figure 2.11). As shown by figure 2.14 the detector is placed in a specific position called the Fourier plane, in which the reflected light projects the reciprocal space response. Hence the Fourier plane provides the band structure of photonic structures, where the response is projected into the pixel arrays of the sCMOS camera. In this configuration, the angular information can be recovered through a space-angular conversion, which is discussed in section 2.2.3.



FIGURE 2.14: Schematics of the principles of Fourier optics spectroscopy. The ensemble of angles generated by a point source is collected and collimated, converting the original angle of emission  $\phi$  into a position in the Fourier plane.

### **Scanning Fourier method**

A Fourier optics arrangement can use a spectrometer as the main detector, which senses the light intensity collected from the sample through an optical fiber. This detection scheme is depicted in figure 2.15 (a), which shows schematically a motorized stage that moves an optical optical fiber with aperture ds, which scans across the whole space with steps dx and dy, as shown at figure 2.15 (b). Whenever a full scan along x or y is completed, the band structure of a given photonic structure can be reconstructed. The light polarization axis is in general set along the scanning directions, as shown in 2.15, where, for instance, the p- polarized mode is set along the x scanning axis.



FIGURE 2.15: Sketch of Fourier optics scanning method. An optical fiber with aperture ds is moved by a stepper motor capable of moving in  $\hat{x}$  and  $\hat{y}$  directions, corresponding to p- and s- polarization. The light is collected by the fiber and delivered through an optical fiber to a spectrometer.

### Photonic band structures: Angle-resolved spectroscopy.

The projection of the Fourier plane (as seen in figure 2.14) can be analyzed and calibrated, allowing the conversion from space to angles of incidence, which provides a proper description of the photonic band structure. The calibration from positions in the Fourier plane and angles from the point source can be done using commercial 1D photonic crystals (in our case a DVD optical disk) with well known periodicity. The corresponding Bragg diffraction provides accurately the angular position, enabling, after a proper rescaling in the Fourier plane, the reconstruction of diffracted and plasmonic modes.



FIGURE 2.16: (a) The light impinging on a one-dimensional photonic crystal is decomposed into two diffracted beams shown in blue. The well-known periodicity of the crystal allows a proper calibration, so that plasmonic dispersion lines (shown in (b) can be correctly identified from scans in the Fourier plane. The lines in (b) are calculated from the equation 2.2.

This process can be understood as follows. The light impinging on a onedimensional photonic crystal is decomposed into diffracted modes, which are emitted from the sample surface as shown in figure 2.16 (a). However, light can be also converted into SPPs, if wavevector matching conditions are found between light and plasmons. The conversion of light into SPPs is visible by a dip in reflectance caused by the absorption of light at specific resonance wavelengths, as shown in figure 2.16 (b), where a well defined crossing between two SPP bands can be identified.

The dispersion lines for diffracted and plasmonic modes can be defined according to the Bragg condition, as explained below. Using these equations, the calculated plasmon dispersion lines were included in figure 2.16 (b). The Bragg law relates the incident wavevector  $k_{in}$  to the one of the reflected wave  $k_{dif}$  by the expression:

$$k_{in}(\lambda) = k_{dif}(\lambda) \pm m\Delta, \qquad (2.1)$$

from which the wavevectors can be written as  $k_{in} = \frac{n\omega}{c} \sin \theta_{in}$ ,  $k_{dif} = \frac{n\omega}{c} \sin \theta_{ref}$  and the grating component  $\Delta = \frac{2\pi}{d}$ , where *c* are  $\omega$  the light speed

and frequency,  $\theta_{in}$  and  $\theta_{ref}$  are the angle of incidence and reflection, *d* is the grating periodicity, *m* is a integer corresponding to the different diffraction modes and *n* is the refractive index. In what follows, we will call the modes indexed by *m* as simply "diffracted modes". Next we assume that light initially coupled into SPP, is then diffracted by the 1D photonic crystal. Thus the equation 2.1 can be written as:

$$k_{SPP} = k_x \pm \eta \frac{2\pi}{\Delta},\tag{2.2}$$

where  $k_{SPP}$ ,  $k_x$  and  $\eta$ , are, respectively, the SPP wavevector, the interface component of the wavevector of the incident light  $k_x = k_{in} \sin \theta$ , and the plasmonic orders. Oftentimes we will refer in this Thesis to the diffracted SPPs as simply "plasmon dispersion lines of order  $\eta$ ", or similar.

### **Monochromatic Fourier Microscopy**

An alternative way to perform the Fourier analysis consists in replacing the spectrometer by a fast camera (sCMOS camera), where the full Fourier plane can be detected at once in few milliseconds, without the help of scanning motors. In this method, the resolution is given by the camera pixel size, where in our apparatus it corresponds to 12  $\mu$ m. As a result



FIGURE 2.17: (a) A real space image is shown, from a commercial grating (Thorlabs GH13-24V). (b) We show the reciprocal space image obtained from the Fourier plane for a given wavelength ( $\lambda = 530$  nm). The initial polarization state of the incoming light is defined by the guided arrows s' and p'. (c) The dotted lines represent iso-angular circumference with similar values of  $\Theta$ . The red-shaded area corresponds to the region to be integrated for the data acquisition for the p-light component. (d) Shows the reconstruction of the reflectance plot from a 1D photonic crystal normalized by the reflectance of an Al (aluminum) mirror.

of the combination of pixel size and camera speed, imaging of direct or reciprocal space can be speed up by about two orders of magnitudes (e.g., an image of 600x600 pixels can be taken in about 2 minutes instead of about 150 minutes using the spectrometer).

In turn, this increase of speed comes with a massive increase of volume of data, typically by about two orders of magnitude. For instance, the acquisition of an image using the spectrometer requires the storage of about 1 megabytes of information, while using the sCMOS camera the volume increases to about 200 megabytes. This amount of data demands a big storage capacity and very efficient data analysis.

The methodology behind the Fourier microscopy can be explained with the help of figure 2.17. Panel (a) shows the image in real space of a commercial GH13-24V photonic crystal from Thorlabs. To obtain this image, the focal plane was adjusted to the plane corresponding photonic crystal surface, so that all light coming from that plane was collected and detected. Panel (b) shows the image of the same photonic crystal in the reciprocal space for a particular wavelength. In this image, the arrows s' and p' indicate the initial orientation of the s- and p-polarization of the incident light. The frame obtained in (b) contains two sets of angular coordinates of the Fourier plane, one corresponding to the angle of incidence  $\theta$  and the other the azimuthal angle  $\psi$ , shown schematically in (c) as the dotted concentric circumferences and the in plane angle, respectively.

The method enables the imaging of the photonic band structure obtained with a particular state of the polarization of the incoming light. For instance, if we choose to select only the p-light component, we should collect the pixels corresponding to the red-shaded area shown schematically in figure 2.17 (c). In the conditions of the experiments, the angle  $\psi$  should not be larger than about 3 degrees. Finally, by collecting the data for the whole range of wavelengths, the full Fourier spectrum for the p-light polarization is obtained. Thus, figure 2.17 (d) shows the p-component Fourier spectrum of a calibration grating normalized by an Al mirror. A similar procedure can be done for incoming light with s-polarization, just by changing the azimuthal angle  $\psi$ , when  $\psi$  satisfies two conditions:  $\psi < 93$  and  $\psi > 87$  degrees.

Summarizing the measurement and analysis routine, the following steps must be done:

- Focusing the light in the photonic crystal plane (real space).
- Collecting monochromatic pictures of the Fourier plane (reciprocal space).
- The continuum of light spectrum is scanned.
- Performing the pixel-angular conversion.

### 2.2.4 Diffractive Fourier optics

By reducing the beam spot size in the objective back aperture, (see section 2.2.2), we could untangle the diffracted light independently of the specular reflection, which allowed us to explore and discover how plasmonic resonances affect the diffracted light. Beyond that, the diffraction Fourier optics is capable to reveal very weak surface plasmon effects, which would be unnoticed in the conventional approach.



FIGURE 2.18: Diffractive Fourier optics schematics: (a) The incidence light impinges the center of the back aperture of an objective lens. In the case of a continuous flat layer, the light specularly reflected. (b) The continuous layer is replaced by a diffraction granting, from which the decomposition of the diffracted modes can be identified individually in the Fourier plane.

We note that by decreasing the beam spot size, the angles of incidence of the light impinging the sample is narrowed down to a limited range of values. Therefore, for the case of a continuous metallic layer illuminated by a reduced ensemble of angles, just the pure reflection can be detected, as shown schematically in figure 2.18 (a). Yet, in the case of a periodically corrugated structure, the light intensity will be decomposed into diffracted modes, that will be emitted at specific angles, which depend on the periodicity of the corrugation. Hence, all the light upcoming from the diffracted modes is collected, and projected into the respective emission angles at the Fourier plane, as displayed schematically in figure 2.18 (b).

The diffracted Fourier optics proved to be also a suitable method for the detection of weak modifications in the light intensity. This approach has been used to characterize magnetoplasmonic effects in the reflected and diffracted light, presented later in chapter 4.

### 2.2.5 Magnetic and ferroelectric loops

Magneto-optic hysteresis loops were measured in multifunctional (magnetic or ferroelectric) photonic crystals. A conventional hysteresis loop is shown in figure 2.19 (a). We will see in chapter 6 that for specific studies it is convenient to measure the initial electric polarization curves. This can be achieved through ac depolarization processes. This approach consists in setting an ac electric field with an amplitude that is decreased gradually to zero. This method provides a versatile way of demagnetization or electric depolarization, although real-time measurements during the depolarization process are almost impossible due to the frequency of the ac fields (from the order of 0.001 Hz) [72].

As an alternative, a quasi-static ac demagnetization/depolarization has been also used, which allows in-situ measurements during the demagnetization/depolarization. The method is presented schematically in figure 2.19 (b), for the case of magnetic hysteresis loops. The red dots indicate specific values of the applied external field, whereas the red dashed lines indicate the path followed by the changes in the field polarity.



FIGURE 2.19: In (a) a conventional magnetic hysteresis loop is shown in blue, in with the magnetic field cycled around the loop. Panel (b) depicts a measurement using a quasistatic ac demagnetization, where the magnetic field polarity is reversed between consecutive data points, while the magnitude is decreased gradually. The red dots and dashed lines are a guide to the eyes, and display the magnetic field path over the demagnetization cycle. Finally at (c), the ac demagnetization states are shown by the black dots, representing the magnetic state at a given magnetic field. A peculiarity can be observed in the red shadowed dots, where irreversible magnetic states are found within the hysteresis loop, being part of minor loops indicated by the purple lines.

Initially (point 1<sup>*e*</sup>) a negative saturating field is applied, and the corresponding opto-electric response is recorded. Subsequently, the field is cycled around the loop, by reversing its polarity between consecutive measurements. The measurement is performed typically over many steps, until the whole loop is measured.

The aforementioned demagnetization/depolarization protocol allows to measure signals along minor hysteresis loops, as shown schematically in figure 2.19 (c) by black dots.

Due to the magnetic shape anisotropy induced by the long axis of the 1D photonic crystals, a demagnetized state could not be properly induced. Yet, in the case of the ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals, we will see in chapter 6 that the way the material is electrically depolarized plays a key role in the optical properties.

### 2.2.6 Ellipsometry

Ellipsometry spectroscopy enables to extract the permittivity of materials. In these experiments, a beam of linearly polarized light is projected on the sample with an angle of incidence  $\theta$ . The reflected beam passes through an analyzer and is collected by a detector, as shown in the schematics 2.21. The experiments measure the complex reflectance ratio that corresponds to:

$$\varrho = \frac{r_p}{r_s} = \tan(\Psi)e^{i\delta}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where,  $r_s$  and  $r_p$  are the light amplitude after reflection for s- and p- polarized light,  $tan(\Psi)$  is the amplitude ratio upon reflection and  $\delta$  is the phase shift.



FIGURE 2.20: Schematics of an ellipsometry spectroscopy setup, in which a polarized light beam is projected on the sample surface, and its reflection reaches the detector after going though an analyzer.

To extract the optical constants, a model is required. As an illustrative example, we show in figure 2.21 the data corresponding to three different

samples, namely, pure Au and Co thin films, each with thickness 200 nm, and a magnetoplasmonic multilayer. The ellipsometry has been performed over three different composition, a pure Au and Co thin films with thicknesses of 200 nm, and a magnetoplasmonic multilayer composed by Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm). All the aforementioned thin films were treated as a continuous layer of infinite thickness. Besides that, optical constants for countless compounds can be obtained from Palik [73]. The resulting model, provides the optical constant for Au, Co and the Au-Co multilayer shown in figure 2.21 (a), (b) and (c), where the real and imaginary refractive index components i.e. n and  $k_i$ , are displayed in red and blue respectively.



FIGURE 2.21: Spectral response from the complex refractive index, panels (a), (b) and (c) present the dielectric functions of a pure Au, Co and the plasmonic multilayer Au/Co.

### 2.2.7 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

The scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used for the development and imaging of the photonic crystals, being used in two different ways: electronbeam lithography (EBL) and a conventional imaging technique SEM. The principle of operation can be observed in figure 2.22, which shows schematically how an electron gun injects those electrons in the system, accelerated by an external electric potential, being projected into the sample direction. A set of condenser lenses is used to collimate the beam, reducing aberrations and astigmatism. The electron-beam diameter is controlled by a tunable aperture. The aperture size plays an important role in the EBL, in which only extremely collimated electrons are desired to arrive at the sample surface, since small deviations in the electron-beam trajectory increase the exposition area.

After the impinging electrons interact with the sample, the response is collected by two distinct detectors: a secondary electrons detector, and back-scattered electrons. Secondary electrons are generated by the collisions between impinging electrons and the material under study. These electrons are in general used for high resolution imaging. On the other hand, backscattered electrons, are those electrons reflected from the sample by elastic scattering. As expected from elastic scattering, the total momentum is preserved, what makes the back-scattered electrons technique sensitive to the chemical composition of materials and, thus, can be used for the recognition of different elements in the sample.



FIGURE 2.22: Schematics of a scanning electron microscopy, in which electrons generated by an electron gun are accelerated against the sample. A set of condenser lenses and an iris with tunable aperture are used collimate and reduce the beam aberrations. Afterwards the beam interacts with the sample, which has its response detected by two detectors: a secondary electrons detector and a back-scattering detector.

### Chapter 3

# Magnetoplasmonic crystals based

## on commercial digital disks

### 3.1 Abstract

Here we investigate the transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect (TMOKE) on large scale magnetoplasmonics crystals grown on top of conventional commercial optical disks. A full angle-resolved Fourier analysis reveals a complex band structure arising from the excitation of surface plasmons polaritons (SPPs) within a periodic lattice. The corresponding analysis over a broad range of wavelengths and angles of incidence reveals that the magneto-optic TMOKE response is enhanced substantially in the vicinity of the SPP resonances, providing a clear evidence of the interaction between the impinging light with the propagating surface plasmons, that results in a surprisingly large magneto-optical response.

Our results are in agreement with previous literature, in which plasmons have been shown to increase the magneto-optic responses in numerous previous works. However, the originality of the work presented here is that, under suitable conditions, an unexpected large TMOKE response is found at quasi-normal incidence, where, by symmetry, the intrinsic signal should be vanishingly small. The key towards this unexpected outcome is to engineer the geometry and permittivity of magnetoplasmonic crystals, so that first-order plasmon dispersion lines run up towards quasi-normal angles of incidence. Incidentally, our results show the large potential of a standard commercial disk as platforms for enhanced magneto-optics devices.

### 3.1.1 Chapter highlights

- Use of a full angle-resolved Fourier reflectance spectroscopy reveals a band structure arising from the interplay between conventional light and surface plasmon polaritons, which are induced by coupling to magnetoplasmonic gratings.
- Observation of unexpectedly large transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect at quasi-normal incidence, where, by geometry the TMOKE amplitude tends to zero.
- The possibility of mass production of magnetoplasmonics crystals on top of standard commercial disks.

### 3.2 Introduction

Surface plasmons polaritons (SPPs) are collective oscillations of electric charges at metal/dielectric interfaces that are coupled to electromagnetic waves, thus generating confined electromagnetic fields into sub-wavelengths volumes that increase dramatically the density of electromagnetic energy. This effect drives a large magnification of light-matter interactions, enabling, e.g., the detection of single molecules through surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy SERS [74, 75]. Localized surface plasmon resonances (LSPR), have been also used to enhance the imaging resolution, in which sub-micron objects can be seen [76]. Due to the extreme sensitive to changes in the permittivity, SPPs are nowadays vastly used in applications for probing and sensing [77, 78].

Unsurprisingly, many nanophotonic applications aim at the exploitation of the properties of surface plasmons. Here we put our focus in the particular case of magneto-optical applications, illustrated by the case of Faraday isolators. Such devices play nowadays a fundamental role in optical communications, where they isolate optical signals coming from back reflections that could have a detrimental effect on the signal quality. This property is used in Faraday isolators based on large-scale devices based on YIG [15, 16, 17, 79, 80]. However, for implementation of the same principles in integrated photonic circuitry, Faraday isolators should be downsized to much smaller scales, using thin film technology instead of bulk crystals. The dramatic device downscaling requires the magneto-optic signal -which is proportional to the optical path in the material- to be largely increased. Here is where surface plasmon resonances (SPR) in magnetoplasmonic systems may pave the way to increased magneto-optic activity required for applications in integrated nanophotonic devices.

Following these lines, it has been shown that metal/dielectric systems incorporating ferromagnetic thin layers support plasmonic resonances, leading to large increases of the magneto-optic Kerr [20, 81, 82], Faraday [16, 83, 84, 85] and transverse effects [86, 87, 88]. Therefore, the combination of plasmonic nanostructures with magneto-optic materials paves the way to the development of ultracompact nonreciprocal photonic devices.

These developments have spurred an interest to design and fabricate devices based on plasmonic nanostructures. This, in turn, has urged the need of inexpensive, reproducible and largely-scalable methods for the development of magnetoplasmonics nanodevices. An interesting platform consists of off-the-shelf commercial digital disks, where the surface is covered by a periodic patterned structure. The patterns on the surface of these disks act naturally as sub-wavelength optical gratings, providing the necessary phase-match conditions to couple the light into plasmons [47]. During the past years, digital disk media, such as CD, DVD or Blu-ray have been used as platforms for plasmonics systems, being used for biosensing or photocatalytic applications [89]. Interestingly, a large increase of the transverse magneto-optic Kerr effect (TMOKE) can be observed in magnetoplasmonics crystals grown on commercial digital disks [90]. However, so far the possibility of controlling and tuning the magneto-optic enhancement on commercial digitals disks has not been fully addressed. Here, we used an angularresolved reflectance spectroscopy, aiming to explore the effects of propagating surface plasmons into the enhanced transverse magneto-optic Kerr effect.

### 3.3 Experiment description

### 3.3.1 Sample preparation

To explore the transverse magnetooptical Kerr effect (TMOKE) response of magnetoplasmonic crystals grown on top of commercial disk gratings, we prepared the samples following the protocol described in section 2.1.4. Figure 3.1 (a) shows a schematics of the cross section of the final magnetoplasmonic system, while figure 3.1 (b) displays a SEM image taken from a coated DVD disk. The magnetoplasmonic multilayers were composed of Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm), where Cr was selected as adhesion layer. The multilayer was deposited using electron beam evaporation with growth rates smaller than 0.1 nm per second. Such slow deposition rates are required to avoid the formation of crystallites, ensuring low roughness in the metallic layers.

The multilayer composition was previously optimized through FDTD simulations software, where the magneto-



FIGURE 3.1: In (a) the sketch of a commercial optical disk grating, in which the grating geometry is described by the parameters  $\Delta$ , *w*, *b* and *d*, being the periodicity, width, base and depth of the grating. The panel (b) shows a SEM image from a coated DVD-disk.

optical response was maximized by the aforementioned multilayer. Due to the presence of Co a trade-off between magneto-optical activity and the SPPs resonances was established, since the higher losses in the magnetic layer are harmful for the SPPs resonance conditions.

To characterize the magnetic behavior of the magnetoplasmonics crystals, magnetic hysteresis loops have been measured by a superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID). The magnetic characterization revealed a shape-induced anisotropy along the grating long axis, i.e. lying parallel to the grating metallic wires. A detailed analysis of the magnetic response will be presented at the end of the chapter in figure (3.12).

### 3.3.2 Optical measurements

Using the monochromatic Fourier microscopy defined previously in section 2.2.3 provides access to a full set of angular and spectral information, allowing the reconstruction of magnetoplasmonic crystal band structure. The collimating nature of the objective lenses allows the projection of the p- and s-light polarization simultaneously, as shown in the schematic representation of the experimental setup (2.11). Note that in this Thesis we use the terms p- and s-polarization for transverse-magnetic (TM) and transverse-electric (TE) polarization states of light.



FIGURE 3.2: Schematics of the light cone after focusing through the objective lens. (a) By cutting the light cone of the incoming p-polarized light along different azimuthal angles, the optical responses for s- and p-polarized light can be obtained at different angles of incidence (purple and yellow shaded areas). Figures (b)-(c) show the projection on the sample surface of the initially p-polarized light. In (b), having  $\psi = 0$ , the polarization of the reflected light is contained in the plane of incidence, so that we map the optical response of p'-polarized reflected light. In (c)  $\psi = 90$ , and the projection of p-polarized light is perpendicular to the plane of incidence, enabling the measurement of the optical response for s'-polarization.

The experiments were carried out with the incoming light in a p-polarized state. The projection of the incoming beam through the objective lens onto the sample surface creates a cone of light, as displayed in green in figure 3.2 (a). The incident beam with initial p- light polarization is focused to single focal point. During this process, all the light is condensed, thus, the light polarization projection will be different for different incidence  $\theta$  and azimuthal angles  $\psi$ . For instance, figure 3.2 (b) depicts the changes in the p-polarization axis, as a function of the angle of incidence, for a fixed azimuthal angle  $\psi = 0^{\circ}$ . In this particular case, the polarization of the reflected light is always contained in the plane of incidence and the only changes are with respect to the angles with the normal to the surface. Therefore, for the azimuthal angle  $\psi = 0^{\circ}$ , the polarization state of the reflected light is denoted by p'-polarization.

A different case is presented, however, when the initial p-polarized light is projected along the azimuthal angle  $\psi = 90^{\circ}$ , as shown in figure 3.2 (c). Now, the plane of incidence cut across this azimuthal angle is perpendicular to the projected polarization of light. Thus, by selecting  $\psi = 90^{\circ}$  in the ensemble of collected data, we obtain information about the optical response that corresponds to s-polarized light, even though the initially incoming light is p-polarized.



Reciprocal space

FIGURE 3.3: Angularresolve Fourier map from a calibration sample (Thorlabs GH13-24V), obtained at the wavelength of ( $\lambda =$ 530 nm).

The projections of p'- and s'-polarization can be observed by the purple and yellow shadowed areas in figure 3.3 (a). Therefore, the optical responses for s- and p-polarized light can be extracted simultaneously in one single experiment. We performed two sets of experiments, depending on whether the samples were exposed to air or to immersion oil. To do so, the measurements were done using two different objective lenses: one an oil immersion lens 63x with 1.4 N.A., what allows the projection of high angles of incidence ranging from ( $\Delta \theta_{inc} \approx \pm 54^{\circ}$ ), while in air we used a 50x with 0.9 N.A., allowing an smaller range of angles of incidence ranging from ( $\Delta \theta_{inc} \approx \pm 43^{\circ}$ ).
As described above, angular-resolved reflectance spectroscopy scans map the optical responses in the Fourier plane for the reflected s'- and p'-polarization modes as indicated by figure 3.3. To obtain the spectroscopic dependence, the maps shown in this figure are measured at every wavelength. As described in section 2.2.3 and next sections, the collections for all angularresolved reflectance spectroscopy scans for all wavelengths allow the reconstruction of the photonic band structure.

#### 3.3.3 Magnetoplasmonic photonic band structure

The relationship between freely propagating light and SPPs in a metal/dielectric interface is given by:

$$k_{SPP} = k_x \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_d \varepsilon_m}{\varepsilon_d + \varepsilon_m}},$$
 (3.1)

where  $k_x = k_{in} \sin \theta$  is defined as the in-plane component of the light wave-vector  $(k_{in})$  impinging into a surface with angle  $\theta$ , as shown in figure 3.4 and,  $\varepsilon_d$  and  $\varepsilon_m$  are, respectively, the permittivity of dielectric and metallic environment.

As previously mentioned in section 2.2.3, the diffracted modes of a periodic crystal can be calculated by the Bragg equation:



FIGURE 3.4: In (a) the sketch of a commercial optical disk grating, in which the grating geometry is described by the parameters.

$$k_{in} = k_{dif} \pm m \frac{2\pi}{\Delta},\tag{3.2}$$

where,  $k_{in}$ ,  $k_{dif}$ , are the incident and diffracted wave-vector,  $\Delta$  the grating periodicity, and *m* the diffraction order mode, where *m* assumes integer values, i.e.  $0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...,$  However the Bragg equation can be rewritten, in terms of propagating SPPs within a periodic one-dimensional photonic crystal, thus, providing the diffraction of different plasmonic modes, which are given by the following relationship:



FIGURE 3.5: Light and plasmonic diffraction modes calculated from equations 3.2 and 3.3, for two different dielectric media: (a) microscopy oil with refractive index  $n_{oil} = 1.5$ , and (b) air with  $n_{air} = 1.0$ .

$$k_{SPP} = k_x \pm \eta_{SPP} \frac{2\pi}{\Delta},\tag{3.3}$$

where  $\eta_{SPP} = \pm 1, \pm 2, \pm 3, \dots$  corresponds to the SPP excitation order.

The angle of emission of the diffracted propagating SPP modes can be inferred allowing the calculation of the plasmonic resonances. Using the aforementioned equations 3.2 and 3.3, allows the calculation of the excepted light- and SPPs- diffraction modes for a periodic photonic crystal. The results are shown in figure 3.5 where the analytically calculated diffraction- and SPPs- band diagram are presented for a 1D periodic crystals  $\Delta = 740$  nm, corresponding to the DVD disk periodicity. The diffracted modes calculated through 3.2 are shown in green, while the forward- and backwards propagating SPPs modes obtained from 3.3 are shown in red and blue. Such dispersion relations are calculated for two different dielectric environments: one corresponding to the microscopy oil (a) and the other for air (b).

The complex band diagram shown in figure 3.5, reflects the spectral and

angular dependence of plasmonic modes. This phenomena was initially observed by Wood [46, 91], who detected absorptive anomalies in the reflected light upcoming of a grating, being named after him as Wood's anomalies. In this work we exploited Wood's anomalies to enhance the magneto-optic activity in magnetoplasmonic photonic crystals.

The effects of the magnetoplasmonic band structure on the transverse magneto optical Kerr effect (TMOKE) response were studied. For that purpose, the TMOKE amplitude is defined as the average intensity at the positive  $I(H^+)$  and negative  $I(H^-)$  saturated magnetic states, shown respectively by the red and blue shadowed area in figure 3.6. The TMOKE amplitude can be computed by:

$$\tau = \frac{I(H^+) - I(H^-)}{I(H^{avg})},$$
 (3.4)

where  $I(H^{avg})$  consists of average intensity of light obtained during alternated current cycles of the magnetic field.



FIGURE 3.6: A conventional hysteresis magnetic cycle is shown, from which the positive  $I(H^+)$  and negative  $I(H^-)$  average intensity are extracted for the field intervals demarcated by red and blue shadowed regions.

### 3.4 Results and Discussion



#### 3.4.1 Plasmonic enhancement

FIGURE 3.7: Panel (a) presents the angleresolved maps of  $\nabla_r$  (defined by equation 3.5) of a coated non-corrugated polycarbonate film, measured around normal incidence. While in (b) a corrugated photonic crystal with similar coating displays magneto-optic activity.

Figure 3.7 presents angle-resolved reflectance maps of the magnetoplasmonic multilayer of composition Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm), grown on top of a continuous layer of polycarbonate shown in 3.7 (a) and a CD grating with periodicity of  $\Delta$  = 1200 nm shown in (b).

Figure 3.7 shows, the difference of the intensity of the reflected p-polarized light measured at positive and negative saturation magnetic fields for all wavelengths and accessible angles of incidence:

$$\nabla r = I(H^{+}) - I(H^{-}), \qquad (3.5)$$

displaying the different between emitted photons under a magnetic field switch, in which no normalization process is applied. A simple inspection of figure 3.7 reveals immediately that  $\nabla r$  is virtually null for the unpatterned multilayer throughout the entire range of analyzed wavelengths and angles of incidence (panel (a)). In contrast, the map measured in the patterned magnetoplasmonic structure reveals substantial changes of the reflectance for particular spectral regions (panel (b)).

As shown in figure 3.5 SPP resonances are expected to exist for the patterned surfaces in the range of angles of incidence and wavelengths studied in the angular-resolved reflectance maps shown in figure 3.7. This suggests and obvious link between the observed enhanced magnetoreflectance and plasmons. This leaves the question open about whether localized or propagating plasmons are responsible for the increased magneto-optical signal. To decide on this issue, a proper experiment is to analyze the reflectance for different polarizations of light, as propagating SPPs can be excited only by p-polarized light.

To answer this question, we measured a Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm) multilayer grown on a DVD optical disk, where the grating has a periodicity of  $\Delta = 740$  nm. These measurements were done with the sample exposed to air, without immersion oil. Figure 3.8 shows the angular-resolved reflectance and TMOKE maps measured with p-polarized light (panels (a) and (c)) and s-polarized light ((b) an (d)). Figure 3.8 (a) reveals absorptive dispersion curves that can be attributed to the excitation of propagating SPPs. Indeed, the observed dependence on wavelength and angle of incidence matches well with the SPPs band diagram calculated with equation 3.3 shown by the dotted gray lines. Moving to figure 3.8 (b), we observe that the reflectance plot corresponding to s-polarization does not reveal any clear absorption line, hinting at the absence of any plasmon excitation. The enhanced absorption observed at shorter wavelengths may be attributed to the intrinsic optical response of Au, which is known to absorb light at those frequencies.

The TMOKE response matches well with the plasmon band diagram. In particular, a remarkable TMOKE response is observed along of the dispersion lines calculated for propagating SPPs, along which high TMOKE amplitudes in the the order of 0.5% are obtained. However, such high TMOKE amplitudes disappear whenever the light is switched to s-polarization, as shown by figure 3.8 (d). Figure 3.8 (e) shows a profile of the TMOKE signal extracted from panel (c), and corresponding to the wavelength of  $\lambda = 700$  nm, revealing a derivative-like lineshape near the plasmonic resonances, which are indicated by the blue and red dots. We will see in the next section that this lineshape originates from the displacement of forward and backward- propagating SPP resonances induced by magnetic fields. We conclude, therefore, that propagating SPP resonances are at the origin of the observed TMOKE in these magnetoplasmonic crystals.



FIGURE 3.8: Angular-resolved reflectance spectroscopy and TMOKE maps are shown for the magnetoplasmonic Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm) multilayers measured with p-polarized light (panels (a) and (c)) and s-polarized light ((b) and (d)). (e) Profile of the TMOKE signal measured at  $\lambda = 700$  nm acquired from dashed line shown in (c).

#### 3.4.2 Plasmon resonances under magnetic field.

In the previous subsection, SPPs were identified as the origin of the enhancement of TMOKE, hence a proper analysis is required for an understanding magneto-optic

effects SPPs of the of on the The first to note is that the TMOKE response as a function of the angle of incidence shows a sign reversal in the vicinity of the SPP resonances (figure 3.8 (e)). This is a well-known result in the literature, where the observed differential lineshape is caused by a shift in the SPPs frequency induced by the magnetization in the grating [18, 19, 51, 52].

A schematic representation of such phenomenon is shown in figure 3.9, where the shift in the plasmon resonance frequency is shown for a forward- and backwardpropagating SPPs respectively in (a),(c) and (b),(d). Whenever a magnetoplasmonic system is set to a magnetized state  $H^$ or  $H^+$  its resonance conditions will be shifted, changing the frequency distribution as shown in figure 3.9 (a) for backward propagation, where the initial  $\omega$  corresponding to a non-magnetic or demagnetized state is then shift towards  $\omega^+$  or  $\omega^-$ . A similar effect happens for forward prop-



properties.

FIGURE 3.9: A schematic representation of the the shift in the plasmon resonance frequency at positive and negative saturation  $\omega^+$  and  $\omega^-$  is shown in the panels (a) and (b) for forward and backwards propagating SPPs. In (c) and (d) the differential plots originated by the subtraction of  $\omega^+$  and  $\omega^-$  are presented.

agation of plasmons (figure 3.9 panel (b)). Figure 3.9 (c) and (d) represent the angular shifts that occur for opposite magnetization states for backward and forward propagation of plasmons, respectively. The subtraction of the  $\omega^+$  and  $\omega^-$  curves is proportional to the TMOKE signal, which gives rise to the characteristic derivate-like lineshape observed near the frequencies of plasmon resonances. Hence, performing a differential plot between the

plasmon resonances as represented in figure 3.9 (c) and (d) shows a non-reciprocal propagation between forward and backwards propagating SPPs.

A non-reciprocal behavior under the influence of magnetism can be described qualitatively in terms of the Lorentz force acting on the collective motion of electrons, that can be written as:

$$\vec{F}_L = q(\vec{E} + v_{\vec{SPP}} \times \vec{B}), \qquad (3.6)$$

where q,  $\vec{E}$ ,  $\vec{v}_{SPP}$  and  $\vec{B}$  are respectively the electron charge, electric field, plasmon velocity and the magnetic field. In the absence of magnetism, we have:

$$\vec{F}_E = q\vec{E}.\tag{3.7}$$

While, the pure magnetic component of Lorentz force 3.6 can be reformulated as:

$$\vec{F}_M = q\mu_o \vec{v}_{SPP} \times \vec{M},\tag{3.8}$$

that describes the force exerted by a magnetic field  $\vec{H}$  on the propagating surface plasmons. The geometry of a 1D photonic crystal constrains the direction of magnetization and SPP propagation. If we consider that M and  $v_{SPP}$  are along  $\hat{y}$  and  $\hat{x}$ , the equation 3.8 can be rewritten as:

$$F_M \hat{z} = q \mu_o v_{SPP} \hat{x} \times \vec{M} \hat{y}. \tag{3.9}$$

Fixing a magnetization state, reduces the expression to:  $F_M \hat{z} = \pm q \mu_o v_{SPP} M \hat{z}$ . By defining  $\vec{F} = \vec{F_E} + F_M \hat{z}$  we obtain:

$$\vec{F}_L(M^+) = q\vec{E} \pm q\mu_o v_{SPP}M\hat{z}$$
 and (3.10)

$$\vec{F}_L(M^-) = q\vec{E} \mp q\mu_o v_{SPP} M\hat{z}, \qquad (3.11)$$

corresponding to the Lorentz Force for the positive and negative magnetization states  $\vec{F}_L(M^{\pm})$ . The derived expressions 3.10 and 3.11 provide a qualitative understanding of the nonreciprocal effects on surface plasmons

at a given magnetic state, originated from the magnetic component of the Lorentz force.

#### 3.4.3 Measurements in air and oil

We discuss the plasmonic response of a magnetoplasmonic system on a DVD grating. The magnetoplasmonic response was measured in two different dielectric environments, corresponding, respectively, to the sample immersed in oil or exposed to air. We start the analysis with magnetoplasmonic DVD grating exposed to microscopy oil immersion. In this case, the objective lens allowed to collect light for angles of incidence in the range of ( $\theta < 54^{\circ}$ ). Fourier angular-resolved spectroscopy maps are shown in figure 3.10. Panel (a) shows a monochromatic Fourier angular-resolved TMOKE response for the wavelength of  $\lambda = 800$  nm, where a set of plasmonic resonances modes can be identified with orders  $\eta = \pm 1, \pm 2$ . Panel (b) shows the reflectance map where the first-order diffracted plasmons can be identified in the absorption pattern, in good agreement with the corresponding calculated dispersion lines (obtained from equation 3.3).

Figure 3.10 (c), presents the Fourier angular-resolved TMOKE mapped as a function of wavelength and angle of incidence. The most remarkable result arises in the vicinity of the crossings between plasmon lines with diffraction orders  $\eta = \pm 1$  and  $\eta = \pm 2$ . These regions reveal a correlation between the SPPs propagating modes and the TMOKE response. Such an interplay between TMOKE and the plasmon modes result in large magnetooptic TMOKE signals up to about 0.4%. Such large values are comparable with the TMOKE enhancement found in experiments made in transmission instead of reflection [18, 50, 92]. Note that such values are larger than the intrinsic TMOKE response of unpatterned magnetic metals which, even at large angles of incidence (where the signal is expected to be the largest) typically are not larger than 0.03%. What is remarkable is that such TMOKE signals are measured at relative moderated values of the angle of incidence (e.g., TMOKE is 0.4% at  $\theta = 10^{\circ}$ ). This observation is relevant for technological applications, since obtaining large signals at low angles of incidence



FIGURE 3.10: Magnetoplasmonic crystal based on DVD exposed to immersion oil. (a) A TMOKE space map is shown for the wavelength of  $\lambda = 800$  nm, represented by the dashed line in panel (c). In panel (b) we present the reflectance map together with the plasmonic dispersion lines calculated using equation 3.3. Panel (c) presents a TMOKE angle-resolved map with forward- and backwards- plasmon propagating modes represented by the blue and red dotted lines.

may be of interest, especially in conditions of quasi-normal angles of incidence. This is typically the configuration that was used, e.g., for the readout of optic storage disks [93, 94]. In the next paragraphs we discuss how commercial digital disks can be used to achieve large signals at virtually zero-angle of incidence. The approach that we used was to change the dielectric environment by replacing microscopy oil (n = 1.5) with air (n = 1.0).

We then embarked on the investigation of TMOKE response with the photonic crystal exposed to air, with attention to quasi-normal incidence. And here it is precisely where lays our most interesting outcome, since we demonstrate that unexpectedly large values of TMOKE can be measured at quasi-normal incidence ( $\theta = \pm 1.3^{\circ}$ ), as identified in figure 3.11. By changing the environmental permittivity, the dispersion lines of the different plasmonic orders are changed. This is illustrated in figure 3.11 (a), which shows

a monochromatic Fourier angular-resolved TMOKE response, for the wavelength of  $\lambda = 800$  nm, from which the dashed arrows represent the projection of light p-polarization. Panel (a) reveals the clear influence of plasmonics modes into the magnetic optical response. In 3.10 (b) the reflectance plot is shown, revealing strong absorption near to the calculated plasmonic modes shown by the gray dotted lines.

The analysis of the TMOKE response mapped for wavelengths and angles of incidence (figure 3.11 (c)), shows that the TMOKE amplitude for the lowest angles of incidence ( $|\theta| < 5$ ), is unexpectedly large. The enhancement occurs for values of the wavelength and angles of incidence near the region where plasmon lines of orders  $\eta = \pm 1$  cross each other. More specifically, we extracted the enhanced signals generated by the plasmonic resonances at almost normal incidence from the data shown figure 3.11 (c) (vertical dotted lines), and shown by a cross-sectional plot in figure 3.11 (d). In this figure we see that the spectral dependence of TMOKE amplitudes for angles of incidence ( $\theta = \pm 1.3^{\circ}$ ) result in a remarkable amplification of the magneto-optic activity, that peaks 0.5%, near the cross of the plasmonic bands  $\eta = \pm 1$ . This is a remarkable outcome, as it shows that large TMOKE responses can be obtained in magnetoplasmonic crystals at quasi-normal incidence which, as aforementioned, may be of interest for some applications. Note that the essential ingredient to obtain these remarkable responses is the fact that first order plasmon lines run up to vanishingly small angles of incidence at some wavelengths (as shown figure 3.11). This is an important guideline, as first-order plasmon orders are expected to be more effective to enhance the optical signals than lower orders.

We finish this section by discussing briefly the TMOKE maps for large angles of incidence ( $-20 < \theta$  and  $\theta > 20$ ). We see that a noticeable TMOKE activity is only observed at short wavelengths. Near this region the plasmonic modes corresponding  $\eta = \pm 2$  are found, but whether the enhanced signal is due to second-order plasmons or it is primarily the effect of the intrinsic signal at large angles of incidence is not obvious.

As a conclusion, we may say that our results provide general rules for magneto-optic enhancement and, in particular, show the potential of standard commercial disks as platforms for enhanced magneto-optic devices.



FIGURE 3.11: Magnetoplasmonic crystal based on DVD exposed to air. (a) Monochromatic TMOKE Fourier map shown for  $\lambda = 800$  nm (corresponding to the dashed line in panel (c). (b) Reflectance map with the corresponding plasmonic band diagram superposed to it in gray dotted lines. (c) TMOKE map showing the effects on the magneto-optic signal of forward- and backward- propagating plasmon modes of different orders represented by blue and red dotted lines, respectively. (d) Profiles of the TMOKE amplitude at quasi-normal incidence.

#### 3.4.4 TMOKE hysteretic loops

In the previous sections we have discussed the effects of SPPs on TMOKE by drawing the attention to the magnetic saturated states. Here we discuss the analysis of TMOKE signals for values of the magnetization all over the whole hysteresis cycle. To analyze the hysteretic dependence, we narrowed down the study to specific values of wavelength and angles of incidence (3.12 (a)) measured in the magnetoplasmonic crystal exposed to immersion oil. By tracking down the values of TMOKE in this narrow region we can reconstruct the hysteresis loops for different angles of incidence, as shown in figures 3.12 (b)-(d).



FIGURE 3.12: The data shown in this figure was obtained from experiments done in a magnetoplasmonic crystal exposed to immersion oil. (a) Angle-resolved TMOKE map. The squared areas were chosen for the analysis of the magnetic field dependence of TMOKE. (b-d) Hysteresis loops acquired by SQUID (dashed lines) and the TMOKE (squares in panel (a), corresponding to different angles of incidence).

Hysteresis loops are shown in figure 3.12 (b)-(d) for different angles of incidence. Panels (b) and (d) show TMOKE loops compared with SQUID measurements presented as black-dashed lines. The reversal in sign of the hysteresis loop is evident and its origin arises from the sign of the plasmonic order  $\eta = \pm 2$ . Panel (c) displays the loop measured at zero angle of incidence. Note that for the wavelengths analyzed in figure 3.12 -corresponding to measurements in the sample exposed to immersion oil- there is no plasmon resonances at zero angle of incidence, thus explaining the absence of signal.

# 3.5 Conclusions

The investigation of the transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect has been presented for metallic multilayers deposited on top of the grating structure of commercial disks. Wood's anomalies, related to the excitation of surface plasmon polaritons, are distinguishable in angle-spectral-resolve reflectance maps. We demonstrated that the TMOKE signal is enhanced near the dispersion relations predicted for propagating plasmons of different orders. An outstanding result arises for samples exposed to air instead of oil, where plasmons drive a remarkable enhancement of TMOKE at quasi-normal incidence. These results demonstrate the potential of a proper engineering of magnetoplasmonic crystals on commercial digital disks has a large potential for nanodevices exploiting TMOKE responses.

# Chapter 4

# Non-Reciprocal Diffraction in Magnetoplasmonic Gratings

# 4.1 Abstract

Phase-matching conditions used to bridge the wave vector mismatch between light and surface plasmon polaritons (SPPs) have been exploited recently to enable nonreciprocal optical propagation and enhanced magnetooptic responses in magnetoplasmonic systems. Here we show that using diffraction in conjunction with plasmon excitations leads to a photonic system with a more versatile and flexible response. As a testbed we analyzed diffracted magneto-optical effects in magnetoplasmonic gratings, where broken time-reversal symmetry induces frequency shifts in the energy and angular spectra of plasmon resonances that result in exceptionally large responses in the diffracted magneto-optical effect. The concepts we present here can be exploited for the development of non-reciprocal optical devices that exploit diffraction to achieve tailored electromagnetic responses.

#### 4.1.1 Chapter highlights

- Use of angle-resolved Fourier reflectance spectroscopy to analyze diffractive modes of light and plasmons.
- Report on the interplay between magnetoplasmonic modes and diffraction.

- The amplification of the transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect at plasmonic resonances on the diffracted light.
- The results described here open new perspectives on diffraction-based magneto-optical isolators.

# 4.2 Introduction

Surface plasmon resonances confine light into subwavelength dimensions which results in a corresponding increase in electric field intensities near plasmonic nanostructures [95]. This enables the use of surface plasmon resonances to enhance light matter interactions [96] and has prompted research into e.g. plasmon-assisted sensing [97, 98, 99, 100], strong coupling [101, 102, 103] and lasing [104, 105, 106]. Beyond these properties, novel device concepts offer expanded functionalities by incorporating materials responsive to external stimuli. Particularly, magnetism is considered to have potential technological impact for, e.g., labelfree detection using magnetoplasmonic sensors [77, 107] or ultracompact nonreciprocal nanophotonic devices [108]. These new developments benefit from enhanced light-matter interaction, realized by exciting surface plasmon resonances in or in immediate vicinity of magnetic materials [109]. A wide range of nanophotonic devices that combine plasmonics with magneto-optics have been demonstrated, ranging from very simple, such as nanoparticles made of ferromagnetic metals [82, 110, 111], to more complicated, e.g. structures that incorporate noble metal nanoparticles with magneto-optically active materials in dimers or far-field coupled arrays [20, 21].

Metallic diffraction gratings are one of the most common configurations to study surface plasmon polaritons (SPPs). They are also known as grating couplers due to their ability to couple light propagating in free space into SPPs and vice versa [44, 45, 46]. Nonreciprocal plasmon propagation and enhanced magneto-optical effects have been demonstrated in magnetoplasmonic gratings, fabricated of magnetic metals [18] or noble metals in contact with magneto-optical garnet materials [19, 35, 36]. Using such gratings, control over SPP excitation conditions by an external transverse magnetic fields

was demonstrated [18, 19]. Yet, all these previous studies focused on the excitation of plasmons and its consequences on the optical properties, but did not pay attention to a central property of a periodic grating: diffraction. Diffraction in magneto-optically active systems is an important phenomenon that is used, e.g., in diffracted magneto-optical effect (DMOKE) to probe magnetization reversal dynamics of submicron-sized magnetic patterns [38, 39, 40, 41, 42].

All things considered, we can say that up till now the mutual interplay of three important phenomena, i.e., plasmonics, magneto-optics and diffraction, has not been investigated in a single system. We show here that combining all the aforementioned properties provides new paths for flexible design of functional nanophotonic systems. To corroborate this point, we study the interplay of plasmon resonances and magneto-optics and their influence on diffraction properties of a simple diffraction grating. Despite its simplicity, it supports surface plasmon polaritons propagating both into backward and forward directions, enabling us to easily access how the nonreciprocal magnetic modulation of SPPs influences the diffracted beams.

# 4.3 Experiment description



#### 4.3.1 Sample preparation

FIGURE 4.1: Diffraction grating sketch: In (a) the grating parameters are shown where  $\Delta$ , w, b and d are the periodicity, width, base and depth of the grating. The panel (b) shows a SEM image of the deposit magneto-plasmonic layer.

A multilayer being composed of Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm), is deposited over a SrTiO<sub>3</sub> substrate by electron beam evaporation. Afterwards the sample is coated by an electron-sensitive polymer, and subsequently electron-beam lithography is performed to pattern one-dimensional photonic crystals. The latter are structured through ion milling, where the desired grating depth d can be controlled (a more detailed sample preparation protocol can be found in section 2.1.4). The resulting pattern can be observed in figure 4.1 (a), from which the grating parameters can be identified. Such parameters can be easily tuned through electron beam lithogra-

phy, which allows a precise control of the periodicity  $\Delta$ , width *w* and base *b*. This, in combination with the ion-milling technique, allowed a full control of the grating geometry. During the first part of this chapter only one grating is discussed, whose parameters are listed below. A SEM microscopy image from such structure is shown at 4.1 (b).

- Periodicity  $\Delta = 1000 \text{ nm}$
- Width w = 800 nm
- Base b = 200 nm
- Depth d = 120 nm

These grating parameters were selected aiming to maximize magnetooptical effects and to increase the fraction of diffracted light. It is known that the details of the grating morphology, such as the width and base of the gratings, have a noticeable influence on the propagation of plasmons and the efficiency of diffracted light (discussed in section 5.2). In order to deal with this complexity and to have guidelines for the design of the photonic crystals, we resorted to FDTD simulations using Lumerical (not shown) [112].

#### 4.3.2 Diffraction measurements

We have exploited angle-resolved spectroscopy (described in chapter 2.2.4) to image the diffracting magnetoplasmonic crystals both in real and reciprocal space. A critical point is that we could decrease the spot size of the incoming light at the back aperture of the objective lens, as shown in figure 4.2 (a). Using this capability, only a narrow range of angles of incidence is projected to the sample. This procedure was fundamental to identify different diffraction modes of different orders  $m = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...,$  in which light is radiated at different angles of emission.



FIGURE 4.2: Depiction of the rear aperture of an objective lenses. Panel (a) presents an incident light beam that is project to the sample. Panel (b) depicts the light diffracted from the one-dimensional photonic crystal, with diffracted orders corresponding to  $m = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2$ .

It is important to stress that in the experiments discussed in this chapter, the diffraction patterns were analyzed for incoming light at quasi-normal incidence, which defined a light cone with angles between about  $-5^{\circ}$  to  $5^{\circ}$ ,

resulting in a beam spot of around 500  $\mu$ m of radius over the backside of the objective lens. As a consequence of its interaction with the grating, the diffracted modes were radiated at different angles of emission. From the detected intensity at the CCD camera, we could select the light that was emitted at specific angles, so that each diffracted mode ( $m = \pm 1, \pm 2$ ) could be analyzed individually, including the specular reflection characterized by the diffraction mode m = 0, as seen in figure 4.2 (b). As an illustration, we show in figure 4.3, an experimental snapshot taken in the aforementioned grating at the wavelength  $\lambda = 785$  nm, where diffracted modes of different orders could be analyzed individually.



FIGURE 4.3: A diffraction image taken from a photonic crystal with periodicity  $\Delta = 1000$  nm at the wavelength of  $\lambda = 785$  nm.

The signatures of SPP excitation can be observed in angular-resolved reflectance scans shown in figure 4.4 (a), which display the reflectance for the specular reflection and diffracted modes. For clarity, the plasmonic band modes, calculated using equation 3.3 (defined in chapter 3), are indicated in this figure by the blue and red dotted lines along with the diffracted modes shown in green. For convenience, in figure 4.4 the specular reflection mode m = 0 was multiplied by 0.2, thus scaling it to an amplitude comparable to the diffracted modes  $m = \pm 1$ . The specular mode reveals a clear trace of absorption in the wavelength range of  $\lambda = 730$  to 850 nm, therefore matching with the expected plasmonic band diagram. In the same specular region the diffraction orders  $m = \pm 1$  display a more evident plasmonic absorption, that is located at the crossing of the forward- and backward-propagating SPP modes  $\eta = +1, -3$  and  $\eta = -1, +3$ .

A precise observation of SPP resonances can be seen in figure 4.4 (b), that displays cross-sectional plots extracted from 4.4 (a), for the wavelengths



FIGURE 4.4: Panel (a) shows an angular resolved reflectance map where the diffracted light intensity is displayed. The calculated band diagram for propagating surface plasmons indicated by the blue and red dotted lines are shown in superposition to the diffracted data. (b) Cross-sectional plots extracted from the horizontal dashed lines in panel (a), which correspond to the wavelengths of  $\lambda = 745$ , 785 and 825 nm. In addition, the location and direction of the propagation of surface plasmons is indicated by blue and red arrows.

marked by the white dashed lines. Hence figure 4.4 (b) shows the angular resolved normalized diffracted intensity for three different wavelengths  $\lambda = 745$ , 785 and 825 nm, corresponding to the curves shown in blue, red

and green respectively. In addition 4.4 (b) displays the accurate location of the forward- and backward- propagating SPP, being represented by red and blue arrows. The absorption trend can be observed at the crossing with the plasmonic modes, where the most absorptive region can be found at the wavelength of  $\lambda = 785$  nm, which is located at the crossing of two plasmonic modes.

The experimental data displayed in figure 4.4 offers a unique approach to observe specular reflection and diffraction modes simultaneously, providing a precise way to identify plasmonic resonances and enabling the quantification of their interplay with the reflected and diffracted light. In the remaining of the chapter we discuss how magnetism can play a role in these relationships.

#### 4.3.3 Diffracted Magneto-Optical Measurements



FIGURE 4.5: In (a) a light beam having wavevector  $k_0$  impinges over a magnetoplasmonic multilayer system, which supports backward- and forward- propagating SPP modes shown in blue and red waves. The TMOKE response arising from the diffracted beams  $m = \pm 1$  shown as circular diffracted beams reveals a unusual magneto-optic behavior that arises from the interaction of plasmons with the magnetized medium. The TMOKE amplitudes obtained on the circular spots at (a) are translated as changes in the magneto-optic sign, resulting in a sign reversal of the

hysteresis loops, as shown by (b).

Figure 4.5 (a), depicts schematically the interplay between diffraction and plasmons in a magnetoplasmonic crystal. In the figure, backwardand forward- propagating SPPs are shown in blue and red respectively. After the interaction with the photonic crystal, the outgoing light is decomposed into the specular and four observable diffraction modes with orders  $= 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \text{ from}$ т

which its corresponding TMOKE response is calculated through the expression:  $\tau = \frac{I(H^+) - I(H^-)}{I(H^{avg})}$  (defined previously in equation 3.4). The magnetooptic activity on the diffracted order can be observed in the circular plots in figure 4.5 (a), corresponding to the spacial distribution of TMOKE effects into a diffracted beam. Such response is obtained through the application of the previously mentioned expression for  $\tau$  into the data obtained by Fourier maps measured at different magnetic fields. The corresponding magnetooptic sign and amplitude shown in figure 4.5 (a), are associated with the orientation and amplitude of the hysteresis loops shown in figure 4.5 (b). Besides that, an extraordinary response arising from the diffracted modes  $m = \pm 1$  is observed in the circular plots, presenting a sequence of changes in the TMOKE sign and amplitude.

The results schematized in figure 4.5 can be understood in terms of light interacting with the photonic crystal in two processes, depicted in 4.6. In the first place, the incident light with wavevector  $k_0$  can be diffracted and emitted at different angles for different orders of diffraction (figure 4.6 (a)). On the other hand, light can excite SPPs of opposite directions (figure 4.6 (b)), which can be also diffracted by the crystal, with different orders emitted at different angles (figure 4.6 (c)). We will see that the diffracted plasmonic modes are influenced strongly by the magnetization, in comparison with the diffracted light. In particular, the SPP wave-vector  $k_{SPP}$  is modified by the magnetization according to the following expression [18, 51, 52, 92]:

$$k_{SPP}(M) = \pm k_{SPP} \left( 1 \mp \frac{M \varepsilon_{xy}}{\beta} \right), \qquad (4.1)$$

where  $\beta = \sqrt{\varepsilon_m \varepsilon_d} (1 - \varepsilon_m^2 / \varepsilon_d^2)$ ,  $\varepsilon_{xy}$  is the off-diagonal component of the dielectric function tensor and  $\varepsilon_m$ ,  $\varepsilon_d$  are the dielectric and metallic layer dielectric functions, and M is the magnetization. Thus, whenever a SPP decays back into a photon, its original wave is changed, being shift from  $k_0$  to  $k_{\pm}$  depending on the external magnetic field and SPP propagation direction. As a result, the angle of emission of photons generated by the diffracting plasmons depends on the direction of the plasmon propagation, giving way to an angular displacement of the two possible SPP propagation states, as shown in 4.6 (c) (discussed previously at section 3.4.2).



FIGURE 4.6: (a) The incident light is diffracted by a magnetoplasmonic photonic crystal. (b) Part of the incident light can be converted into forward- and backward- propagating surface plasmons, which are strongly interacting with the magnetized layer. (c) Under a magnetized sample, the angle of emission of plasmons scattered back to light are different for opposite directions of propagation.

The response for the diffracted and specular reflections is shown in figure 4.7 (a), where the TMOKE amplitude is plotted over a wide range of angles of incidence and wavelengths. In this figure, the forward and backward propagations of SPP modes are represented by the blue and red colored dotted lines. The observation of this experimental data reveals immediately that the magneto-optic response appears near a plasmonic mode, being vanishingly small elsewhere, except for the spectral regions of short wavelength in the diffracted modes.

To properly depict the exposed information let us take a look on the diffracted orders individually, starting with the specular reflection, i.e. m = 0. At almost normal incidence the TMOKE response peaks to 1% near  $\lambda = 785$  nm that corresponds to the crossing of two plasmonic propagating modes  $\eta = \pm 2$ . Moving towards the diffracted modes  $m = \pm 1$ , a nonreciprocal behavior can be observed directly from the TMOKE response. As expected, we observe that the sign of the TMOKE response is reversed for diffracted modes of opposite signs  $m = \pm 1$ , in agreement with the expected sign of the ordinary TMOKE, which is given by  $\vec{\sigma} = \vec{k}_{dif} \times \vec{M}$ , where  $k_{dif}$  is the wavevector of the diffracted light. In addition, the direction of propagation of SPPs determines the sign of TMOKE sign which is given by  $\vec{\sigma} = \vec{k}_{SPP} \times \vec{M}$ , where  $k_{SPP}$  is the wave-vector of the surface plasmons.



FIGURE 4.7: Panel (a) presents an angle-resolved spectrometry plot of TMOKE, where specular and diffraction modes can be also observed. In the plot, plasmon bands of different orders -calculated using equation 3.3 -are also indicated. (b) TMOKE cross-sectional plots were extracted from the horizontal dashed lines shown in panel (a), corresponding to the wavelengths of  $\lambda = 745$ , 785 and 825 nm. For clarity, the angular TMOKE corresponding to  $\lambda = 745$  and 825 nm was vertically displaced.

The most remarkable observation is the increase of the TMOKE amplitude at the diffracted modes  $m = \pm 1$ , where the maximum TMOKE amplitude is found at  $\lambda = 785$  nm peaking up to 3%. These TMOKE values are two orders of magnitude higher than the ones obtained from conventional magnetic materials, being in the order of 0.03% [113]. Our samples present TMOKE values comparable to the highest values obtained in the literature in structures containing magnetic complex oxides [19, 35]. We stress that these previous results were reported for relatively thick materials, with thickness in the order of the micron. In contrast, our large TMOKE values are obtained by reflecting light on nanometric thin films. Beyond that, the TMOKE reported here is obtained from simple (polycrystalline Au and Co deposited at room temperature). Both simplicity in materials and heterostructures with nanometric thickness make our approach appealing for their use in technological applications.

From figure 4.7 (a), cross-sectional plots have been extracted for wavelengths  $\lambda = 745$ , 785 and 825 nm marked by the black horizontal dashed lines, which are displayed in figure 4.7 (b). These cross-sections reveal evident magnetoplasmonic features, with the characteristic derivative-like lineshape that we have discussed previously (chapter 3). Figure 4.7 (b) also provide the accurate location of plasmon resonances, marked by the red and blue arrows. For instance, the most prominent derivative like curve is located around the wavelength  $\lambda = 785$  nm, at the crossing of two plasmon lines of order  $\eta = \pm 2$  resulting in a maximized TMOKE amplitude. Meanwhile, at the wavelengths  $\lambda = 745$  and 825 nm the plasmon resonances are split, which results in a smaller TMOKE amplitude.

To complete the analysis, we split the angular response into positive and negative angles of incidence around the direction along the normal to the surface  $(-5 < \theta < 0)$  and  $(0 > \theta > 5)$ , respectively. In the subsequent analysis, we consider the light specularly reflected or diffracted that comes exclusively from either positive or negative angles of incidence (see the dashed areas in 4.8). The diffracted beam is decomposed in two sections, one being generated by positive-, while the other by negative-angles of incidence, as indicated by a diagonal dashed line. Thus, the TMOKE amplitude can be calculated for photons arriving with positive and negative angles of incidence by the area inside the dashed box. This operation is repeated for all wavelengths, for the diffracted modes corresponding to  $m = 0, \pm 1$  as indicated by dashed lines in figure 4.7 (a). The result is shown in a spectral dependent TMOKE

plot shown in 4.9, which displays the average TMOKE amplitude as a function of wavelength for the different diffraction orders  $m = 0, \pm 1$ .



FIGURE 4.8: Schematics of the integration method. The diffracted light corresponding to negative and positive angles of incidence from a normal-incident beam is collected individually, for each wavelength, the average TMOKE amplitude is collected in the regions marked by the dashed squares.

Figure 4.9, which shows data collected exclusively from light incident at negative angles, reveals that the the sign of the TMOKE of specular and diffracted modes are inverted from each other. This observation can be understood from the fact that the TMOKE amplitude represents the changes in the intensity from a positive and negative magnetic states,  $\tau_I = \frac{I(H^+) - I(H^-)}{I(H^{arg})}$ . Therefore if TMOKE is positive for the specular mode m = 0 (e.g., in the spectral region of  $\lambda \approx 750$  - 830 nm, see figure 4.9), this means that the intensity collected for  $H^+$  is larger than for  $H^-$ , i.e.,  $I(H^+) > I(H^-)$ . The latter



FIGURE 4.9: Spectral average TMOKE response collected exclusively for negative angles of incidence, the areas from which the TMOKE was calculated are marked by the dashed rectangles in figure 4.8.

condition implies that more light is specularly reflected for field  $H^+$  than for  $H^-$ . One would expect, therefore, that less light can be emitted in diffracted modes for  $H^+$  than for  $H^-$  in the vicinities of a forward-propagating SPP. As a result, for diffracted modes the intensity collected at  $H^-$  is expected to be larger than for  $H^+$ , i.e., for diffracted modes  $I(H^+) < I(H^-)$ . Consequently, a negative TMOKE is expected for diffracted modes in the spectral region of  $\lambda \approx 750$  - 830 nm, in agreement with the data shown in figure 4.9.

# 4.4 Conclusions

We have explored how magnetization can be used to modulate the plasmon excitation conditions so that, in combination with diffractive properties, they can be used as a powerful pathway towards flexible design of magnetoplasmonic systems. Our study makes obvious some consequences of magnetically induced shift of the SPP resonance. Firstly, we emphasize that the presence of magnetization not only shifts the SPP excitation conditions in the energy space, but also induces shifts in the angular space. They are explicitly demonstrated in derivative TMOKE line-shapes seen at SPP resonances in Figure 4.7 (b).

As a second observation, we call the attention to the fact that the presence of SPPs results in significant changes in the magneto-optical activity in the diffracted beam. With zero angle of incidence, a maximum of 3% intensity change between the opposite magnetization states in diffraction is observed. This can be considered a large magnitude for TMOKE. In conventional magneto-optical geometries, the intensity modulation in transverse magneto-optical Kerr effect is usually less than 0.1% while for magnetoplasmonic systems higher numbers have been reported, up to 2% in magnetoplasmonic gratings. In transmission geometry magnetoplasmonic systems have been shown to support even higher modulation, though accompanied with a large losses.

Our experiments were performed with a simple metallic grating in order to highlight the interaction between the three phenomena under investigation: plasmons, magneto-optics and diffraction. However, we anticipate that our results can be generalized and used to design more complex diffractive elements, such as many plasmonic metasurfaces, where they could find use in designing non-reciprocal, isolating devices.

# Chapter 5

# **Optimizing TMOKE in Plasmonic Gratings: Towards One-Way Plasmons**

### 5.1 Abstract

Here we analyze two important aspects of grating couplers in relation to TMOKE signals. At first, maximizing the reflectance and TMOKE simultaneously is necessary for applications which seek to obtain the largest possible responses. We have therefore explored how optimal conditions depend on the photonic crystal geometrical parameters, from which a relation between reflectance and TMOKE responses is measured in specular and diffracted modes. We conclude that the reflectance and TMOKE are optimized using light at normal incidence and collecting the specular light along the same direction.

On the other hand, we have explored how excitation of SPPs with offnormal incident light can be exploited to achieve one-way propagation. In our study we demonstrate that one-way SPPs and associated large TMOKE signals can be achieved under these conditions. Interestingly, we found remarkably large TMOKE responses (above 4%) enhanced by one- way propagating plasmons. This observation opens up very interesting perspectives in nanophotonics, as it might be exploiting in on-chip grating couplers to external optical links, eventually enabling one-way propagation in integrated photonic circuits.

### 5.1.1 Chapter highlights

- Conditions for simultaneous maximization of reflectance and TMOKE.
- Excitation of individual forward- and backward- SPP propagating modes.

# 5.2 Geometry effects: maximizing the reflectance-TMOKE relation

In the previous chapter we have analysed how plasmon resonances can enhance the TMOKE response of magnetoplasmonic crystals. There we focused our attention to a specific grating of given width and periodicity. Yet, we know that the way light is coupled to plasmons and the associated nearfield distributions can be strongly dependent on the geometry and morphology of the grating structure. This, in turn, is expected to be influential in the final TMOKE response of the magnetoplasmonic crystal. To address this issue, we analyzed the relation between grating geometry and the reflectance and TMOKE responses. We note that, for technological applications, a high reflectance combined with large TMOKE signal is desirable. In consequence, conditions are optimal when both parameters are maximized.

To make a quantitative analysis of these optimal conditions, we define the relevant parameters as follows. For that purpose, we focus our discussion on the intensity collected in the specular reflection of light incoming at normal incidence on a grating with parameters (periodicity -  $\Delta = 400$ nm, width - w = 320 nm, base - b = 80 nm, depth - d = 120 nm). The angle-resolved reflectance map is shown in figure 5.1 (a), which reveals a clear absorption pattern, originated by plasmonic resonances centered at the wavelength of  $\lambda = 690$  nm (signaled by white lines). As expected, TMOKE is largely enhanced in the vicinity of the SPP resonance (figure 5.1 (b)). From these maps, we extracted reflectance and TMOKE profiles at different wavelengths, showing their dependence on the angle of incidence, see figures 5.1 (c) and (d), respectively. In these profiles, we define TMOKE<sub>max</sub> as the maximum TMOKE amplitude, having a corresponding reflectance given by (R(TMOKE<sub>max</sub>) as indicated in figures 5.1 (c) and (d)).



FIGURE 5.1: Panel (a) and (b) shows the reflectance and the TMOKE angular resolved plot, in which the light beams arise from the specular reflection and diffraction modes, corresponding to a grating with periodicity of  $\Delta = 400$  nm. In (c) and (d), reflectance and TMOKE cross-sectional plots were extracted from the horizontal dashed lines shown in panel (a) and (b) respectively, corresponding to the wavelengths of  $\lambda = 630$ , 690 and 750 nm.

Following the aforementioned interest for applications, we have analyzed the optimal conditions that maximize the values of  $TMOKE_{max}$  at  $R(TMOKE_{max})$  in a large ensemble of gratings of different geometric parameters (see the appendix B). In order to follow this discussion, we define the filling fraction  $\Gamma$  of a grating as the ratio of the grating width (*w*) and the periodicity ( $\Delta$ ). i.e.  $\Gamma = \frac{w}{\Lambda}$  (see sketch 4.1 (a)). In our study we have analyzed the optical properties of a large collection of samples consisting in [Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm)] multilayers, with filling fractions in the range 0.20  $< \Gamma < 0.90$  and periodicities 400 nm  $< \Delta < 1000$  nm. We first draw the attention to figure 5.2 (a), which plots the values of  $R(TMOKE_{max})$  and  $TMOKE_{max}$  measured in the first-order diffracted modes  $m = \pm 1$ . Figure 5.2 (a), reveals a general rule, by which the TMOKE amplitude increases as the reflectance decreases; however, two groups of samples – grouped according to their value of the filling factor  $\Gamma$ - can be easily identified in relation to their steeper or gentler slope in the  $R(TMOKE_{max})$ -TMOKE relation (5.2 (a)). More specifically, the gratings with  $\Gamma > 0.70$  exhibit large values of TMOKE (up to above 3%) highlighted in blue), but at the expense of a rather low reflectance. On the contrary, gratings with  $\Gamma$  < 0.60 display lower values of TMOKE, but can exhibit relatively large values of reflectance (highlighted in orange).

The data discussed in the previous paragraph correspond to the intensities collected in the first-order diffraction modes. One could wonder what happens in the specular reflection (m = 0), where the reflectance (and, therefore, R(TMOKE<sub>max</sub>) should be larger than in the diffracted modes. To answer this question, we plot in figure 5.2 (b) the values of R(TMOKE<sub>max</sub>) and TMOKE<sub>max</sub> collected in the specular reflection for a large ensemble of gratings with different periodicities and filling factors  $\Gamma > 0.70$ . An important observation is revealed by this figure, since it shows that relatively large TMOKE values –up to about 2.5% – can be obtained with reflectance of about 0.25, which is a significant improvement with respect to the case of diffracted orders, where, for similar values of TMOKE, the reflectance was about 0.05. We should stress that the intrinsic TMOKE values are usually in the range of 0.01%, so that, despite the apparent moderate TMOKE signals obtained in the specular reflection (i.e., in the order of a few %), the



FIGURE 5.2: In (a) and (b) the reflectance at the maximum TMOKE amplitude (R(TMOKE<sub>max</sub>) is shown as function of maximum TMOKE amplitude (TMOKE<sub>max</sub>) for the diffracted and specular reflected light respectively. A set of gratings having a different filling fraction  $\Gamma$  is highlighted in orange and blue, corresponding to a 0.20 <  $\Gamma$  < 0.60 and  $\Gamma$  > 0.70, respectively.

present results signify a remarkable enhancement with respect to the intrinsic TMOKE signal of about two orders of magnitude with respect to the intrinsic TMOKE signal. All in all, the data plotted in figure 5.2 provides useful guidelines for the design of magnetoplasmonic crystals with optimized reflectance and TMOKE responses and indicates that a trade-off exists between both parameters, so an optimized solution should seek a compromise between them. Additionally, we can conclude that optimal solutions can be sought in the specular reflection at normal incidence, where a reasonable compromise can be found between reflectance and TMOKE.

Yet, an important aspect requires some explanation, regarding the distinctive trends observed for gratings in the first-order diffracted mode ( $m = \pm 1$ ) of different filling factors  $\Gamma > 0.20$  and  $\Gamma < 0.60$ , see figure 5.2 (a). In order to shed light on this issue, we performed FDTD calculations to obtain the near-field distributions for gratings of filling fractions  $\Gamma = 0.80$  and  $\Gamma = 0.20$ , respectively, shown in figure 5.3. The simulations were performed by considering light at normal incidence, and the values of  $\Gamma$  were
chosen to be representative of the two distinct groups reported in figure 5.2. Panels (a) and (c) the spatial distributions of electromagnetic field densities, while panels (b) and (d) show the changes in intensity in the near-field distribution ( $\Delta$ NF(M)) for distinct magnetization states  $\Delta$ NF(M) =  $NF(M^+) - NF(M^-)$ . The simulations reveal a big difference depending on the value of  $\Gamma$ . For  $\Gamma = 0.80$ , the field distribution is mostly located outside the cavity formed in the gratings (figure 5.3) (a), and the  $\Delta$ NF(M) associated distribution is large and extended in space (figure 5.3) (b). On the contrary, for  $\Gamma = 0.20$ , there is a significant fraction of electromagnetic fields inside the cavity (figure 5.3) (c) while the  $\Delta$ NF(M) distribution is much more confined and weaker (figure 5.3 (d)). The results of the FDTD simulations are



FIGURE 5.3: Image in the near-field obtained by FDTD simulation of a 1D photonic crystal illuminated at normal incidence with different filling fraction  $\Gamma = 0.80$  ((a) and (b)) and  $\Gamma = 0.20$  ((c) and (d)). Where the electric field and  $\Delta NF(M)$ distribution are shown in panels (a) and (c), and (b) and (d), respectively.

in line with the experimental data displayed in figure 5.2, in which gratings with larger  $\Gamma$  exhibit larger  $\Delta$ NF(M), i.e. magneto-optic response. The simulations for  $\Gamma = 0.20$ , seem to suggest that lower values of the filling fraction may, eventually, drive to localized plasmon resonances, which are less effective in yielding larger magneto-optic responses.

## 5.3 Excitation of SPPs with light at oblique incidence

In the previous section, we explored the TMOKE response enhanced by plasmons when light is incident along the normal to the surface. One important conclusion is that a compromise can be found to obtain optimized reflectance and TMOKE response in the specular reflection, where light reflected from the sample is collected along the same direction as the incident light. Here we explore an alternative geometry, by which we analyze the TMOKE response in diffracted modes when light is incident along an oblique direction. Using this geometry, we analyzed the properties of the same photonic crystal that was previously investigated in chapter **4**.

- Periodicity  $\Delta = 1000 \text{ nm}$
- Width w = 800 nm
- Base b = 200 nm
- Depth d = 120 nm

The experiments were carried out with light incident at 30° from the normal. As usual, we measured the angle-resolve reflectance and TMOKE maps, which are shown, respectively, in figures 5.4 (a) and (b). Similarly, we plot in figures 5.4 (c) and (d) the reflectance and TMOKE profiles measured at different wavelengths as a function of the angle of incidence. The image of figure 5.4 (a) reveals an intense beam emerging at the emission angle  $-30^{\circ}$ , which corresponds to the specular reflection of the off-normal angle excitation, together with the two diffraction modes corresponding to m = +1, +2. In the diffracted modes we can observe the cross-shaped reflectance dips characteristic of the SPP resonances. As expected, the TMOKE

response is clearly enhanced along the SPP dispersion lines (figure 5.4 (b)) with the characteristic derivate-like line-shape (see figure 5.4 (d)).



FIGURE 5.4: Panel (a) and (b) shows the reflectance and the TMOKE angular resolved plot from a off-angle excitation, in which the light beams arise from the specular reflection and diffraction modes, corresponding to a grating with periodicity of  $\Delta = 1000$  nm. In (c) and (d), reflectance and TMOKE cross-sectional plots were extracted from the horizontal dashed lines shown in panel (a) and (b) respectively, corresponding to the wavelengths of  $\lambda = 815$ , 780 and 745

88

One particularly interesting observation is that the angle of emission of the m = +1 diffracted mode is nearly along the normal to the surface (figure 5.4). In these conditions, the TMOKE signal is enhanced to about 2% (figure 5.4 (d)), while the reflectance is in the order of  $\approx 0.1 - 0.15$  (figure 5.4 (c)). In the previous section we have seen that, with light at normal incidence, the TMOKE in the specular reflection can reach values up to about 2.5% with a reflectance of about 0.25. Here we see that off-normal incident light at 30° gives TMOKE signals of about 2% in the first-order diffracted mode, with reflectance below 0.20. Comparing these results, we see that the reflectance and TMOKE are better optimized using light at normal incidence and collecting the specular light along the same direction.

## 5.4 Excitation of one-way propagation of SPPs.

Here we show that light coming at oblique incidence can be used to excite SPPs propagating along one way, i.e., to excite SPPs propagating only along either forward or backward directions. The principle of operation is sketched in figure 5.5. When light is coming at normal incidence, the coupling of diffracted modes to forward- and backward- propagating SPPs is symmetric. In contrast, at oblique incidence, this symmetry is broken, and the coupling of diffracted modes to SPPs depends on the direction of propagation. Eventually, at selected wavelengths, the propagation of SPPs is possible only along one direction.

We explored this possibility in the same grating discussed in the last section. In figures 5.6 (a) and (b) we show the angle-resolved reflectance maps measured in a spectral range centered on  $\lambda = 835$  nm corresponding, respectively, to light incident at negative and positive oblique angles of incidence ( $\pm 40^{\circ}$ ). The reflectance dips in the diffraction modes m = -1, -2 (panel (a)) and m = 1, 2 (panel (b)) reveal one-way SPPs, corresponding to forward- and backward-propagation, respectively.

We address now the study of the TMOKE signal associated with the excitation of the one-way plasmons. For that purpose, we present in 5.7 (a) and (b) the angle-resolved TMOKE maps for the forward and backward propagating SPPs, respectively, which, as expected, show how the signal increases



FIGURE 5.5: Schematics of a single plasmonic mode excitation. (a) Under particular conditions, the incident light beam can couple only to backward-propagating SPPs modes, as indicated by the green circles. The beam decomposition is shown in (b), indicating the corresponding diffraction modes (m = -1, -2 indicated by orange circles) and specular reflection (m = 0).

in the vicinity of the plasmon resonances. TMOKE profiles taken at  $\lambda = 835$  nm show that the sign of the TMOKE amplitude is determined completely by the direction of the propagation of SPPs. More specifically, we see that the TMOKE amplitude is positive for forward propagating plasmons excited in the plasmonic mode  $\eta = +3$ , while the negative TMOKE amplitude is associated with backward propagating SPPs excited at the plasmonic mode  $\eta = -3$  (see figure 5.7 (c)).

The data shown in figures 5.6 and 5.7 demonstrate that one-way SPPs and associated TMOKE signals can be achieved by illumination with light at off-normal angles of incidence. As mentioned in chapter 1, grating couplers are relevant devices that can link data transmitted via optical fibers to on-chip photonic circuits. The possibility to engineer the angle of incidence on the on-chip grating would enable to control the direction of the flux of optical signals in integrated circuits coupled to optical external links, opening interesting perspectives in integrated nanophotonics.



FIGURE 5.6: In (a) and (b) the reflectance is shown for a single mode excitation of forward- and backwards- propagating SPPs respectively. In (c) the cross-section at  $\lambda$ 835 nm presented for a single excitation is shown in red and blue.



FIGURE 5.7: In (a) and (b) the TMOKE amplitude is shown for a single mode excitation of forward- and backwardspropagating SPPs respectively. In (c) the cross-section at  $\lambda = 835$  nm presented for a single excitation is shown in red and blue.

## 5.5 Numerical simulations of one-way plasmons.

Finally, we show that the one-way propagation of SPPs can be reproduced through numerical simulations applied to a magnetoplasmonic crystal that mimics the experimental one. As shown in figure 5.8, the reflectance map obtained by FDTD simulations presents the expected signatures of SPP excitations as cross-shaped reflectance dips. In this figure we indicate different resonant conditions labeled as (I)-(IV), corresponding to the wavelengths  $\lambda = 685$  and 823 nm and angles of incidence  $\theta = \pm 5.25^{\circ}$ . Note that the excitation points (I),(IV) and



FIGURE 5.8: Reflectance map of a simulated photonic crystal, in which particular conditions of wavelength and angles of incidence are labeled (I)-(IV).

(II),(III) rest each over a single plasmonic excitation, corresponding to the modes  $\eta = +2$  and  $\eta = -2$ , a forward- and backward- SPP propagating mode, respectively. In order to elucidate the relation between TMOKE amplitudes and unidirectional plasmons and compare with the experimental data (figure 5.7), we performed near-field simulations where the field distribution and the  $\Delta$ NF(M) (defined in section 5.2) are shown in figure 5.9.

A first observation of figure 5.9 (a) and (b) (corresponding to  $\lambda = 685$  nm) reveals an asymmetric distribution of electric fields in the near-field, which is especially evident inside the cavities of the grating. Note that in going from (I) to (II), the asymmetric distribution is inverted (figures 5.9 (a) and (b)), as expected from switching between forward- and backward-propagating SPPs ( $+k_{SPP}$  and  $-k_{SPP}$  with  $\eta = +2, -2$ , see 5.8). A similar trend is observed for the near-field distributions presented in figure 5.9 (c) and (d), corresponding to points (III) and (IV) of figure 5.8 (where  $\lambda = 823$  nm). Now, if we look at the magnetic response of the near-field distributions quantified by  $\Delta$ NF(M) (figure 5.9 (e)-(h)), we see that the spatial distribution

of  $\Delta NF(M)$  also reverses sign when switching from forward- to backwardpropagating SPPs. It is important to note that the near-field and  $\Delta NF(M)$ distributions have their spacial distribution symmetry determined exclusively by the  $K_{SPP}$  direction, being independent of the angle of incidence, as discussed previously 5.4.



FIGURE 5.9: (a-d) A near-field distribution, and (e-h) the magneto-optic behavior  $\Delta NF(M)$  is shown for four distinct plasmon excitation sites (I-IV depicted in figure 5.8).

Before closing this section, we have an important conclusion regarding the amplification capability of the TMOKE response by the diffracted modes. More specifically, we note that particularly large values of TMOKE (above ±4%) are found in the vicinity of plasmon orders  $\eta = \pm 1$ , corresponding to the diffraction modes  $m = \pm 2$  (figure 5.7 (c)). These are among the highest TMOKE values we have measured in the ensemble of crystals studied in this Thesis. Curiously enough, the TMOKE signal measured in the diffracted mode  $m = \pm 1$  is smaller ( $\approx \pm 2.5\%$ ) than for  $m = \pm 2$ ( $\approx \pm 4.2\%$ ). One may wonder if the higher-order diffraction modes in combination with first-order plasmon resonances may pave the way to a more efficient way to enhance TMOKE.

## 5.6 Conclusions

We investigated the optimal conditions to achieve simultaneous maximization of reflectance and TMOKE responses. For that purpose, we compared the optical properties at normal and off-normal incidence of a large ensemble of magnetoplasmonic crystals of different periodicities and metallic filling ratios. From our extensive study we conclude that the best compromise is found by using light at normal incidence and collecting the specular light along the same direction.

We then moved to the study off-angle SPP excitations, to demonstrate that by selecting a proper angle of incidence, a one-way propagating surface plasmon can be excited. Thus, we could study selectively the influence of one-way plasmons on the TMOKE response. Interestingly. we found that particularly large TMOKE amplitudes -upwards of 4%- o 4.2% -for particular conditions of one-way plasmon excitation. FDTD simulations confirm these experimental results and corroborate that the sign of the TMOKE enhancement is exclusively dependent on SPP wavevector  $K_{SPP}$  and does not depends on the angle of incidence.

## Chapter 6

# Electrically Tunable Magnetoplasmonic Gratings

## 6.1 Abstract

Here we investigate the effects of magnetism and ferroelectricity on the propagation of surface plasmons polaritons (SPPs). With this in mind, we studied plasmonic crystals composed of ferromagnetic and ferroelectric materials. We analyzed the magnetoelectricplasmonic response using angle-resolved Fourier spectroscopy with in-situ applied magnetic and electric fields. Remarkably, our experiments reveal that the plasmonic band structure can be modulated by electric fields. As a result, the amplitude of the transverse magneto-optic Kerr effect (TMOKE) can be modulated and even its sign can be reversed by appropriate electric field protocols. The present results pave a new path to the control of the TMOKE response through a proper control of the dielectric environment.

#### 6.1.1 Chapter highlights

- An advanced lithography design was developed and implemented, which allowed the optical access and in-situ ferroelectric and magnetic measurements.
- We analyzed the effects of the ferroelectric polarization on the transversal magneto-optic Kerr effect (TMOKE) response: under certain conditions, the sign of TMOKE can be reversed by electric fields.

## 6.2 Introduction

As discussed in chapters 3, 4, the incorporation of ferromagnetic layers in magnetoplasmonic crystals adds the possibility of nonreciprocal effects induced by the breaking of time-reversal symmetry [18, 19]. Along similar lines, an extra functionality can be implemented through the replacement of a conventional centrosymmetric dielectric layer by a noncentrosymmetric material, which breaks space inversion symmetry [114, 115]. We have followed this approach by inserting a ferroelectric material,  $BaTiO_3$  in our case, which is known to have large ferroelectric polarization [116, 117, 118] and particularly large electro-optic coefficients [5, 64, 65]. The latter property is especially relevant for the propagation of plasmons [119, 120], as it enables the modulation of the refractive index by electric fields [121, 122]. The exploration of the electric modulatation of the optical properties of magnetoplasmonic crystals required the development of advanced lithography to enable the in-situ characterization of ferroelectric and magnetic effects on the propagation of SPPs. For that purpose, we used angular-resolved reflectance spectroscopy to study the effects of applied magnetic and electric fields on the transverse magneto-optic Kerr effect (TMOKE) response.

#### 6.3 Experiment description

#### 6.3.1 Sample preparation

A multiferroic heterostructure being composed of ferroelectric and ferromagnetic materials in association with (a) a plasmonic material was constructed and tailored as a base of a magneto- and electric-active photonic crystal. The ferroelectric structure is composed of a BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (BTO) layer, having thickness of 200 nm, being grown over (b) a bottom electrode of composition La<sub>0.7</sub>Sr<sub>0.3</sub>MnO<sub>3</sub> (10 nm), a well-known collossal magnetoresistance perovskite with metallic behaviour [123, 124]. The whole heterostructure was deposited on top of a SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (STO) commercial substrate.

After the whole multilayered structures is grown, a complex lithography process -described in chapter 2.1.4is developed, in which the electricand magnetic-active contacts are coated with a magnetoplasmonic multilayer, being composed of Cr (4 nm) / Au (16 nm) / [Co (14 nm) / Au (16 nm)] x4 / Co (14 nm) / Au (7 nm).



FIGURE 6.1: Schematics of the magneto-electric-plasmonic crystal: In (a) a structure side view displays the grating parameters where  $\Delta$ , w, and d are the periodicity, width and depth of the grating. Panel (b) reveals the top view of the grating structure, where l,  $h_c$  and  $l_c$  are the grating length, contact width and length, respectively.

As mentioned in section 2.1.4, the electric-active contact cannot exceed a certain area (typically  $< 10000 \ \mu m^2$ ), otherwise the polarization of BTO may not be switched due to the presence of leakage currents. To minimize the effects of leakage currents and increase the capability of switching the ferro-electric polarization, a thick passivation (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in our case) was deposited all over the surface, including the active layers where electric fields must be

applied. Because of this latter observation, a lithographic step is required to open a window exclusively over the active layers, which is done through a chemical etching process of the passivation layer (see section 2.1.3), enabling electric contact over that area. Finally, the photonic structure is patterned through e-beam lithography followed by an ion-milling resulting in the structure shown schematically in figure 6.1.

The full side view of the magneto-electric-plasmonic crystal can be seen in figure 6.2, where the long-range contacts are seen over the passivation layer, thus providing electric to the system. For the presented study, we focused on crystals with parameters,  $\Delta = 740$  nm, w = 560 nm, d = 175nm,  $l = 40 \ \mu$ m,  $h_c = 80 \ \mu$ m and  $l_c = 130 \ \mu$ m, corresponding to the grating periodicity, width, depth and wire length, while  $h_c$  and  $l_c$  are the active contact width and length, respectively (real device images are presented in appendix C).



FIGURE 6.2: A cross-sectional view or the magnetoelectricplasmonic crystal, revealing the full layered structure. The difference in (a) and (b) is the different material used for passivation, i.e., photoresist and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, were used, respectively.

## 6.3.2 Control of the magnetization and ferroelectric polarization

Before we advance into the experimental results, we establish the allowed set of configurations between magnetization and polarization (figure 6.3). More specifically, the magnetization is confined along the grating longer

axis, which corresponds to the  $\hat{y}$  direction, and assumes positive and negative values  $M^+\hat{y}$  and  $M^-\hat{y}$ . On the other hand, figure 6.3 (b) shows the microscopic ferroelectric domain configuration for the electric saturated states, where the polarization is fully aligned along the  $\hat{z}$  direction, taking positive and negative values  $P_+\hat{z}$  and  $P_-\hat{z}$ . Figures 6.3 (c)-(d) show schematically different possible domain configurations of a ferroelectric depolarized state  $P_{depol}$ . The case depicted in figure 6.3 (c) corresponds to ferroelectric domains pointing along in-plane and out-of-plane directions. Alternatively, the ferroelectric depolarized state can be caused by domains aligned in an anti-parallel fashion along the out-of plane direction. For instance, the cases depicted in figures 6.3 (d) and (e) correspond to different domain sizes, giving way to different domain wall densities. The different domain configurations displayed in figures 6.3 (c)-(e) will be discussed later in this chapter in relation to the origin of the modulation of TMOKE by electric fields.



FIGURE 6.3: Schematics of the orientation of ferromagnetic and ferroelectric domains. (a) The magnetization is confined along the grating major axis, defined as  $\hat{y}$  direction. (b) The two possible ferroelectric saturated polarization states, lying along the  $\hat{z}$  axis. (c) Ferroelectric domain configuration in the depolarized state, in which some domains lay in the  $\hat{xy}$ plane, while other are oriented along the out-of-plan  $\hat{z}$  direction. (d) and (e) show a ferroelectric depolarized state with domains along the out-of-plan  $\hat{z}$  direction, having different domain size and domain wall density.

During the next sections we will explore the influence of magnetism and ferroelectricity on the propagation of plasmons and the transverse magnetooptic Kerr effect (TMOKE). Our study was done under the saturated magnetic ( $M^+$ ,  $M^-$ ) and ferroelectric ( $P_+$ ,  $P_-$ ) states, as well in ferroelectrically depolarized states ( $P_{depol}$ ), where the ferroelectric domain polarizations are oriented along different directions, giving a macroscopic state with null polarization.

#### 6.3.3 Electric modulation of SPP propagation and TMOKE

The analysis of the SPP propagation and TMOKE responses was done in three different states of the macroscopic ferroelectric polarization. In the depolarized state ( $P_{depol}$ ), the ferroelectric layer is depolarized through an ac electric field "degaussing" protocol [72], where a polarizing voltage is initially applied and decreased continuously to zero by reversing the sign of the applied field between successive states. Alternatively, measurements were also done by saturating the ferroelectric polarization along two opposite directions along the out-of-plane orientation (*c*-axis). The TMOKE amplitude, measured from angular-resolved reflectance and TMOKE maps, was obtained through the expression:  $\tau = \frac{I(H^+) - I(H^-)}{I(H^{avg})}$  for the three polarization states  $\tau(P_{depol}), \tau(P_+)$  and  $\tau(P_-)$ .

Figure 6.4 (a) shows the full reflectance map measured with a saturated positive magnetization and depolarized state  $R(P_{depol})$ . This figure includes the dispersion lines of SPPs calculated from the expression (3.3), where  $\varepsilon_{BTO}$  and  $\varepsilon_m$  are the dielectric function of the bulk BTO and the magnetoplasmonic multilayer, used to calculate  $k_{SPP}$ , defined as:  $k_{SPP} = k_x \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{BTO} \varepsilon_m}{\varepsilon_{BTO} + \varepsilon_m}}$ . A clear evidence of the effects of the ferroelectric state can be observed in the reflectance profiles measured for the polarization states  $R(P_{depol})$ ,  $R(P_+)$  and  $R(P_-)$ , as shown in figure 6.4 (b)-(d). These reflectance profiles are extracted from the wavelengths corresponding to  $\lambda = 620$ , 710 and 780 nm highlighted by the horizontal white dashed lines in 6.4 (a). In particular, the most abrupt changes in reflectance happen near the wavelengths of  $\lambda = 710$  nm, as displayed in figure 6.4 (c), where the polarization state changes substantially the angular distribution of the light emitted from the crystal.



FIGURE 6.4: (a) Reflectance map for a depolarized state  $R(P_{depol})$ . Propagating SPP dispersion lines are shown in white. The panels (b)-(d) show the cross-sectional reflectance plots, that were extracted from the horizontal dashed lines in (a), corresponding to the wavelengths of  $\lambda = 780, 710, 620$  nm. The different curves in each panel display the profiles that correspond to the different ferroelectric polarization states, i.e.  $R(P_{depol}), R(P_+)$  and  $R(P_-)$  displayed in red, green and blue, respectively.

An important observation can be drawn from inspection of the data shown in figure 6.4. More specifically, we observe that the angular distributions of the emitted light for the two saturated polarized states  $R(P_+)$ and  $R(P_-)$ , are very similar. This simple observation implies that linear electro-optic effects are not the main mechanism for the observed changes in the reflectance patterns, as they would imply different optical properties for the two ferrolectric saturated states. On the contrary, photoelastic effects, in which changes of refractive indices are driven by mechanical stress [53, 54], could account for the fact that, while reflectance patterns are very similar for the saturated states, a clear change is observed with respect to the depolarized states. This argument is developed later in this chapter. Finally, we note that the modulation with electric fields is strongly dependent on the wavelength; the angular distribution is modified largely at the wavelength  $\lambda = 710$  nm, but the changes are minor for the other wavelengths shown in 6.4 ( $\lambda = 620, 780$  nm).

The polarization states not only affect the reflectance pattern as aforementioned, they also modify the TMOKE response. To visualize this magnetoelectric effect we calculate the TMOKE signal for each polarization individually. For instance, the TMOKE response for a fixed polarization  $P_+$ state is given by:

$$\tau(P_{+}) = \frac{I(H^{+}, P_{+}) - I(H^{-}, P_{+})}{I(H^{avg}, P_{+})},$$
(6.1)

where,  $H^+$  and  $H^-$ , are the magnetic field states, being set in positive and negative magnetic saturation, while  $H^{avg}$  is collected from an averaged ac magnetic field. A similar expression can be defined for the  $P_{depol}$  and  $P_$ states.

The angle-resolved TMOKE maps shown in figure 6.5 correspond to the  $P_{depol}$  and  $P_+$  states. Similarly to reflectance maps, the TMOKE maps for the  $P_+$  and  $P_-$  states are very similar and, thus, figure 6.5 (b) only shows the map corresponding to  $P_+$ . In the maps of figure 6.5 we have also plotted the SPPs band diagram for backward- and forward- propagating SPPs, calculated from equation 3.3, shown in section 3.3.3. At first sight, it may seem from figure 6.5 (a) that TMOKE is roughly the same for positive and negative angles of incidence. However, a more detailed inspection reveals that under certain conditions there are important asymmetries in the TMOKE response. This is the case, e.g., of the narrow spectral region around the

wavelength  $\lambda = 700$  nm, where a noticeable suppression of the TMOKE effect is observed for the forward propagating SPP resonance orders  $\eta_{SPP} = -3, +2$ . This observation reveals an asymmetric optical response induced by changes in the ferroelectric polarized state, whereby the plasmonic dispersion lines are clearly asymmetric with respect to the angle of emission near the wavelength  $\lambda = 700$  nm. It is remarkable to note that the angle-resolved TMOKE maps measured in the  $\tau(P_+)$  state -shown in figure 6.5 (b), also shows a suppression in the TMOKE response at the same wavelength, but now the suppressed TMOKE signal is observed for the backward- instead of the forward- propagating SPP mode  $\eta_{SPP} = -2, +3$ . As discussed in the following, the fact that different polarization states affect differently the forward- and backward- SPP modes gives way to the unprecedented observation of a reversal of the TMOKE sign with electric fields.



FIGURE 6.5: In (a) and (b) the spectral dependence of TMOKE amplitude is shown for two distinct polarization state  $P_{depol}$  and  $P_+$ . The dispersion lines of forward- and backward- propagating SPPs are indicated in the figures.

To go deeper into this question, we analyzed TMOKE profiles measured as a function of the angle of emission at different wavelengths within a narrow range around  $\lambda = 700$  nm. The profiles, shown in figure 6.6, demonstrate that the asymmetric optical response induced by the electric fields is strongly dependent on wavelength. The most remarkable observation is the reversal of the TMOKE sign as a function of the ferroelectric polarization state, particularly noticeable at wavelength  $\lambda = 710$  nm (figure 6.6 (b)), where the TMOKE sign is inverted from the polarized to the depolarized state. This is a remarkable result, as it enables reversing the sign of the amplitude of a relatively large TMOKE signal with electric fields (±0.4% at  $\lambda = 710$  nm). We stress that this electric field-modulation is particularly relevant, as the intrinsic TMOKE response of magnetic materials is well below the modulated value, see discussion in section 4.3.3).



FIGURE 6.6: Panels (a)-(c) display cross-sectional TMOKE plots extracted from the previous figure, corresponding to the wavelengths  $\lambda = 700, 710, 720$  nm, where a narrow angular region is shown. Panels (d)-(f) reveal a much broader

angular spectrum corresponding to the wavelengths  $\lambda = 620,760,800$  nm.

In addition to the sign reversal, the profiles shown in figures 6.6 (a)-(c) show also changes within the angular distribution of the emitted light as a function of the polarization state. To illustrate this point, in panel (a) a blue vertical dashed line is drawn at the maximum of TMOKE for the  $P_{\pm}$  polarized states, which is clearly shifted from the angular position of the TMOKE peak for the  $P_{depol}$  state. The angular displacement of the TMOKE

peak signals between the different polarized states is also noticed in the following panels (b) and (c), in which the gray and black dashed lines illustrate the evolution of the maximum TMOKE amplitude as a function of the wavelength. As shown in figures 6.6 (d)-(f), the asymmetric TMOKE response with respect to the angle of emission for different ferroelectric polarization states is also noticeable for other spectral regions, for which particular conditions of wavelength and angle of emission can be found in which the sign of the TMOKE response can be reversed. Consequently, conditions can be found in which a strong magnetoelectric effect can be observed in the magneto-optic response for a wide range of wavelengths. This is an important observation, which extends the concept of magnetoelectric coupling in multiferroic structures [125], which seek to reverse the magnetization with electric fields, to the field of optics. Thus, instead of magnetization, our experiments reveal that magneto-optic signals can be reversed by using electric fields.

Finally, we explored the reproducibility of the polarization effects on the TMOKE response by measuring the signal between the states ( $P_{depol}$ ,  $P_+$ ,  $P_-$ ) over two complete cycles measured at three different wavelengths  $\lambda = 700, 710, 720$  nm. The data, which is plotted in figure 6.7, shows that the changes of the TMOKE response -including the sign reversal- can be reversibly switched for the polarization states  $P_{depol}$ ,  $P_+$  and  $P_-$ . Figure 6.7 shows the reproducibility of the polarization effects on the TMOKE response, where the polarization was cycled between the three states ( $P_{depol}$ ,  $P_-$  and  $P_+$ ) over two cycles.

Summing up, our results show that the optical response of magnetoelectric-plasmonic crystals can be modulated by electric fields. In the experiments, the positive and negative ferroelectric saturated states have very similar optical properties, whereas the macroscopically depolarized state exhibits distinctive properties. In particular, we observe that, under proper conditions, the sign of TMOKE can be reversed between saturated states and depolarized states. The fact that the saturated states of opposite signs show similar optical responses indicates that linear Pockels electro-optic effects, although present, are not most relevant factor to the observed phenomenon. Alternatively, changes of the refractive index associated to changes in the



Number of cycles

FIGURE 6.7: Panels (a)-(c) shows the TMOKE response as a function of the polarization state  $P_{depol}$ ,  $P_{-}$  and  $P_{+}$ , corresponding to the wavelengths  $\lambda = 700, 710, 720$  nm.

mechanical stress of the ferroelectric layer are compatible with the observations, since the opposite states of saturation would give the same changes of permittivity, while the depolarized could have a different value, provided that it sustains a different mechanical stress state. As described in section [53], the related phenomenon is usually referred as photoelastic effect and, unlike the electro-optic effect, is a universal property of materials, as photoelasticity is observed for all symmetry classes [53]. In this picture, in the saturated states the ferroelectric domains are fully aligned along opposite out-of-plane *c*-axes directions which would give identical strain states. In contrast, we surmise that in the depolarized case the BTO thin film may sustain substantial changes in the domain configuration that would yield a strain state different from the saturated states. This discussion is further elaborated in section 6.5.

## 6.4 Plasmon resonances under electro and magnetic fields

In section 3.4.2, we discussed the effects of magnetic fields on plasmonic resonances. Here we describe how the different polarization states of the ferroelectric can modulate the plasmon resonances, via changes of the refractive index by photo-elastic effects. Thus, globally, the plasmon resonances are affected by the magnetically shifted plasmon frequencies, ( $\omega_+$  and  $\omega_-$ ), together with the changes associated to the ferroelectric domain structure (changes in  $n(P_{depol})$  and  $n(P_{\pm})$ ).

The superposition of these two effects is shown in figure 6.8. Panel (a) shows the effects of the magnetic field, by which the resonance frequency  $\omega_+$  and  $\omega_-$  (shown in blue and red) are slightly displaced depending on the orientation of the magnetization  $M^+$  and  $M^-$ . This effect induces a displacement in the frequency space as shown in panel (b), where the modes  $\omega_+$  and  $\omega_-$  -visible as dips in the intensity of the reflected intensity- are shown in blue and red, respectively. The subtraction of the reflected intensities associated with the two magnetized states results in the derivative-like curve shown by the green dashed line, which is associated with the TMOKE response, as previously discussed in chapter 3.

Now we discuss the effects of the different ferroelectric domain configurations on top of the magnetic field-induced effects discussed in the previous paragraph. This can be seen in figure 6.8 (c), which shows magnetic field-induced shifts of the plasmon resonances for the depolarized  $P_{depol}$  and polarized  $P_{\pm}$  ferroelectric states. We discuss the particular case of the intersection between two plasmonic modes of different orders i.e.  $\eta = -2, +3$ and  $\eta = 2, -3$ , where the effects of the electric field-induced changes in the refractive index are shown schematically, resulting in additional shifts in the plasmon dispersion lines labelled as  $\omega_{\pm}^{P_{depol}}$  and  $\omega_{\pm}^{P_{\pm}}$ . The effects on the intensity of reflected light are depicted in figure 6.8 (d) where the plasmonic modes  $\omega_{\pm}^{P_{\pm}}, \omega_{\pm}^{P_{depol}}$  and  $\omega_{-}^{P_{\pm}}, \omega_{-}^{P_{depol}}$  are displaced unevenly in frequency. Finally, the subtraction of the curves in panel (d) result in the derivative-like lineshapes for the polarization state  $P_{\pm}$  and  $P_{depol}$  shown in 6.8 (e), representing the TMOKE signal for these different ferroelectric polarization states.



Interestingly, these results reproduce in a qualitative way the differential lineshape observed in the experimental results shown in figure 6.6 (b).

FIGURE 6.8: Frequency-splitting  $\omega$ , induced by the magnetization state  $M^{\pm}$ , resulting in the displacement in the SPP band diagram show in (b), from which the plasmonic differential lineshape can be obtained. In a similar way the frequency-splitting is shown for two distinct ferroelectric states  $P_{depol}$  and  $P_{\pm}$  in (c) respectively, resulting in two sets of SPP diagrams  $\omega_{\pm}^{P_{depol}}$  and  $\omega_{\pm}^{P_{\pm}}$  shown in (d). Finally the differential lineshape is obtained for  $P_{depol}$  and  $P_{\pm}$  (e).

## 6.5 Relevance of the protocol for electric field cycling

In the following, we discuss in more detail how the different (magneto-) optical states can be accessed electrically. For that purpose, we considered two different ways to modulate the applied electric fields. In a first approach (I), we cycled the field without changing the direction of rotation around the hysteretic loop, as in a conventional ferroelectric loop (figure 6.9 (a)). The second method (II) consisted in changing the field discontinuously by reversing its sign between consecutive steps (figure 6.9 (b)). This approach reproduces the ac-depolarization protocol that we have described in the beginning of this chapter. In both approaches, we measure the normalized changes in intensity amplitude around the wavelength  $\lambda = 715$  nm and angle of emission  $\phi = 10^{\circ}$ . Figures 6.9 (c) and (d) also include a ferroelectric polarization electric field measured at the frequency 1 KHz using the topbottom configuration. The P-E loops were measured by applying an electric bias on the active top-electrode and grounding with the LSMO bottomelectrode following the protocols described in the Ref, [126]. We define the normalized changes in intensity ( $\chi(V)$ ) amplitude as:

$$\chi(V) = \frac{I(P_V) - I(P_{avg})}{I(P_{avg})},$$
(6.2)

where  $\chi(V)$ ,  $I(P_V)$  and  $I(P_{avg})$  are the normalized changes in intensity, the intensity at a given applied voltage V, and the average intensity, respectively. The results of these measurements are shown in figures 6.9 (c) and (d), which display the  $\chi(V)$  amplitude  $\chi(V)$  as a function of the applied voltage for the I and II loops. As seen in these figures, the two methods resulted in strikingly different optical responses. More specifically, cycling the electric field using the approach (I) did not result in any appreciable change of the  $\chi(V)$  amplitude (figure 6.9 (c)). In contrast, by using the method (II), the  $\chi(V)$  amplitude an sign could be change in a substantial way (figure 6.9 (d)). This is a very relevant result, since it indicates the protocol required to access the ferroelectric polarization states that enable a modulation of photonic properties of the crystal. At the same time, these experiments indicate that the microscopic domain configuration that can be reached in the depolarized state using method (II) is different from the domain configuration that can be reached in depolarized state (coercive field) using the approach (I).

We consider two possibles scenarios for the microscopic ferroelectric domain configuration of the depolarized state that are compatible with the experimental results displayed in figures 6.4-6.7. One central point in the following discussion is the fact that the depolarized state reached by cycling the electric field using the protocol (I) is different from the depolarized state attained following the ac-depolarizing protocol (II). More specifically,

we surmise that the depolarized state achieved after following the approach (II) is composed of anti-parallel domains oriented along the out-of-plane direction, with a relatively large domain size and relatively low density of domain walls (the case depicted in figure 6.3 (d)). On the contrary, two scenarios can be proposed for the depolarized state attained following the degaussing protocol (II). One possibility is that this state is composed of domains pointing along in-plane and out-plane directions (figure 6.3 (c)). In this case, the strain state would be different from that of the two opposite saturated states, which would give way to two different refractive indices by the photo-elastic effect. Alternatively, one can envisage that all domains are pointing along the out-of-plane direction, but with relatively small domain size and larger density of domain walls (figure 6.3 (e)). The significantly large density of domain walls -which are under a different strain state than the domain itself- would explain the different refractive index with respect to the two saturated states. Further experiments -e.g., X-ray diffraction under electric fields or piezoresponsive atomic force microscopy- are required to fully discriminate between these two possibilities.

It's noteworthy to stress that the large modulation of normalized changes in intensity ( $\chi(V)$ ) by electric fields using the discontinuous method (II) (figure 6.9 (d)) can be indeed observed in the images taken in the Fourier plane, as shown in figure 6.10. Panels (a) and (b) show the  $\chi(V)$  response collected in the Fourier plane for two data points -represented in blue and red, respectively in figure 6.9 (d)- that give  $\chi(V)$  amplitudes with opposite signs. Additionally, figure 6.10 (c) shows the Fourier image corresponding to a point in the saturated ferroelectric state (shown in green figure 6.9 (d)). While in the former (panels (a) and (b)) the  $\chi(V)$  the enhancement is clearly visible following the plasmon dispersion lines, in the latter (panel (c)) they are barely visible.

To end up, we note that the computation of the normalized changes in intensity  $\chi(V)$  induced by the ferroelectric polarization is done through the average of the intensity collected by the pixels located over a plasmonic mode, indicated by the orange square in figure 6.10 (a) and (c). Therefore,



FIGURE 6.9: In (a) and (b) the applied voltage path is shown as a function of time, while in (c) and (d) reveals the optical response depending on polarization induced state during the different electric field path. In superposition a BTO ferroelectric hysteresis loop obtained at 1 kHz are shown in panels (c) and (d) in orange. The shadowed areas are described later in figure 6.10

the average intensity extracted from each frame at a different electric potential is extracted and shown in figure 6.9 (b) and (d). Besides that, figure 6.9 (a) and (b) show a small optical response exclusively near the SPPs resonances, where the measured response is inverted between two states with different ferroelectric domain configuration (corresponding to red and blue data points in figure 6.9 (d)). As discussed above, such inversion of the sign of the normalized changes in intensity ( $\chi(V)$ ) amplitude may be induced by the different ferroelectric domain patterns, tailored during the ac-depolarization process described above.

#### 6.6 Conclusions

We have shown that the photonic band structure and TMOKE response can be modulated in multiferroic photonic crystals. Remarkably, the sign of



FIGURE 6.10: Panels (a)-(c) display the normalized average intensity  $\chi(V)$  in the Fourier plane for three polarization states, corresponding, respectively, to the data highlighted in blue, red and green in figure 6.9 (d). Plasmon resonances are visible in (a) and (b), corresponding to the states blue and red (6.9 (d)). Panel (a) shows an orange square, from which the normalized average intensity presented in figure 6.9 is calculated. Panel (d) shows a zoom of the region where the plasmonic effects are extracted.

TMOKE can be even reversed by electric fields under specific conditions of wavelength and angles of incidence and appropriate protocols for electric field cycling. From the analysis of these results, we conclude that photoelastic effects are primarily at the origin of the modulation of TMOKE by electric fields. These results demonstrate that a proper engineering of magnetoelectroplasmonic crystals can lead to the development of devices with advanced functionalities, which can be used to control and tune light-matter interaction through different external stimulus.

## Chapter 7

## **Outlook and Perspectives**

In this work we have analysed extensively the interplay between surface plasmons, diffraction and magneto-optic effects, showing that the phenomenon of diffraction can be exploited to achieve a big enhancement of the TMOKE response. In particular, we have shown that under appropriate conditions of wavelength and angles of incidence, off-normal incident light can couple efficiently to one-way plasmons. Under such conditions, remarkably large values of TMOKE have been measured enhanced by these unidirectional plasmons, indeed the largest values that we have found in our extensive study of magnetoplasmonic crystals. Our observation that the TMOKE signal measured in the diffracted mode m = 1 is smaller (2.5%) than for m = 2 (4.2%) –see section 5.4- may imply that higher-order diffraction modes in combination with first-order plasmon resonances may pave the way to a more efficient way to enhance TMOKE. Consequently, this observation provides with interesting guidelines to engineer magnetoplasmonic crystals to test this possibility.

A further interesting perspective is to investigate the coupling of offnormal incident light to one-way plasmons in ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic systems, where the electric field could modulate the resonance conditions in such a way that the excitation of one-way plasmons is turned onand off at will. This can have an interest in some prospective applications, as it would enable a control of unidirectional flow of plasmons in integrated photonic circuits.

Finally, our investigation in ferroelectric magnetoplasmonic crystals has shown that, for the particular analyzed systems, photoelastic effects can be exploited to modulate the TMOKE response. In this case, it seems that electro-optic effects are not playing main role in the electric field modulation of the magnetoplasmonic response. Nevertheless, for other device architectures, electro-optic effects may do have a role. One particularly interesting situation is given in magnetoplasmonic crystals grown on BTO single crystals with in-plane ferroelectric domains. In this situation, the excited plasmons would travel perpendicular to the direction of the ferroelectric polarization, which is known to yield the largest Pockels effect in BTO ([5, 64, 127]). If successful, this strategy would enhance the functionality of the magnetoplasmonic crystals.

## **Chapter 8**

# List of publications and communications

List of scientific publications derived during this Thesis:

- R. Cichelero, M.V. Kataja, M.C. Quiles and G. Herranz. Non-Reciprocal Diffraction in Magnetoplasmonic Gratings., accepted OpEx 2018 (in production).
- R. Cichelero, M.A. Oskuei, M.V. Kataja, S.M Hadimi and G. Herranz. Angle-resolved spectroscopic maps of commercial disk-based magnetoplasmonic crystals., accepted JMMM 2018 (in production).
- L. Vistoli,W. Wang,Q. Zhu,B. Casals, R. Cichelero, A. Barthelemy, S. Fusil, G. Herranz, S. Valencia, R. Abrudan, E. Weschke, K. Nakazawa, H. Kohno, J. Santamaria, W. Wu, V. Garcia and M. Bibes. Giant topological Hall effect in correlated oxide thin films, Nature Physics 5 2018.
- H.B. Vasili, B. Casals, R. Cichelero, F. Macia. J. Geshev, P. Gargiani, M. Valvidares, J. Herrero-Martin, E. Pellegrin, J. Fontcuberta and G. Herranz, Direct observation of multivalent states and 4 f → 3 d charge transfer in Ce-doped yttrium iron garnet thin films, Physical Review B 96 2017.
- B. Casals, R. Cichelero, P.G. Fernandez. J. Junquera, D. Pesquera, M. Campoy, I.C. Infante, F. Sanchez, J. Fontcuberta and G. Herranz, Giant Optical Polarization Rotation Induced by Spin-Orbit Coupling in Polarons, Physical Review Letters 117 2016.

• B. Casals, M. Espinola, R. Cichelero, S. Geprags, M. Opel, R. Gross and G. Herranz, Untangling the contributions of cerium and iron to the magnetism of Ce-doped yttrium iron garnet, Applied Physics Letters 108 2016.

List of conferences attended during this Thesis:

- Oral Presentation at Metamaterials 2018 Conference, Espoo Finland, August 26, 2018
- Poster Presentation at Joint European Magnetic Symposia (JEMS2018) Conference, Mainz - Germani, September 3, 2018
- Poster Presentation at TO-BE cost action, spring meeting, Sant Feliu de Guixols Spain, March 12, 2018
- Poster Presentation at International School of Oxide Electronics (ISOE2017), Corsica - France, April 11, 2017
- Poster Presentation at Spanish Nanophotonics Conference (CEN2016), Valencia - Spain, June 22, 2016
- Poster Presentation at International conference on Magnetism (ICM2015), Barcelona - Spain, July 5, 2015

## Appendix A

# Lithography protocols

The following appendix contains a detailed lithography protocol, containing the basic list of tasks that have been done to achieve the final samples. In the first two sections the methods for optical and electron beam lithography are described, followed by the evaporation protocol. The fourth section contains the full protocol done to achieve the samples built to achieve the present work.

## A.1 Optical lithography protocols

Two different approaches were used in optical lithography, consisting in one layer or two layer of photo-resist (PR), the second method has the advantage of making the liftoff easier due the existence of an undercut induced during the preparation. The photo-resists used during the current study are Shipley S1813 and MicroChem SF5.

## A.1.1 Standard optical lithography steps (SopL)

- Cleaning the substrate with acetone and isopropanol.
- Evaporation of fluids (substrates may retains water) at 150  $^\circ\mathrm{C}$
- Spin coating of S1813, with 4500 rpm and acceleration of 1.0s
- Soft baking at 95 °C.
- Optical exposition with 405nm laser light (i-line) with fluency superior to  $150 \ mJ/cm^2$

- Development time ranging from 30 to 60 seconds.
- Deposition
- Liftoff of S1813 with acetone

If the sample is going to be exposed to any etching process, a hard baking is recommended before the film deposition:

• Hard baking at 110 °C, for 3 - 10 minutes.

## A.1.2 Double layer photo-resist lithography steps (DLopL)

- Cleaning the substrate with acetone and isopropanol.
- Evaporation of fluids (substrates may retains water) at 150  $^\circ C$
- Spin coating of SF5, with 4500 rpm and acceleration of 1.0s
- Soft baking the SF5 at 150 °C.
- Spin coating of S1813, with 4500 rpm and acceleration of 1.0s
- Soft baking at 95 °C.
- Optical exposition with 405nm laser light (i-line) with fluency superior to 150  $mJ/cm^2$
- Development for 30 seconds.
- Hard baking the S1813 at 110 °C.
- Development for 60 seconds.
- Deposition
- Liftoff of S1813 with acetone
- Liftoff of SF5 with EBR-PG

If the sample is going to be exposed to any etching process, a hard baking is recommended before the film deposition:

• Hard baking at 110 °C, for 3 - 10 minutes.
## A.2 Electron beam lithography protocols

Similarly to the optical case the e-beam lithography, two different recipes can be used depending on the purpose of the lithography, for hard nanopatterning a double layer e-beam resist is recommended, meanwhile for simple patterning development a single layer can do the job.

### A.2.1 Standard electron beam lithography steps (SebL)

- Cleaning the substrate with acetone and isopropanol.
- Evaporation of fluids (substrates may retains water) at 150  $^\circ\mathrm{C}$
- Spin coating of PMMA, with 4500 rpm and acceleration of 1.0s
- Soft baking at 150 °C.
- E-beam exposition, dosis ranging from  $120 200 \mu C / cm^2$
- Development in MIBK (1:3), with development time ranging from 30 to 60 seconds.
- Deposition
- Liftoff of PMMA with acetone

If the sample is going to be exposed to any etching process, a hard baking is recommended before the film deposition:

• Hard baking at 150 °C, for 3 - 10 minutes.

## A.2.2 Double layer electron beam lithography steps (DLebL)

- Cleaning the substrate with acetone and isopropanol.
- Evaporation of fluids (substrates may retains water) at 150  $^\circ\mathrm{C}$
- Spin coating of 495 PMMA A6, with 4500 rpm and acceleration of 1.0s
- Soft baking at 150 °C.
- Spin coating of 950 PMMA A7, with 3000 rpm and acceleration of 1.0s

- Soft baking at 160 °C.
- E-beam exposition, dosis ranging from  $120 200 \mu C / cm^2$
- Development in MIBK (1:3), with development time ranging from 30 to 60 seconds.
- Deposition
- Liftoff of PMMA with acetone

If the sample is going to be exposed to any etching process, a hard baking is recommended before the film deposition:

• Hard baking at 150 °C, for 3 - 10 minutes.

#### A.3 Electron beam evaporation

The protocol for the electron beam evaporation is given below:

- N<sub>2</sub> Cleaning.
- Vacuum below 10<sup>-6</sup> mbar.
- Evaporation at rates below 0.1 nm/s.

## Appendix **B**

# Ensemble of gratings and its magneto-optic response

As mentioned in chapter 5, the construction of figure 5.2 is based in the following tables of values, where the grating periodicity, metallic fraction, TMOKE<sub>*MAX*</sub> and R(TMOKE<sub>*MAX*</sub>) are listed. Tables B.1 and B.2 corresponds to the TMOKE response emitted from the diffracted modes ( $m = \pm 1$ ), while B.3 is based on the specular reflection (m = 0) TMOKE response.

#### Metallic fraction $\Gamma > 0.7$ , diffracted modes $m = \pm 1$ **B.1**

Periodicity $\Delta(nm)$	Metallic fraction Γ	TMOKE <sub>MAX</sub>	R(TMOKE <sub>MAX</sub> )
1000	0.92	0.021	0.043
1000	0.88	0.022	0.07
1000	0.84	0.024	0.06
1000	0.80	0.028	0.04
800	0.90	0.021	0.115
800	0.85	0.027	0.05
800	0.80	0.033	0.04
800	0.75	0.015	0.14
740	0.89	0.021	0.11
740	0.84	0.025	0.06
740	0.79	0.024	0.08
740	0.74	0.009	0.22
740	0.69	0.005	0.26
600	0.87	0.015	0.20
600	0.80	0.021	0.03
600	0.73	0.018	0.11
600	0.66	0.008	0.32

## **B.2** Metallic fraction $\Gamma < 0.6$ , diffracted modes $m = \pm 1$

Periodicity $\Delta(nm)$	Metallic fraction $\Gamma$	TMOKE <sub>MAX</sub>	$R(TMOKE_{MAX})$
1000	0.50	0.012	0.47
1000	0.40	0.010	0.58
1000	0.30	0.008	0.75
1000	0.20	0.006	0.82
800	0.60	0.011	0.53
800	0.50	0.010	0.61
800	0.40	0.005	0.84
800	0.30	0.006	0.91
600	0.65	0.012	0.62
600	0.50	0.009	0.65
600	0.35	0.008	0.82
600	0.20	0.006	0.92

## **B.3** Metallic fraction $\Gamma > 0.7$ , specular reflection m = 0

Periodicity $\Delta(nm)$	Metallic fraction Γ	TMOKE <sub>MAX</sub>	R(TMOKE <sub>MAX</sub> )
1000	0.92	0.005	0.95
1000	0.88	0.007	0.90
1000	0.84	0.010	0.83
1000	0.80	0.009	0.85
800	0.90	0.004	0.88
800	0.85	0.007	0.78
800	0.80	0.008	0.76
800	0.75	0.008	0.78
740	0.89	0.012	0.60
740	0.84	0.010	0.63
740	0.79	0.014	0.41
600	0.87	0.007	0.62
600	0.80	0.006	0.63
600	0.73	0.005	0.68
600	0.66	0.007	0.64
400	0.75	0.024	0.22
400	0.63	0.018	0.24
400	0.50	0.017	0.27

## Appendix C

## Multiferroic heterostructure device

#### C.1 Structural images

In this appendix we provide SEM images (top-view) of the real ferro- electric and magnetic heterostructure. If figure C.1 the top contact (top electrode) structure can be observed, in which the long-range contacts are placed over a passivation layer, while the magnetoplasmonic active layer (direct contact with BTO) exists only in the regions market by purple squares. Subsequently the magnetoplasmonic active layer and simultaneously top electrode placed over the BTO thin film is shown in figure C.2, where the electric active areas are marked by the red rectangles. Finally the patterned photonic structure is shown in figure C.3 the grating metallic wires also work as ferroelectric top electrode.



#### C.1.1 Long range structure

FIGURE C.1: SEM image: which shows the long-range top electrodes places over the passivation layer.



#### C.1.2 Active layers and bridges

FIGURE C.2: SEM image: which shows the electric active areas (marked by the rectangle red) containing the photonic crystal.



### C.1.3 Nano-scale, magnetoplasmonic crystals place over BTO

FIGURE C.3: SEM image: shows the grating structure responsible for the ferroelectric switching.

## Bibliography

- G. Moore. "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits". In: *Electronics* 38 (1965), pp. 114–117.
- [2] R. Service. "MIT Technological Review". In: "Intel's Breakthrough" (2005).
- [3] "IBM Discloses Working Version of a Much Higher-Capacity Chip". 2015.
- [4] P. P. Absil et al. "Advances in silicon photonics WDM devices". In: ed. by A. K. Srivastava. 2014, 90100J. DOI: 10.1117/12.2047350.
- [5] S. Abel et al. "A strong electro-optically active lead-free ferroelectric integrated on silicon". In: *Nature Communications* 4.1 (2013), p. 1671. ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms2695.
- [6] "Simply silicon". In: Nature Photonics 4.8 (2010), pp. 491–491. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2010.190.
- [7] D. Jalas et al. "What is-and what is not-an optical isolator". In: *Nature Photonics* 7.8 (2013), pp. 579–582. ISSN: 17494885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2013.185.
- [8] Z. Yu and S. Fan. "A non-magnetic approach". In: *Nature Photonics* 5.9 (2011), pp. 517–519. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2011. 216.
- C. Fan et al. "Tunable all-optical plasmonic diode based on Fano resonance in nonlinear waveguide coupled with cavities". In: *Optics Letters* 40.11 (2015), p. 2449. ISSN: 0146-9592. DOI: 10.1364/OL.40.002449.
- Y. Shoji and T. Mizumoto. "Magneto-optical non-reciprocal devices in silicon photonics". In: *Science and Technology of Advanced Materials* 15.1 (2014), p. 014602. ISSN: 14686996. DOI: 10.1088/1468-6996/15/ 1/014602.

- [11] J. Huang et al. "Nonreciprocal light propagation on an integrated silicon photonic chip". In: *IEEE International Conference on Group IV Photonics GFP*. Vol. 333. 6043. American Association for the Advancement of Science, 2011, pp. 389–391. ISBN: 9781424483389. DOI: 10. 1109/GR0UP4.2011.6053826. arXiv: 1110.2647.
- M. Hochberg and T. Baehr-Jones. "Towards fabless silicon photonics". In: *Nature Photonics* 4.8 (2010), pp. 492–494. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2010.172.
- [13] D. Nikolova et al. "Scaling silicon photonic switch fabrics for data center interconnection networks". In: *Optics Express* 23.2 (2015), p. 1159. ISSN: 1094-4087. DOI: 10.1364/0E.23.001159.
- [14] G. T. Reed et al. "Silicon optical modulators". In: *Nature Photonics* 4.8 (2010), pp. 518–526. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2010.179.
- [15] S Ghosh et al. Ce:YIG/SOI optical isolator realized by BCB bonding. ISBN: 9781424483396.
- [16] D. Floess et al. "Plasmonic Analog of Electromagnetically Induced Absorption Leads to Giant Thin Film Faraday Rotation of 14°". In: *Physical Review X* 7.2 (2017), p. 021048. ISSN: 2160-3308. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevX.7.021048.
- [17] M. Liu and X. Zhang. "Plasmon-boosted magneto-optics". In: *Nature Photonics* 7.6 (2013), pp. 429–430. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/ nphoton.2013.134.
- [18] A. Chetvertukhin et al. "Magneto-optical Kerr effect enhancement at the Wood's anomaly in magnetoplasmonic crystals". In: *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* 324.21 (2012), pp. 3516–3518. ISSN: 03048853. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2012.02.079.
- [19] V. I. Belotelov et al. "Enhanced magneto-optical effects in magnetoplasmonic crystals". In: *Nature Nanotechnology* 6.6 (2011), pp. 370–376. ISSN: 17483395. DOI: 10.1038/nnano.2011.54. arXiv: 1112.0681.

- [20] J. C. Banthí et al. "High Magneto-Optical Activity and Low Optical Losses in Metal-Dielectric Au/Co/Au-SiO2 Magnetoplasmonic Nanodisks". In: *Advanced Materials* 24.10 (2012), OP36–OP41. ISSN: 09359648. DOI: 10.1002/adma.201103634.
- [21] M. Kataja et al. "Hybrid plasmonic lattices with tunable magnetooptical activity". In: *Optics Express* 24.4 (2016), p. 3652. ISSN: 1094-4087. DOI: 10.1364/0E.24.003652.
- [22] Z. Wang et al. "Observation of unidirectional backscattering-immune topological electromagnetic states". In: *Nature* 461.7265 (2009), pp. 772– 775. ISSN: 0028-0836. DOI: 10.1038/nature08293.
- [23] K. Takahashi et al. "Study on magnetophotonic crystals for use in reflection-type magneto-optical spatial light modulators". In: *Journal* of Applied Physics 103.7 (2008), 07B331. ISSN: 0021-8979. DOI: 10.1063/ 1.2837278.
- [24] A. Fedyanin et al. "Enhanced Faraday and nonlinear magneto-optical Kerr effects in magnetophotonic crystals". In: *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* 282.282 (2004), pp. 256–259. ISSN: 03048853. DOI: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2004.04.058.
- [25] J. V. Boriskina et al. "Enhancement of the magnetorefractive effect in magnetophotonic crystals". In: *Physics of the Solid State* 48.4 (2006), pp. 717–721. ISSN: 1063-7834. DOI: 10.1134/S1063783406040160.
- [26] G. Armelles et al. "Magnetoplasmonics: Combining Magnetic and Plasmonic Functionalities". In: *Advanced Optical Materials* 1.1 (2013), pp. 10–35. ISSN: 21951071. DOI: 10.1002/adom.201200011.
- [27] C. Hermann et al. "Surface-enhanced magneto-optics in metallic multilayer films". In: *Physical Review B* 64.23 (2001), p. 235422. ISSN: 0163-1829. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.64.235422.
- [28] J. B. González-Díaz et al. "Surface-magnetoplasmon nonreciprocity effects in noble-metal/ferromagnetic heterostructures". In: *Physical Review B* 76.15 (2007), p. 153402. ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevB.76.153402.

- [29] V. V. Temnov et al. "Active magneto-plasmonics in hybrid metal-ferromagnet structures". In: *Nature Photonics* 4.2 (2010), pp. 107–111. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2009.265.
- [30] J. González-Díaz et al. "Enhanced Magneto-Optics and Size Effects in Ferromagnetic Nanowire Arrays". In: *Advanced Materials* 19.18 (2007), pp. 2643–2647. ISSN: 09359648. DOI: 10.1002/adma.200602938.
- [31] G. Ctistis et al. "Optical and Magnetic Properties of Hexagonal Arrays of Subwavelength Holes in Optically Thin Cobalt Films". In: *Nano Letters* 9.1 (2009), pp. 1–6. ISSN: 1530-6984. DOI: 10.1021/n1801811t.
- [32] Papaioannou. "Magneto-optic enhancement and magnetic properties in Fe antidot films with hexagonal symmetry". In: *Phys. Rev. B.* 81.5 (2010).
- [33] J. F. Torrado et al. "Plasmon induced modification of the transverse magneto-optical response in Fe antidot arrays". In: *physica status solidi (RRL) Rapid Research Letters* 4.10 (2010), pp. 271–273. ISSN: 18626254. DOI: 10.1002/pssr.201004238.
- [34] G. X. Du et al. "Evidence of localized surface plasmon enhanced magneto-optical effect in nanodisk array". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 96.8 (2010), p. 081915. ISSN: 0003-6951. DOI: 10.1063/1.3334726.
- [35] V. I. Belotelov et al. "Plasmon-mediated magneto-optical transparency". In: *Nature Communications* 4.1 (2013), p. 2128. ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms3128.
- [36] G. A. Wurtz et al. "Controlling optical transmission through magnetoplasmonic crystals with an external magnetic field". In: *New Journal of Physics* 10.10 (2008), p. 105012. ISSN: 1367-2630. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/10/10/105012.
- [37] V. I. Belotelov et al. "Magnetophotonic intensity effects in hybrid metal-dielectric structures". In: *Physical Review B* 89.4 (2014), p. 045118.
  ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.89.045118.

- Y. Souche, M. Schlenker, and A. Dos Santos. "Non-specular magnetooptical Kerr effect". In: *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* 140-144 (1995), pp. 2179–2180. ISSN: 0304-8853. DOI: 10.1016/0304– 8853(94)00847-7.
- [39] S. Gadetsky et al. "Measurements of the magneto-optic Kerr effect and the extraordinary Hall effect on grooved glass substrates coated with amorphous TbFeCo". In: *Journal of the Optical Society of America A* 13.2 (1996), p. 314. ISSN: 1084-7529. DOI: 10.1364/JOSAA.13. 000314.
- [40] V. Eremenko et al. "Diffractional enhancement of the Kerr magnetooptic effect". In: *Journal of Experimental and Theoretical Physics Letters* 66.7 (1997), pp. 494–497. ISSN: 0021-3640. DOI: 10.1134/1.567556.
- [41] V. Novosad et al. "Magneto-optical Kerr effect in conical diffraction geometry of micron-size Fe/sub 3/Si wire array". In: *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics* 35.5 (1999), pp. 3145–3147. ISSN: 00189464. DOI: 10.1109/20.801109.
- [42] M Grimsditch and P Vavassori. "The diffracted magneto-optic Kerr effect: what does it tell you?" In: *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 16.9 (2004), R275–R294. ISSN: 0953-8984. DOI: 10.1088/0953-8984/ 16/9/R01.
- [43] F. Falcone et al. "Babinet Principle Applied to the Design of Metasurfaces and Metamaterials". In: *Physical Review Letters* 93.19 (2004), p. 197401. ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.197401.
- [44] R. H. Ritchie et al. "Surface-plasmon resonance effect in grating diffraction". In: *Physical Review Letters* 21.22 (1968), pp. 1530–1533. ISSN: 00319007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.21.1530.
- [45] G. Vecchi, V. Giannini, and J. Gómez Rivas. "Surface modes in plasmonic crystals induced by diffractive coupling of nanoantennas". In: *Physical Review B* 80.20 (2009), p. 201401. ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevB.80.201401.
- [46] D. Maystre. "Theory of Wood's Anomalies". In: 2012, pp. 39–83. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-28079-5\_2.

- [47] S. A. Maier. *Plasmonics: Fundamentals and applications*. New York, NY: Springer US, 2007, pp. 1–223. ISBN: 0387331506. DOI: 10.1007/0-387-37825-1. arXiv: 0405528 [cond-mat].
- [48] L. Novotny and B. Hecht. Principles of Nano-Optics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012. ISBN: 9780511794193. DOI: 10.1017/ CB09780511794193.
- [49] P. ZEEMAN. "The Effect of Magnetisation on the Nature of Light Emitted by a Substance". In: *Nature* 55.1424 (1897), pp. 347–347. ISSN: 0028-0836. DOI: 10.1038/055347a0.
- [50] A. V. Chetvertukhin et al. "Transversal magneto-optical Kerr effect in two-dimensional nickel magnetoplasmonic crystals". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 113.17 (2013), 17A942. ISSN: 0021-8979. DOI: 10.1063/ 1.4801639.
- [51] J. J. Brion et al. "Theory of Surface Magnetoplasmons in Semiconductors". In: *Physical Review Letters* 28.22 (1972), pp. 1455–1458. ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.28.1455.
- [52] M. S. Kushwaha and P. Halevi. "Magnetoplasmons in thin films in the Voigt configuration". In: *Physical Review B* 36.11 (1987), pp. 5960– 5967. ISSN: 0163-1829. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.36.5960.
- [53] R. E. R. E. Newnham. *Properties of materials : anisotropy, symmetry, structure*. Oxford University Press, 2005, p. 378. ISBN: 9780198520764.
- [54] P. Mathey. "Photorefractive-gain dependence on piezoelectric and photoelastic effects in barium titanate". In: *Physical Review E Statistical Physics, Plasmas, Fluids, and Related Interdisciplinary Topics* 55.6 (1997), pp. 7782–7784. ISSN: 1063651X. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.55.7782.
- [55] E. Hecht. *Optics 2nd edition*. 1987. DOI: 10.1119/1.3274347.
- [56] X.-Y. Wu et al. "Quantum theory of light diffraction". In: (2010). DOI: 10.1080/09500340.2010.521593. arXiv: 1011.3593.
- [57] M. Ohring. Materials science of thin films : deposition and structure. Academic Press, 2002, p. 794. ISBN: 9780125249751.

- [58] I. Fina et al. "The direct magnetoelectric effect in ferroelectric-ferromagnetic epitaxial heterostructures". In: *Nanoscale* 5.17 (2013), p. 8037. ISSN: 2040-3364. DOI: 10.1039/c3nr01011b.
- [59] J Lyu et al. *Tailoring Lattice Strain and Ferroelectric Polarization of Epitaxial BaTiO 3 Thin Films on Si*(001). Tech. rep. 2018, p. 495.
- [60] J. P. Davim. *Microfabrication and precision engineering : research and development*. ISBN: 9780857094865.
- [61] K. R. Williams, K. Gupta, and M. Wasilik. "Etch Rates for Micromachining Processing-Part II". In: JOURNAL OF MICROELECTROME-CHANICAL SYSTEMS 12.6 (2003). DOI: 10.1109/JMEMS.2003.820936.
- [62] T. A. Green. "Gold etching for microfabrication". In: *Gold Bulletin* 47.3 (2014), pp. 205–216. ISSN: 21907579. DOI: 10.1007/s13404-014-0143-z.
- [63] J. Valasek. "Properties of Rochelle Salt Related to the Piezo-electric Effect". In: *Physical Review* 20.6 (1922), pp. 639–664. ISSN: 0031-899X. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRev.20.639.
- [64] S. Abel et al. "Large Pockels effect in micro- and nanostructured barium titanate integrated on silicon". In: *Nature Materials* (2018), p. 1. ISSN: 1476-1122. DOI: 10.1038/s41563-018-0208-0.
- [65] K. J. Kormondy et al. "Analysis of the Pockels effect in ferroelectric barium titanate thin films on Si(0 0 1)". In: *Microelectronic Engineering* 147 (2015), pp. 215–218. ISSN: 0167-9317. DOI: 10.1016/J.MEE.2015. 04.041.
- [66] A. Mahmoud et al. "Low-temperature phase of BaTiO 3 : Piezoelectric, dielectric, elastic, and photoelastic properties from <i>ab initio</i> simulations". In: *Physical Review B* 89.4 (2014), p. 045103. ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.89.045103.
- [67] A. Bouhelier and G. P. Wiederrecht. "Excitation of broadband surface plasmon polaritons: Plasmonic continuum spectroscopy". In: *Physical Review B Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 71.19 (2005), pp. 1–7. ISSN: 10980121. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.71.195406.

- [68] J. R. Sambles, G. W. Bradbery, and F. Yang. "Optical excitation of surface plasmons: An introduction". In: *Contemporary Physics* 32.3 (1991), pp. 173–183. ISSN: 0010-7514. DOI: 10.1080/00107519108211048.
- [69] E Kretschmann and H Raether. Radiative Decay of Non Radiative Surface Plasmons Excited by Light. Tech. rep. 1968, p. 398.
- [70] H. Raether. Surface Plasmons on Smooth and Rough Surfaces and on Gratings. Vol. 111. Springer Tracts in Modern Physics. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1988. ISBN: 978-3-540-17363-2. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0048317.
- [71] J. W. Goodman. Introduction to Fourier optics. Roberts & Co, 2005, p. 491. ISBN: 0974707724.
- [72] M. J. Higgins et al. "Depoling a ferroelectric capacitor". In: *Citation: Appl. Phys. Lett* 80 (2002), p. 3373. DOI: 10.1063/1.1476063.
- [73] E. D. Palik. *Handbook of optical constants of solids*. Academic Press, 1998. ISBN: 9780125444156.
- [74] D. Cialla-May et al. "Recent progress in surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy for biological and biomedical applications: From cells to clinics". In: *Chemical Society Reviews* 46.13 (2017), pp. 3945–3961. ISSN: 14604744. DOI: 10.1039/c7cs00172j.
- S. Schlücker. "Surface-enhanced raman spectroscopy: Concepts and chemical applications". In: Angewandte Chemie - International Edition 53.19 (2014), pp. 4756–4795. ISSN: 15213773. DOI: 10.1002/anie. 201205748.
- [76] H. Yu et al. "Plasmonic imaging and detection of single DNA molecules".
  In: ACS Nano 8.4 (2014), pp. 3427–3433. ISSN: 1936086X. DOI: 10.
  1021/nn4062885.
- [77] B. Sepúlveda et al. "Highly sensitive detection of biomolecules with the magneto-optic surface-plasmon-resonance sensor". In: *Optics Letters* 31.8 (2006), p. 1085. ISSN: 0146-9592. DOI: 10.1364 / OL.31.001085.

- [78] M. Bauch et al. "Plasmon-Enhanced Fluorescence Biosensors: A Review". In: *Plasmonics* 9.4 (2014), pp. 781–799. ISSN: 15571963. DOI: 10.1007/s11468-013-9660-5.
- [79] A. F. Koenderink and A. Polman. "Nanophotonics: Shrinking lightbased technology". In: 348.6234 (2015).
- [80] C. J. Firby et al. "Magnetoplasmonic Faraday Rotators: Enabling Gigahertz Active Polarization Control for Integrated Plasmonics". In: *ACS Photonics* 3.12 (2016), pp. 2344–2352. ISSN: 2330-4022. DOI: 10. 1021/acsphotonics.6b00523.
- [81] M. Rubio-Roy et al. "Magneto-Optical Enhancement by Plasmon Excitations in Nanoparticle/Metal Structures". In: *Langmuir* 28.24 (2012), pp. 9010–9020. ISSN: 0743-7463. DOI: 10.1021/la301239x.
- [82] M. Kataja et al. "Surface lattice resonances and magneto-optical response in magnetic nanoparticle arrays". In: *Nature Communications* 6.1 (2015), p. 7072. ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms8072.
- [83] J. Y. Chin et al. "Nonreciprocal plasmonics enables giant enhancement of thin-film Faraday rotation". In: *Nature Communications* 4.1 (2013), pp. 1596–1599. ISSN: 20411723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms2609.
- [84] A. Kuz'michev et al. "Tunable Optical Nanocavity of Iron-garnet with a Buried Metal Layer". In: *Materials* 8.6 (2015), pp. 3012–3023. ISSN: 1996-1944. DOI: 10.3390/ma8063012.
- [85] B. Caballero, A. García-Martín, and J. C. Cuevas. "Faraday effect in hybrid magneto-plasmonic photonic crystals". In: *Optics Express* 23.17 (2015), p. 22238. ISSN: 1094-4087. DOI: 10.1364/0E.23.022238.
- [86] E. Ferreiro-Vila et al. "Intertwined magneto-optical and plasmonic effects in Ag/Co/Ag layered structures". In: *Physical Review B* 80.12 (2009), p. 125132. ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.80.125132.
- [87] L. E. Kreilkamp et al. "Waveguide-Plasmon Polaritons Enhance Transverse Magneto-Optical Kerr Effect". In: *Physical Review X* 3.4 (2013), p. 041019. ISSN: 2160-3308. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevX.3.041019.

- [88] L. Halagačka et al. "Coupled mode enhanced giant magnetoplasmonics transverse Kerr effect". In: *Optics Express* 21.19 (2013), p. 21741.
  ISSN: 1094-4087. DOI: 10.1364/0E.21.021741.
- [89] S. Nootchanat et al. "Investigation of localized surface plasmon/grating-coupled surface plasmon enhanced photocurrent in TiO <sub>2</sub> thin films". In: *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 16.44 (2014), pp. 24484–24492.
  ISSN: 1463-9076. DOI: 10.1039/C4CP03885A.
- [90] A. A. Grunin et al. "Magnetoplasmonic crystals based on commercial digital discs". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 113.17 (2013), 17A946.
   ISSN: 0021-8979. DOI: 10.1063/1.4801525.
- [91] R. Petit. Electromagnetic Theory of Gratings. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1980. ISBN: 9783642815003.
- [92] V. I. Belotelov et al. "Intensity magnetooptical effect in magnetoplasmonic crystals". In: 15 (), p. 37. DOI: 10.1088/1742-6596/303/1/ 012038.
- [93] W. A. Challener et al. "Heat-assisted magnetic recording by a near-field transducer with efficient optical energy transfer". In: *Nature Photonics* 3.4 (2009), pp. 220–224. ISSN: 1749-4885. DOI: 10.1038/nphoton. 2009.26.
- [94] M. Kryder et al. "Heat Assisted Magnetic Recording". In: *Proceedings of the IEEE* 96.11 (2008), pp. 1810–1835. ISSN: 0018-9219. DOI: 10.1109/JPROC.2008.2004315.
- [95] Garnett W. Bryant \* et al. "Mapping the Plasmon Resonances of Metallic Nanoantennas". In: (2008). DOI: 10.1021/NL073042V.
- [96] J. A. Schuller et al. "Plasmonics for extreme light concentration and manipulation". In: *Nature Materials* 9.3 (2010), pp. 193–204. ISSN: 1476-1122. DOI: 10.1038/nmat2630.
- [97] J. Homola, S. S. Yee, and G. Gauglitz. "Surface plasmon resonance sensors: review". In: *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical* 54.1 (1999), pp. 3–15. ISSN: 09254005. DOI: 10.1016/S0925-4005(98)00321-9. arXiv:arXiv:1011.1669v3.

- [98] J. Melendez et al. "A commercial solution for surface plasmon sensing". In: *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 35.1-3 (1996), pp. 212–216.
  ISSN: 0925-4005. DOI: 10.1016/S0925-4005(97)80057-3.
- [99] K. A. Willets and R. P. Van Duyne. "Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance Spectroscopy and Sensing". In: Annual Review of Physical Chemistry 58.1 (2007), pp. 267–297. ISSN: 0066-426X. DOI: 10.1146/annurev. physchem.58.032806.104607.
- [100] Andrea Tao † et al. "LangmuirBlodgett Silver Nanowire Monolayers for Molecular Sensing Using Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopy". In: (2003). DOI: 10.1021/NL0344209.
- J. Dintinger et al. "Strong coupling between surface plasmon-polaritons and organic molecules in subwavelength hole arrays". In: *Physical Review B* 71.3 (2005), p. 035424. ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB. 71.035424.
- [102] C. Van Vlack, P. T. Kristensen, and S. Hughes. "Spontaneous emission spectra and quantum light-matter interactions from a strongly coupled quantum dot metal-nanoparticle system". In: *Physical Review B* 85.7 (2012), p. 075303. ISSN: 1098-0121. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB. 85.075303.
- [103] A. I. Väkeväinen et al. "Plasmonic Surface Lattice Resonances at the Strong Coupling Regime". In: *Nano Letters* 14.4 (2014), pp. 1721–1727.
   ISSN: 1530-6984. DOI: 10.1021/n14035219.
- P. Berini and I. De Leon. "Surface plasmon–polariton amplifiers and lasers". In: *Nature Photonics* 6.1 (2012), pp. 16–24. ISSN: 1749-4885.
   DOI: 10.1038/nphoton.2011.285.
- [105] F. van Beijnum et al. "Surface Plasmon Lasing Observed in Metal Hole Arrays". In: *Physical Review Letters* 110.20 (2013), p. 206802. ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.206802.
- [106] T. K. Hakala et al. "Lasing in dark and bright modes of a finite-sized plasmonic lattice". In: *Nature Communications* 8 (2017), p. 13687. ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms13687.

- [107] N. Maccaferri et al. "Ultrasensitive and label-free molecular-level detection enabled by light phase control in magnetoplasmonic nanoantennas". In: *Nature Communications* 6.1 (2015), p. 6150. ISSN: 2041-1723. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms7150.
- Z. Yu et al. "One-Way Electromagnetic Waveguide Formed at the Interface between a Plasmonic Metal under a Static Magnetic Field and a Photonic Crystal". In: *Physical Review Letters* 100.2 (2008), p. 023902.
  ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.100.023902.
- [109] G. Armelles and A. Dmitriev. "Focus on magnetoplasmonics". In: *New Journal of Physics* 16 (2014). ISSN: 13672630. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/16/4/045012.
- [110] V. Bonanni et al. "Designer Magnetoplasmonics with Nickel Nanoferromagnets". In: *Nano Letters* 11.12 (2011), pp. 5333–5338. ISSN: 1530-6984. DOI: 10.1021/nl2028443.
- [111] N. Maccaferri et al. "Tuning the Magneto-Optical Response of Nanosize Ferromagnetic Ni Disks Using the Phase of Localized Plasmons". In: *Physical Review Letters* 111.16 (2013), p. 167401. ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.167401.
- [112] High-Performance Nanophotonic Simulation Software Lumerical.
- [113] C. A. Herreño-Fierro and E. J. Patiño. "Maximization of surface-enhanced transversal magneto-optic Kerr effect in Au/Co/Au thin films". In: *physica status solidi* (*b*) 252.2 (2015), pp. 316–322. ISSN: 03701972. DOI: 10.1002/pssb.201451380.
- [114] A. L. Kholkin, N. A. Pertsev, and A. V. Goltsev. "Piezoelectricity and Crystal Symmetry". In: *Piezoelectric and Acoustic Materials for Transducer Applications*. Boston, MA: Springer US, 2008, pp. 17–38. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-76540-2\_2.
- [115] P. P. Fulay and J.-K. Lee. *Electronic, magnetic, and optical materials*. Taylor & Francis, 2010, p. 418. ISBN: 9781439882603.

- [116] J. B. Neaton and K. M. Rabe. "Theory of polarization enhancement in epitaxial BaTiO3/SrTiO3 superlattices". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 82.10 (2003), pp. 1586–1588. ISSN: 00036951. DOI: 10.1063/1.1559651. arXiv: 0211421 [cond-mat].
- [117] J. J. Wang et al. "Lattice, elastic, polarization, and electrostrictive properties of BaTiO3from first-principles". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 108.3 (2010), p. 124108. ISSN: 00218979. DOI: 10.1063/1.3462441.
- K. J. Choi et al. "Enhancement of ferroelectricity in strained BaTiO3 thin films." In: *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 306.5698 (2004), pp. 1005–9. ISSN: 1095-9203. DOI: 10.1126/science.1103218.
- [119] V. E. Babicheva, S. V. Zhukovsky, and A. V. Lavrinenko. "Bismuth ferrite as low-loss switchable material for plasmonic waveguide modulator". In: *Optics Express* 22.23 (2014), p. 28890. ISSN: 1094-4087. DOI: 10.1364/0E.22.028890.
- [120] Y. Pu et al. "Nonlinear Optical Properties of Core-Shell Nanocavities for Enhanced Second-Harmonic Generation". In: *Physical Review Letters* 104.20 (2010), p. 207402. ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.104.207402.
- M. J. Dicken et al. "Electrooptic Modulation in Thin Film Barium Titanate Plasmonic Interferometers". In: *Nano Letters* 8.11 (2008), pp. 4048– 4052. ISSN: 1530-6984. DOI: 10.1021/n1802981q.
- [122] W. Kinase and K. Mori. "Theory of electrooptic effect in BaTiO3". In: *Ferroelectrics* 29.1 (1980), pp. 235–242. ISSN: 0015-0193. DOI: 10.1080/ 00150198008008489.
- [123] J. M. De Teresa et al. "Inverse Tunnel Magnetoresistance in Co / Sr-TiO 3 / La 0.7 Sr 0.3 MnO 3 : New Ideas on Spin-Polarized Tunneling". In: *Physical Review Letters* 82.21 (1999), pp. 4288–4291. ISSN: 0031-9007. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.82.4288.
- [124] G. Szulczewski et al. "Magnetoresistance in magnetic tunnel junctions with an organic barrier and an MgO spin filter". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 95.20 (2009), p. 202506. ISSN: 0003-6951. DOI: 10.1063/ 1.3264968.

- [125] M. Fiebig. "Revival of the magnetoelectric effect". In: *Journal of Physics* D: Applied Physics 38.8 (2005). ISSN: 00223727. DOI: 10.1088/0022-3727/38/8/R01.
- [126] I. Fina et al. "Nonferroelectric contributions to the hysteresis cycles in manganite thin films: A comparative study of measurement techniques". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 109.7 (2011), p. 074105. ISSN: 0021-8979. DOI: 10.1063/1.3555098.
- [127] F. Eltes et al. "Low-Loss BaTiO <sub>3</sub> -Si Waveguides for Nonlinear Integrated Photonics". In: ACS Photonics 3.9 (2016), pp. 1698– 1703. ISSN: 2330-4022. DOI: 10.1021/acsphotonics.6b00350.